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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDM

CHANGE OF FINANCIAL YEAR END DATE

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 19 December
2022, the Board resolved to change the financial year end date of
the Company from 31 December to 31 March. Immediately following
such change, the financial year end date of the Company was 31
March 2023 and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group to be published cover the period of 15 months commencing
on 1 January 2022 and ending on 31 March 2023. Please refer to the
above-mentioned announcement for details.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company shut down its two coking furnaces with an annual
production capacity of 600,000 tons of coke in accordance with
the requirements of the national environmental policy during the
reporting period, and therefore the Company did not have any coke
production or business operation during the reporting period.

As the Company delayed the publication of its 2020 financial results,
especially when it identified Possible Loan during the audit process,
the trading of the Company’s shares had been suspended since
29 March 2021. In order to protect the interests of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole, the Board concentrated its
efforts and resources on resuming the trading of the Company’s
shares in accordance with the resumption guidance of the Stock
Exchange during the year, and mainly completed, among others, the
investigation on Possible Loan, the Loans and Contingent Liabilities
(the “Incident”), the resumption of coke production business and
coking furnace assets and the publication of financial results.

The Company engaged Da Tong Law Office of Guang Dong to
perform independent investigation in relation to the Incident, and
has concluded the basic facts and the legal nature of the Incident
to assess its impact on the Company’s business operation and
financial condition. Based on the investigation results on the Incident
and the PRC legal opinion, the Company considers that the remedial
measures and compensation actions taken on the Incident are in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has also performed an independent
audit on the Incident. The Company has published its audited annual
results announcements for the years ended 2020 and 2021 on 28
July 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

To address the impact due to the shut down of the old coking
furnaces on the Company and resume coke production and
business operation, the Company had entrusted Shanxi Jinyan
Energy Technology Company Limited* (IL7E4 5 RE AR A
7)) (“Energy Technology”) for the construction of a coking furnace
with capacity of 600,000 tons of coke, and as a continuation of
such entrusted construction, and taking into account the remedial
and compensation measures on the Incident, the Company entered
into the Agreement on 15 March 2022, pursuant to which, Energy
Technology agreed to deliver to the Company the two 7.1-meter
top-loading coking furnaces with an aggregated annual production
capacity being not less than 1,200,000 tons of coke, including
the coking furnace entrusted for construction by the Company.
Furthermore, the Company entered into the Disposal Agreement on
26 July 2022 to dispose of the Disposal Group and carve out GRG
Huscoke, being one of the entities involved in the Incident.

The Company has completed the VST (as defined below) and
VSD (as defined below) on 18 January 2023 and 30 March 2023,
respectively, the details of which are set out in the circular of the
Company dated 28 September 2022. Since then, the Company has
been operating its new coking furnace assets through Shanxi Jinyan
Energy Jiarun Co., Lid* (ILFE & &R = HER T E A E) (‘Energy
Jiarun”) to resume its coke production and business operation.
The Company increased its annual coke production capacity to
1,200,000 tons and the standard of coking furnaces to a height of 7.1
meters, which is in the leading position in the coke manufacturing
industry of the PRC. The new coking furnace assets will provide
the Company with core competitive advantages in terms of output,
quality and pricing, improve the Group’s overall productivity and
operating performance, expand production scale to more than
double than the original and drive the Group'’s profitability and
provide a solid foundation of the Group’s development in future.

After unremitting efforts of the Board and the management of the
Group, the Company successfully satisfied all resumption guidance
of the Stock Exchange and trading of the Group’s shares has been
resumed from 9 a.m. on 14 April 2023.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDM

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Consolidated operating performance

Total revenue of the Group for the fifteen months ended 31
March 2023 (“this Reporting Period”) was approximately
HK$34,726,000 as compared to approximately HK$866,602,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (“the Previous Reporting
Period”). The gross loss for this Reporting Period amounted to
approximately HK$90,912,000 (the Previous Reporting Period:
gross profit amounted to approximately HK$112,734,000), and
the Group recorded a gross loss margin of approximately 261.8%
for this Reporting Period as compared to gross profit margin of
approximately 13.00% in the Previous Reporting Period. Profit after
tax for this Reporting Period was approximately HK$1,248,861,000
(the Previous Reporting Period: loss after tax was approximately
HK$31,182,000), and profit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$1,250,165,000 (the Previous
Reporting Period: loss attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$31,259,000). Basic profits per share
for this Reporting Period was HK$4.35, as compared to the basic
losses per share of HK$0.11 in the Previous Reporting Period.

The Group is principally engaged in three business segments,
namely: (i) trading of coke (the “Coke Trading Segment”); (ii)
washing of raw coal into refined coal for sale and for further
processing and the sale of electricity and heat generated as
byproducts produced during the washing of raw coal (the “Coal-
related Ancillary Segment”); and (iii) processing of refined coal into
coke for sale, and sale of coke by-products of coke production (the
“Coke Production Segment”).

Coke Trading Segment

During this Reporting Period, the Group has not generated revenue
from Coke Trading Segment (2021: Nil), and the Group had no
segment results of coke trading for two consecutive reporting
periods, which results from the suspension of coke trading business
from 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Coal-related Ancillary Segment

The Group’s external revenue from the Coal-related Ancillary
Segment for this Reporting Period amounted to approximately
HK$34,726,000, as compared to that of approximately
HK$81,517,000 in the Previous Reporting Period. The Group’s
segment loss of Coal-related Ancillary Segment for this Reporting
Period was approximately HK$64,141,000, compared to segment
profit of approximately HK$1,526,000 in the Previous Reporting
Period. The increase in segment loss was mainly due to the revenue
from sales of power and heat energy decreased significantly, and
also increased costs of sales caused by external sourcing of coal.

Coke Production Segment

The Group has not generated revenue from the Coke Production
Segment for this Reporting Period, as compared to that of
approximately HK$785,085,000 in the Previous Reporting Period.
The Group has no segment results for this Reporting Period from
the coke production, as compared to that segment results of
approximately HK$62,650,000 in the Previous Reporting Period. The
difference was due to the shut down of all 4.3-meter coking furnaces
of the Group on 15 October 2021.

Selling and Distribution Costs

The Group’s selling and distribution costs amounted to approximately
HK$1,565,000, as compared to that of approximately HK$1,417,000
in the Previous Reporting Period. Such expenses for the two
reporting periods were similar, mainly because the wages and
salaries were similar in both periods.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for this Reporting Period
amounted to approximately HK$114,007,000, of which GRG Huscoke
(Shanxi) Limited* (L& EMBEIREMR A7) ("GRG Huscoke”)
accounted for approximately HK$87,552,000, as compared to that
of the Previous Reporting Period of approximately HK$99,920,000 of
which GRG Huscoke accounted for approximately HK$78,158,000.
The disposal of GRG Huscoke has been completed on 30 March
2023 and its financial results are no longer consolidated into the
financial statement of the Group. The increase was attributable to
the longer reporting period as a result of the change of financial year
end date.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDM

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs for this Reporting Period amounted to
approximately HK$157,108,000, of which GRG Huscoke accounted
for approximately HK$119,096,000, as compared to that of the
Previous Reporting Period of approximately HK$113,936,000, of
which GRG Huscoke accounted for approximately HK$94,318,000.
The disposal of GRG Huscoke has been completed on 30 March
2023 and its financial results are no longer consolidated into the
financial statement of the Group. The Group did not proceed any
new loan during this Reporting Period. The increase was attributable
to the longer reporting period as a result of the change of financial
year end date.

Profit/(loss) Before Tax

The Group’s profit before tax for this Reporting Period amounted to
approximately HK$1,636,678,000, as compared to that of loss before
tax for the Previous Reporting Period amounted to approximately
HK$21,513,000. The difference was mainly attributable to (i) the gain
from the increase of the net asset value amounted to approximately
HK$1,693,981,000 of the Company for completing the consolidation
of the Energy Jiarun (which holds the new coking furnace assets)
and the disposal of a subsidiary, GRG Huscoke, in the financial
year of 2022/23. Details of the VST and the VSD were disclosed in
the circular of the Company dated 29 September 2022; and (ii) the
credit losses caused by the failure of Energy Technology to repay on
a timely basis amounting to HK$34,316,000.

CHARGES OVER ASSETS

The Group had neither pledged assets nor pledged deposit during
this Reporting Period (including charges over deposits) (2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

MATERIAL INVESTMENT, ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
Very Substantial Transaction and Very Substantial Disposal

On 15 March 2022, the Company entered into the agreement with
GRG Huscoke, Energy Technology, Xiaoyi Jinyan Electricity Coke
Chemical Company Limited* (Z&mME&aENELITHERAFR)
(“dinyan Electricity”) and Xiaoyi ILNG Natural Gas Production
Company Limited* (ZEMERBEERXAREEBRQF) (as
supplemented by supplemental agreements on 14 April 2022 and 30
December 2022) (the “Agreement”), in relation to the remedial and
compensatory actions as a result of the incident that involves loans
(including the loan in the aggregate principal amount of RMB122.50
million borrowed by GRG Huscoke from Luliang Rural Credit Union*
(BEZ2MENIERAELEA) on 15 October 2014 that was
not previously recorded on the financial statements of the Group,
the outstanding bank loans of GRG Huscoke, and the contingent
liabilities undertaken by GRG Huscoke) that were unauthorised and
inappropriately conducted by, among others, Jinyan Electricity and
the then management of GRG Huscoke, and were not booked in the
financial statements of the Group since July 2012 pursuant to which
(i) Energy Technology is obligated to bear all the investment and
construction costs of a 7.1-meter coking furnace numbered 5 to be
transferred under the cooperation agreement entered into among
GRG Huscoke, Energy Technology and Jinyan Electricity on 26
March 2021 (the “Cooperation Agreement”) and the Agreement with
expected annual production capacity of 600,000 tons of coke and
a 7.1-meter coking furnace numbered 6 to be transferred under the
Cooperation Agreement and the Agreement with expected annual
production capacity of 600,000 tons of coke (the “Target Assets”)
and will unconditionally transfer 90% equity interests in the Energy
Jiarun which holds the Target Assets to Shanxi Huscoke International
Energy Co., Ltd* (ILAAMZEKREERAMRAF), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Assets Transfer”); and (ii) the total
receivables owed by Energy Technology and Jinyan Electricity and
its related parties to GRG Huscoke will be offset. There will be no
cash inflow of the Group for the abovementioned compensation (the
“VST"). Details of the VST were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 19 April 2022 and 24 March 2023 and the circular
of the Company dated 28 September 2022.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDM

On 26 July 2022, Rich Key Enterprises Limited, a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a disposal
agreement with Mr. Yang Ge* (#X) (“Mr. Yang”) (the ‘Disposal
Agreement”) pursuant to which, among other matters, to dispose
Joy Wisdom International Limited (the “Disposal Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Disposal Group”), including GRG Huscoke and
the entire amount of the loan owed by the Disposal Company to the
Company which amounted to HK$643,185,000 as at 30 June 2022,
for a cash consideration of HK$1 (the “VSD”), the net proceeds
from the VSD is intended to be used for the Group’s general working
capital. Upon completion of the VSD, members of the Disposal
Group will cease to be subsidiaries of the Group and the financial
results of the Disposal Group will no longer be consolidated into the
financial statements of the Group. Details of the VSD were set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 8 August 2022 and
13 April 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 28 September
2022.

As certain applicable percentage ratios (as defined under the
Listing Rules) in respect of the transactions contemplated under the
Cooperation Agreement and the Agreement are more than 100%,
such transactions constitute a very substantial transaction of the
Company under the Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. As certain
applicable percentage ratios (as defined under the Listing Rules)
in respect of the transactions contemplated under the Disposal
Agreement are more than 75%, such transactions constitute a very
substantial disposal of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules and therefore are subject to the reporting, announcement and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules. Mr. Yang is nominally regarded as the director and the legal
representative of GRG Huscoke, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, and hence is a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the Disposal constitutes a connected transaction of
the Company and is subject to the reporting, announcement and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The VST and VSD were approved by the
independent Shareholders at the SGM held on 18 October 2022,
please refer to the poll results announcement of the Company dated
18 October 2022 for details. On 18 January 2023, the 90% equity
interests of the Target Subsidiary which holds the Target Assets has
been transferred to the Group and the VST has been completed on
the same date. Completion of the VSD took place on 30 March 20283.

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any significant
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures

nor had any significant investment with a value of 5% or more of the
Company’s total assets during this Reporting Period.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

INCREASE IN AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL

On 19 August 2022, the Company proposed to increase the
authorised share capital (the “Increase in Authorised Share
Capital”) of the Company. For details of the Increase in Authorised
Share Capital, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 19 August 2022 and the circular of the Company dated
14 October 2022. The Increase in Authorised Share Capital was
approved by the independent Shareholders at the SGM held on 31
October 2022, please refer to the poll results announcement dated
31 October 2022 for details.

ISSUE OF THE CONVERTIBLE BOND

On 19 September 2022, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement (the “CB Subscription Agreement’) (as supplemented
by a supplemental agreement on 27 January 2023 to extend
the long stop date to 28 July 2023) with Wahen Investments
Limited (the “Subscriber”), pursuant to which the Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for (the “CB Subscription”) and
the Company has conditionally agreed to issue the 8% unsecured
convertible bonds with 2-year maturity in principal amount of
HK$154,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”). The gross proceeds
and the net proceeds from CB Subscription (assuming Convertible
Bonds are converted in full) are estimated to be HK$154 million
and approximately HK$153.5 million respectively. The Company
intends to use such net proceeds to make up for the shortfall in the
repayment of the loan facility in the principal amount of HK$200
million made available by China Cinda (HK) Asset Management Co.,
Limited to the Company after utilising the net proceeds from the
proposed issue of the offer shares by way of open offer (the “Open
Offer”), and the remaining net proceeds (if any) for the working
capital of the Group. For details of the CB Subscription, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 19 September 2022 and
the circular of the Company dated 14 October 2022. The Subscriber
is directly wholly-owned by Mr. Zhao Xu Guang (“Mr. Zhao”), a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the CB Subscription
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company and is subject
to the reporting, announcement and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
CB Subscription was approved by the independent Shareholders at
the SGM held on 31 October 2022, please refer to the poll results
announcement dated 31 October 2022 for details. As at the date of
this report, the condition precedents of the CB Subscription have not
been fulfilled.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximize the shareholders’ value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDM

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of underlying assets. To maintain the most optimum capital structure,
the Group may adjust dividend policy, capital distribution to
shareholders or issuance of new shares. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or procedures for capital management during
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023.

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables,
prepayment, deposits and other receivables, amounts due from non-
controlling shareholder, cash and bank balances, trade payables,
and other payables and accruals, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews
and agrees upon the various policies for managing these risks.

The Group regularly adopts gearing ratios as a tool of monitoring
capital structure. The gearing ratio as of 31 March 2023 was 42% (31
December 2021: 107%).

As of 31 March 2023, the equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$1,011,367,000 (31
December 2021: the deficit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$144,233,000).

The net assets per share as at 31 March 2023 was HK$4.14 (31
December 2021: net liabilities per share of HK$0.55).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Net current liabilities and current ratio were approximately
HK$226,939,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$1,699,654,000) and 0.36 (31 December 2021: 0.28) respectively
as at 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to approximately HK$601,000 (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$7,903,000), bank and other borrowings were
approximately HK$218,188,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$733,863,000).

As of 31 March 2023 and 31 December 2021, the Group had no bills
payable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Management’s position and basis on the going concern
assumption, and its view on the disclaimer of opinion

As detailed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 (“Note”), conditions existed as
at 31 March 2023 indicating the existence of material uncertainties,
which may cast significant doubt regarding the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. In view of such circumstances, the
management of the Group (the “Management’) has given careful
consideration to the Group’s current liquidity, the schedule of full
operation of the new operating assets and available sources of
financing in considering the Group’s ability to continue as going
concern. The Management has also taken or will continue to
implement the measures to mitigate the Group’s liquidity pressure
and to improve the conditions of cash flow. Taking into account
the schedule of full operation of the new operating assets and the
successful implementation of such measures, the Management and
also the Directors are satisfied that the Group will have sufficient
working capital for a period of not less than 12 months from 31
March 2023, and hence it is appropriate to prepare the Group’s
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Management is of the view that the Group will have sufficient cash
resources to satisfy future working capital and other financing
requirements as and when they fall due for the period of not less
than twelve months from 31 March 2023.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the
outcome of the following measures, which may encounter multiple
uncertainties, including: (i) successfully reaching the agreement
with the lender to extend the payment schedule of the loan; (ii)
actual prices of coke and related byproducts throughout the
forecast period being in line with the assumed levels included in the
cashflow assumptions; (iii) the successful fundraising of the Group
through the CB Subscription and the Open Offer as disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 19 August 2022 and the
circular of the Company dated 14 October 2022; (iv) the successful
recovery of the receivables; and (v) the Group’s ability to generate
operating cash flows through the new operating assets.

There was no disagreement between the Management and the
Auditor regarding the disclaimer of opinion, considering that the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the
Management on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends on the successful outcome of the aforementioned measures
which are subject to several uncertainties. In all other respects,
the Auditor is of the view that the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDM

Management’s position and basis, and its view on the Scope
Limitation

As detailed in the section of the “Other Matters” to the consolidated
financial statement for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023, the
auditor qualified their opinion in respect of the scope limitation (the
“Scope Limitation”), indicating the existence of the uncertainties
to the matter of the recoverability of the trade receivables and
prepayments, deposits and other receivables from Energy
Technology (the “Receivables”).

Considering the historical repayment records of the Receivables and
Energy Technology’s capability to pay, the Management is of the
view that it doesn’t constitute a material default on the Receivables
as of 30 June 2023, which can be eventually be collected from the
commercial perspective. Bad debts provision on the Receivables
has been made accordingly based on the degree of default of the
Receivables.

Audit Committee’s views towards the Disclaimer of opinion

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
reviewed and agreed with the Management's position concerning
the action plan of the Group set out below to address the disclaimer
of opinion. The Audit Committee has also discussed with the
Management and the Auditor to understand the reason for the
disclaimer of opinion and the views of the Board and the Auditor. The
Audit Committee concurs with the Management's position and views
with respect to the disclaimer of opinion and the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, the actions to be implemented by the
Management.

Audit Committee’s views towards the Scope Limitation

The Audit Committee reviewed and understood the management's
position and basis regarding the Scope Limitation from a commercial
perspective. The Audit Committee also understood the reasons for
the Scope Limitation and the views of the auditors were from an
audit perspective and standard, which are stricter and more prudent.
The Audit Committee is of the view that the Scope Limitation is due
to the differences in the recoverability of the Receivables from a
commercial perspective versus an audit perspective.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Details of action plans of the Group to address the Disclaimer
of opinion

In order to address the uncertainties which may cast doubt
regarding the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and
with a view to remove the disclaimer of opinion, the Company had
taken measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its
cash flows, including:

(i) negotiations with the lender to reach an agreement of an
extended payment schedule;

(ii) successfully making the new operating assets in full
operation, which would enable the Group to generate
operating cash flows;

(i)~ continuing our efforts and take necessary actions on the
recovery of the outstanding receivables;

(iv)  implementation of the fundraising plan of the Group including
the CB Subscription and the Open Offer; and

(v) seeking for other financing channels.

The Management and the Directors believe that the current action
plans are the most commercially practicable plans and measures in
addressing the Group’s liquidity matters and its ability to continue as
a going concern. The Management will focus on the current action
plans and the implementation thereof, while continuing their efforts in
addressing the going concern issue and disclaimer of opinion.

Details of action plans of the Group to address the Scope
Limitation

In order to address the Scope Limitation in relation to the
recoverability of the Receivables, the Management has negotiated
with Energy Technology about the repayment schedule of the
Receivables from time to time and Energy Technology has actively
promised to follow the repayment schedule. The management will
closely monitor the implementation of Energy Technology’s actual
repayment situation and determine whether to take further legal
action, where appropriate.

Impact of the Disclaimer of opinion on the Company’s
financial position

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023.

FEMEEELIRTERNTBAEFE

ROEFREERAEEFELERNESE
RENTHEERR URBREERTE
B ARBEHRBUER ARERBE T K
NWERERRERE B

(i) HEERANETHEBBRAERLER
<8 R B ) 2R B0 169 238

(iy EHRRLEENNZERALE &
RAAEBELKEHRER:

(i) BESHWHBRLEITE YR RK
[B] i T R 3K

(v) ERAKESEFTS 2RFAIRERE
FRBEHELCRAEE &

(v) SHEHEMBERE-

BEEBLESARGE BRI EERR
AEERDESCHBEREFELLRE IR
ARERTHENGEI REE BEE/EE
REMWNTESEINEER RSEESH
R BRERBENEERTERNEE -

A5 B [ R A B I PR B 0 T By AT B AR

A3 EZ AR AT B M e B B E R
BIEED TR EERMSLZERRE
REFRRETTIHE - BERBHLE pLE K
R ESRAGE - BB B E V) B i e IR i
RHERERBRL BB RE RS RKRE
—FARRITE

BERTERHAQATAUBRRNLE

ARG ERE T IR Ll 5t &) Rda it - Rl AT gE
BEXERBEQENER FEEEL  WAF
HABUSAEENEERABEARS
HA el G5 tiRArE-—FELENAR
BE RESERDEEMERBDBBEERN
DERRBDEENRBDAE ZFRENF
ERARMRARRHE-_T-_=F=H
=t+t—HUE+RBEANGESHBERRS -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022-23 £ 5

15




16

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDM

Impact of the Scope Limitation on the Company’s financial
position

Should the Group can not achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to recover full or partial amount of
the Receivables and an adjustment would have to be made to write
down the carrying value of the Receivables to their recoverable
amounts, which results in an impairment loss recorded in the income
statement and a decrease of the value of asset in the consolidated
financial statements of the Company. However, the amount of the
Receivables do not constitute a substantial part of the Group’s asset
and its impairment will not have any material financial impacts to the
Company.

OPERATING LEASE AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 December 2021, according to the
disclosure requirements under Hong Kong Accounting Standards,
the Group had no operating lease commitments.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board recognizes its responsibility to ensure the Company
maintains a sound and effective risk management and internal
control system. The Group’s internal control system is designed
and established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against
improper use or disposal; relevant rules and regulations are adhered
to and complied with; reliable financial and accounting records are
maintained in accordance with relevant accounting standards and
regulatory reporting requirements; and key risks that may impact
the Group’s performance are appropriately identified and managed.
The review of the Group’s internal controls covers major financial,
operational and compliance controls, as well as risk management
functions. The internal control system can only provide reasonable,
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss, as
they are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure
in achieving business objectives.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

The Group's risk management framework includes risk identification,
risk assessment, risk treatment and monitoring and reviewing of the
effectiveness of the measures. This risk management framework is
guided by a three-tier risk management approach. At the first line
of defense, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing
and monitoring risks associated with all business or transactions.
Management, as the second line of defense, defines rule sets and
models, provides technical support, develops new systems and
oversees portfolio management. It ensures that risks are within the
acceptable range and that the first line of defense is effective. As
the final line of defense, the Audit Committee, with the professional
advice and opinions from external professional consultants, who
conduct annual audit work for the Group, continually inspects and
monitors the first and second lines of defense to ensure that they are
effective.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly comprises of fair value interest
risk and cash flow interest rate risk. (1) Fair value interest rate risk
is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due
to the changes in market interest rates. (2) Cash flow interest rate
risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of the changes in market interest rates. The Group
is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk through the impact of
interest rate changes on deposits. To minimize the fair value interest
rate risk, the Group keeps its borrowings with a fixed rate of interest.
Management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arises.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”), United States dollars
(“USD”) and Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). The Group is exposed to
foreign currency risk arising from the monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in currencies other than functional currencies
of the respective group entities. The Group does not have any
hedging instruments outstanding. The Group will constantly review
the economic situation and its foreign currency risk profile and will
consider appropriate hedging measures in the future as may be
necessary.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities that have not been provided for in the financial
statements (as at 31 December 2021: Nil).

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and
funding policies, with a focus on risk management and transactions
that are directly related to the underlying business of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEJEH—J-HH‘]& *ﬁ'

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

For this Reporting Period, the Group’s staff costs amounted to
approximately HK$38,818,000, of which GRG Huscoke accounted
for approximately HK$24,233,000, as compared to approximately
HK$53,882,000 for the Previous Reporting Period, of which GRG
Huscoke accounted for approximately HK$44,462,000. The disposal
of GRG Huscoke has been completed on 30 March 2023 and
its financial results are no longer consolidated into the financial
statement of the Group. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 20
employees with 19 employees stationed in Hong Kong, as compared
to 254 employees as at 31 December 2021. The decrease of the
employees was attributable to the Disposal of the subsidiary GRG
Huscoke at 30 March 2023. Upon the full operation of the new
coking furnace asset, the labor relationship of the management and
workers in Mainland China will be officially transferred to Energy
Jiarun.

Employees are remunerated according to the nature of the job and
market trends, performance evaluation mechanism, annual increment
and year-end performance bonus measures to reward and motivate
individual performance. As at the date of this report, the Group has
no share options outstanding under any share option scheme.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the listed securities of the Company.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2023, the Chinese government is expected to
introduce various growth stabilizing measures successively and
China’s economy is expected to maintain a recovery momentum. The
domestic coke inventory is currently at a low level, and the market
demand is expected to rebound as the market releases recovery
signal. Meanwhile, the past few years’ active supply-side reform of
the government effectively controlled the supply of the coke market
and improved coke price hub. In terms of raw materials, with the
significant increases in domestic production and import of coking
coal and coke enterprises’ strong bargaining power over coking coal,
coke enterprises maintained stable profitability and are expected to
recover steadily with the recovery of the supply and demand relation.
Moreover, the stable demand of coke by-products in the domestic
market is expected to generate stable income for coke enterprises.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEJEHTHH& *ﬁ'

The Group carries out its production and operation in Wutong
Industrial Coke Chemical Park, Xiaoyi City, Shanxi Province, through
the new coking furnace assets held by Energy Jiarun, which has
a designed annual capacity of no less than 1,200,000 tons of
coke, 65,000 tons of coal tar, 15,000 tons of crude benzene, and
15,000 tons of ammonium sulfate. The coke production business
is expected to generate sustained and stable income and profit
for the Group in the future. Furthermore, the Group will also closely
monitor domestic and international market development and adjust
its strategies in due course to correspond with challenges and seize
market opportunities.

While operating the coke production business, the Group will also
continue to explore the possibility to further expand coke production
capacity or developing upstream and downstream of coke industries,
such as coal trading and new energy, further enhancing the future
profitability of the Group. The Group is planning to develop coke
oven gas utilization projects for process and production of liquid
natural gas, hydrogen and other clean energy products by utilizing
the hydrogen-rich gas generated from the new coking furnace
assets.

The successful resumption of the Group marks a new development
milestone for the Company. In the next stage, the Company will
endeavor to ensure the operation and full capacity production of the
new coking furnace assets in a prompt manner to bring long-term
and stable income for the Shareholders.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHAO Xu Guang, aged 60, was appointed as an executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 17 November 2016 and was
appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 2 May 2017. Mr. Zhao was
appointed as Authorized Representative on 15 January 2020 and
resigned as Authorized Representative on 1 March 2020. Mr. Zhao
has more than 20 years of experience in business executive and
management. Mr. Zhao worked for the Ministry of Foreign Trade and
Economic Cooperation of the People’'s Republic of China. Mr. Zhao
also acted as chairman, general manager and director of various
enterprises specializing in trading, investment, property and in the
energy field. Mr. Zhao served as chairman and executive director of
Titan Petrochemicals Group Limited (“Titan Petrochemicals”), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1192) from July 2012 to September 2015. Mr. Zhao
graduated from Guangdong University of Foreign Studies with a
Bachelor of Economics degree.

Mr. WANG Yijun, aged 60, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company since 10 July 2019. Mr. Wang served as
a director and general manager of Shanxi Yiling Investment Inc.*
from March 2010 to November 2018. Mr. Wang also served as chief
executive director of Shanxi Zhongrui Group* and general manager
of Shanxi Zhongrui Trading Company Limited* from August 1999 to
March 2010. Mr. Wang holds a professional qualification in industrial
and civil architecture at Taiyuan University.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WONG Siu Hung, Patrick, aged 67, was appointed as an
executive Director and served as director of subsidiaries of the
Group with effect from 3 November 2016. Mr. Wong was appointed
as a Joint General Manager and Authorized Representative on 17
November 2016 and re-designated as General Manager on 25
November 2016 and subsequently re-designated as non-executive
Director and resigned as Authorized Representative on 9 April
2018. Mr. Wong was re-appointed as Authorized Representative
on 1 March 2020. Mr. Wong has more than 40 years of working
experience in banking, finance, commodity trading and project
development. Mr. Wong was appointed as an executive director
of Daisho Microline Holdings Limited with effect from 3 September
2020, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 567). Mr. Wong was appointed as an
executive director of FDG Kinetic Limited between 30 April 2021 and
20 February 2023, the shares of which were previously listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Delisted, Previous Stock Code:

* For identification purpose only
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378) (In Liquidation), during his tenure of office as an executive
director of FDG Kinetic Limited, a winding up order pursuant to the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Cap. 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) was made by the High Court
of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region against FDG Kinetic
Limited on 6 September 2021. Pursuant to an announcement
dated 15 February 2023 made by the Stock Exchange, the listing
of the shares of FDG Kinetic Limited was cancelled with effect
from 9:00 am on 20 February 2023. Mr. Wong was an independent
non-executive director, a member of each of the audit committee
and remuneration, quality and nomination committee of Crown
International Corporation Limited, the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 727) between 3
March 2021 and 31 March 2022. Mr. Wong was an executive director
of Winto Group (Holdings) Limited, the shares of which are listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8238) between
15 April 2019 and 6 November 2019. Mr. Wong was an executive
director of Titan Petrochemicals between 2008 and 2015. Mr. Wong
was the senior vice president of Commodity and Trade Finance at
Societe Generale Singapore and the chief executive officer in the
China Division of Louis Dreyfus Group, a global commodity trading
firm. Mr. Wong is an associate member of Chartered Institute of
Bankers, United Kingdom (now renamed as The London Institute of
Banking & Finance), a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors and a member of The Institute of Management Consultants
Hong Kong and a Certified Management Consultant. Mr. Wong holds
a Master's degree in Applied Finance from Macquarie University,
Australia and an Executive Diploma in Management Consulting from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. HUANG Man Yem, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive
Director with effect from 3 November 2016. Mr. Huang is a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Huang
was appointed as Authorized Representative on 28 November
2016. Mr. Huang has more than 17 years of working experience in
corporate development and restructuring, corporate establishment
and M&A projects, and capital market transactions (i.e. equities
and bonds/debts) on the stock exchanges of Hong Kong and
Singapore respectively. Mr. Huang is currently the general manager
of the Shanghai branch office of Expert Systems IVR (Asia) Co.
Ltd., a Hong Kong based subsidiaries of Asia-Pacific Region
Unified Communications solution provider engaged in Unified
Communications solutions development and corporate establishment
consultant business. Mr. Huang was also a former member of the
senior management of Titan Petrochemicals from April 2002 to May
2014. Mr. Huang holds a Master degree of Corporate Finance from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Bachelor of Engineering
in Electronic Engineering from City University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. JIANG Jiansheng, aged 61, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 15 January 2020.
Mr. Jiang has served as a senior consultant and general manager
of Inner Mongolia Andeli Chemical Co., Ltd.* since 2018. Mr. Jiang
respectively served as deputy general manager, chief engineer of
the chemical sector, director of the coal-to-liquids project and senior
consultant of Inner Mongolia Yitai Coal Oil Production Plant*. Mr.
Jiang also served as chemical process design engineer and dean
of the design and research institute of Yanchang Petroleum Shaanxi
Xingping Fertilizer Plant* (now known as Yanchang Petroleum
Shaanxi Xinghua Group Company*) from 1984 to 2005. Mr. Jiang
was the chairman of the National Nitrogen Fertilizer Association,
the chairman of Technical Committee of the National Chemical
Synthetic Ammonia Design Technology Center Station, a member
of a committee on standardization of Coal Fuel of National Energy
Administration, a member of the professional committee on Coal
Chemical Utilization of The Chemical Industry and Engineering
Society of China, a member of Technical Committee of the National
Gas Purification Information Centre, an expert of the Coal Chemical
Industry Expertise Committee of China Petroleum and Chemical
Industry Federation and evaluation expert of the China Development
Bank, etc. Mr. Jiang holds a professional qualification of inorganic
chemical engineering in chemical engineering and bachelor degree
in engineering at Inner Mongolia University of Technology. Mr. Jiang
is a senior engineer in professor-level and a registered chemist in
chemical process design.

Mr. TANG Ching Fai, aged 59, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director since 6 April 2022. Mr. Tang is a management
economist holding a Doctor of Economics from Graduate School
of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. He has been engaging
in various industries with over 30 years of working experience in
energy investment and equity management. He acts as the general
manager of China Coal Holch Capital Management Co., Ltd.* since
2018. Mr. Tang was the head of the treasury department of China
Rural Trust Development Corporation* from 1990 to 1994, and
served as the vice president of Jinnuo Investment Co., Ltd.* from
2001 to 2005. He was the strategic vice president of Alcatel China
Co., Ltd.* from 2005 to 2007, and served as the chairman of Tianjin
Wanjing Hongcheng Real Estate Co., Ltd.* from 2007 to 2010. He
was the chairman of Beijing Bajianfang Consulting Company* from
2010 to 2015, and served as the deputy secretary general of China
Association of Equity Investment Funds* from 2015 to 2018.

* For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. TO Wing Tim, Paddy, aged 70, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since October 2009. Mr. To is
the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. To obtained his
Diploma in Accountancy from the University of Hong Kong in 1991,
Mr. To has over 30 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
finance industry. Mr. To has been practicing as a certified public
accountant in Hong Kong since 1980, he ceased his public practice
on 31 March 2020. Mr. To is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of
the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and an associate member of the
Association of Certified General Accountants in Canada.

Mr. LAM Hoy Lee, Laurie, aged 65, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since September 2008. Mr. Lam
is a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee,
and the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Lam has
36 years of experience in legal field working as a solicitor in Hong
Kong. Mr. Lam is a practicing solicitor of Hong Kong and non-
practicing solicitor of Singapore and a non-practicing solicitor and
non-practicing counsel of Australia.

Dr. WANG Wei Hsin, aged 57, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 19 December 2018.
Dr. Wang is a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Dr. Wang has extensive
management experience in the financial services industry. Dr. Wang
has been redesignated from the chief financial officer of Renaissance
Asia Silk Road Group Limited (“Renaissance Asia Silk Road"), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 274) to a non-executive director and the vice chairman
of the board of Renaissance Asia Silk Road from 20 July 2022. Since
28 November 2022, Dr. Wang has resigned as a non-executive
director and has been redesignated as a business president of
Renaissance Asia Silk Road and ceased to be vice chairman of its
board. Dr. Wang served as the chief executive officer of South China
Financial Holdings Limited (“South China Financial”), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 619), and a director of certain subsidiaries of South China
Financial from May 2016 to October 2018, and served as executive
director of South China Financial from March 2017 to October
2018. Dr. Wang served as the chairman and chief executive officer
of SinoPac Securities (Asia) Limited and was responsible for the
business development and operations in Asia from 2009 to 2016.
Dr. Wang also served as the chief investment officer of Japan CDW
Group and the chief financial officer of its Taiwan subsidiary, as well
as co-founder of Yes-Asia.com and played significant role in China
Development Industrial Bank. Dr. Wang holds a PhD in Management
Science (Financial Engineering) from Imperial College London and
researched artificial intelligence and financial big data. Dr. Wang
was the fellow of Royal Society of Statistics during 1999 to 2000.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. AU Wing Sze, has been appointed as the Company Secretary
since 1 August 2020. Ms. Au holds a Bachelor Degree in Business
Administration and a Master Degree in Corporate Governance. She
has solid experience in company secretarial field gained from both
listed companies and professional firms in Hong Kong. Ms. Au is
an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present their report, the CG Report
and the ESG Report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in coke trading business, coal-related ancillary
business and coke production business. The activities of each of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 of the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Business Overview and Financial Performance

The review of the Group’s business and financial performance for
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 are provided in the section
“MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” in this Annual Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
1. Risk arising from fluctuating prices of coke and coal

A large portion of our revenue is derived from the sale of coke.
The coke is primarily priced based on prevailing market prices,
supply and demand of the coke and by reference to various
other factors that are applicable to individual customers.
Market prices for coke is mainly affected by the coke demand
of the domestic steel industry and the coke supply in the
market, and the imbalance between supply and demand in
the steel industry and the coke market with severe structural
contradiction has led to significant fluctuations in their market
prices in previous years. The average selling price of the
Group’s coke fluctuated which was in line with the trend of the
market price of coke. Therefore, the coke price of the Group
and the market price may not be stable.

The Group’s main production costs are the coking coal and the
manufacturing costs is relatively stable. The Group has closely
monitored the market price of coke and coking coal and
the changes in the spread of between these prices is highly
sensitive. Trends in the market price of the coking coal and the
coke may not correlate to one another. When the coke market
price has declined, the Group may not able to lower its cost
of production on the same pace as the rate of decline in coal
price. Vice versa, the increase in coal market price may not
have a corresponding increase in the coke price of the Group.
The underlying situation could adversely affect the Group’s
business, financial condition and operations.

In response to this risk factor, the management will closely
monitor the economic environment and adopt corresponding
measures such as adjustment of production plans and
enhancement of cost monitoring.
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Risks in association with changes in the Chinese
government policies and regulations

Coke production in the PRC is subjected to extensive
laws, regulations and government policies. The obligations
and requirements associated with these laws, regulations,
responsibilities of government policies, relevant fees and
social responsibilities may have a major impact on the Group’s
operation. In particular, the Chinese government in recent
years has been strengthening its environmental control and
enforcement and has implemented a series of measures to
reduce production capacity, which may adversely affect the
production, business, operation of the Group. Furthermore,
the Group will be responsible for the clean-up if the operation
results in contamination at the production facilities. Such clean-
up may impose substantial costs.

In response to this risk factor, the management regards
environmental protection and control as one of its principal
responsibilities and if necessary, the Group shall invest and
upgrade its existing equipment and facilities to achieve the
domestic environmental standards.

Risk arising from safety management

The Group’s businesses are all of high hazardous nature and
of complex uncertainties which is potentially destructive and
explosive. The Group stores, handles and transports volatile,
flammable, hazardous liquid and gaseous chemical products,
such as benzene, tar, sulphuric acid and coal gas. Improper
handling of these materials and products can cause danger
such as fires, explosions which lead property loss, personal
injuries, death and possible legal liabilities.

In response to this risk factor, the management will adopt
stringent safety management policy and control system,
reinforcement of installing safety warnings, and reinforcement
safety education, promote safety skills training and improve
employees’ safety awareness.
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Future Business Development

The Company will strive for the full operation of the new coking
furnace assets with a designed annual capacity of no less than
1,200,000 tons of coke, 65,000 tons of coal tar, 15,000 tons of crude
benzene and 15,000 tons of ammonium sulfate, and will actively
expand the market and customer base. The coke production
business is expected to generate sustained and stable income and
profit for the Group in the future. Furthermore, the Group will also
closely monitor the domestic and international market development
and adjust its strategies in due course to correspond with challenges
and seize the market opportunities.

In addition, the Company is committed to undertaking social
responsibilities, and attaches great importance to production safety
and environmental protection. In response to various environmental
protection policies launched by the Chinese government, the Group
will further improve production equipment and auxiliary facilities so
as to meet the higher environmental standards while complying with
the environmental protection requirements of the coke industry in the
PRC.

While operating the coke production business, the Company will
also continue to explore every investment opportunity for further
expansion of coke production capacity or development of the
upstream and downstream of coke industries, to further enhance the
Company’s future profitability. The Company is planning to restart
the coke trading business, including coke export and coking coal
import, in a timely manner under suitable conditions and favorable
market environment. At the same time, the Group is planning
to develop coke oven gas utilization projects for process and
production of liquid natural gas, hydrogen and other clean energy
products by utilizing the hydrogen-rich gas generated from the new
coking furnace assets.
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The Group is committed to assuming social responsibilities and
emphasizes environmental protection and production safety. In
order to achieve the goal with cleaner energy emissions, the Group
continues to fulfill its responsibility for environmentally friendly
operation and upgrades production equipment and facilities with
self-raising environmental standards.

Key Relationships with our Stakeholders

The Group strives to maintain harmonious relationship with its
stakeholders, including but not limited to, its customers, suppliers
and employees.

1

Customers

The Group continuously pays attention to strengthen and
sustain the relationship with its major customers and ensure
customer satisfaction by providing quality products and
services to customers.

Suppliers

The Group has established long-term, effective and mutual
beneficial working relationships with the major suppliers to
ensure stable and sustainable supplies for the businesses of
the Group.

Employees

Employees are regarded as one of the most important and
valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s
human resource management is to reward and recognize
performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by appropriate training
and providing opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s
employees are periodically reviewed by the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group. The principle of the Group’s remuneration
policy is fairness, motivating, performance-oriented and
market-competitive. Apart from salaries, medical insurance,
discretionary bonuses and retirement benefit scheme,
the Group has also adopted share option schemes for its
employees, providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants with reference to their contributions.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s key
business operation in Shanxi Province strictly complied with
applicable regulations, laws, and standards related to environmental
and social aspects. The Group will continue to identify areas
of improvement for the concerned aspects and keep close
communication with its stakeholders for advancing environment,
social and governance management. Details of the environmental
policies and performance are set out in Environment, Social and
Governance Report of this Annual Report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiary in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the Stock
Exchange. Therefore, the Group’s establishment and operations
accordingly shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong. During the fifteen months ended 31 March
2023 and up to the date of this report, the Board considers the
Group has complied with all the applicable laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to
188.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as
at 31 March 2023 were as follows:

Contributed surplus AR
Accumulated losses RitEE

Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the contributed surplus
account of the Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of contributed surplus if (a) it is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (b) the realisable
value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium accounts.
As at 31 March 2023, the Company had no reserve available for
distribution to Shareholders (2021: Nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 (2021: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company is committed to providing stable and sustainable
returns to Shareholders and endeavours to maintain stable
dividend policy whilst maintaining an equitable balance between
returns to Shareholders and investment for sustaining growth. In
recommending a dividend, the Company shall take into account the
expected future capital requirements, growth opportunities available
to the Group, net earnings of the Group, and in compliance with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and in accordance with the
Bye-Laws of the Company.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company who were in office during the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this report are
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Xu Guang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Yijun

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick
Mr. Huang Man Yem
Mr. Jiang Jiansheng
Mr. Tang Ching Fai'

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin

i appointed on 6 April 2022

In accordance with the bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company,
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang, Mr. Wang Yijun, Mr. Jiang Jiansheng and Mr,
Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under section
heading “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” on pages 20 to 24 of this Annual Report.
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UPDATES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION BHEEER

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the updates of 1B 4 F M AIFE1351B()E REE - F

information of the Directors during the fifteen months ended 31 —=F=ZA=+—HIt+HABAAREER

March 2023 and up to the date of this report are set out below: WMEBR EHMEFERFINMOT

Name of Director Details of Updates

EEHA BB

Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick ° With effect from 9:00 am 20 February 2023, the listing of the shares of FDG
(“Mr. Wong") Kinetic Limited (In Liquidation) (Receivers and Managers Appointed), of

mOMEA ([EXE]) which Mr. Wong serves as an executive Director, was cancelled under Rule

Dr. Wang Wei Hsin (“‘Dr.Wang") e
THEFEL ([EEE])
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6.01A(1) of the Listing Rules. Mr. Wong resigned as an executive director
of FDG Kinetic Limited with effect from 20 February 2023.
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Dr. Wang has been redesignated from the chief financial officer of
Renaissance Asia Silk Road to a non-executive director and the vice
chairman of the board of Renaissance Asia Silk Road from 20 July 2022.
With effect from 28 November 2022, Dr. Wang has resigned as a non-
executive director and has been redesignated as a business president of
Renaissance Asia Silk Road and ceased to be vice chairman of its board.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors who will retire and offer themselves for re-election at
the 2023 AGM do not have an unexpired service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation. All other Directors are not appointed
for specific terms and are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered
all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent for
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this
report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023, the Company has
in force the permitted indemnity provisions in the Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance maintained for the Group to indemnify
the Directors against all losses and liabilities which may sustain or
incur while acting in his capacity as Director in accordance with the
Bye-Laws of the Company and the Companies Ordinance of Hong
Kong.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities on the Stock
Exchange, any other stock exchange, by private arrangement or by
general offer.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2013 Scheme”)
which became effective on 28 March 2013 for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to the eligible participants,
including directors and eligible employees. The 2013 Scheme lasted
for a period of ten years and expired on 28 March 2023.

Particulars and details of the movement of the 2013 Scheme are set
out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

No share options were granted or cancelled during the Reporting
Period and at the beginning and at the end of the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023, and all the share options lapsed during
the Reporting Period. Accordingly, there were no share options
outstanding under the 2013 Scheme held by any eligible participant.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of the options
available for grant under the mandate of the 2013 Scheme at the
beginning and the end of the period ended 31 March 2023 were
7,505,852 shares and 0O shares respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and convertible
bonds during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 are disclosed
under sections headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” and “ISSUE
OF THE CONVERTIBLE BOND" above and in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws
of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group and Directors
is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the Directors
are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to
the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the 2013 Scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. The 2013 Scheme was expired on
28 March 20283. Details of the scheme are set out in section heading
“SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME” in this report and in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees employed in Hong
Kong.

MATERIAL INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “MATERIAL INVESTMENT,
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL" and “ISSUE OF THE CONVERTIBLE
BOND", there were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
or the controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the period or at any time during the period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors of the Company had any interest in any
competing business with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS” and “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” in this
report, at no time during the period was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate, and none of the directors of the Company or their spouse
or minor children had any rights to subscribe for the securities of the
Company, or had exercised any such rights during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ S INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the
Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company

Name of Directors Nature of interest

EEnR EEMtE

Mr. Zhao Xu Guang
B e ZHEE 2 s (Hita)
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy

AR & EmEA AR BER (Hidb)
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Interest of a controlled corporation (Note a)

Beneficial owner and Interest of spouse (Note b)
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Notes:

(a)

(b)

As at 31 March 2023, the shares included (i) 146,841,904 shares
beneficially owned by Shun Wang Investments Limited ("Shun
Wang’); (i) the 293,683,808 new Offer Shares in which Mr. Zhao Xu
Guang (“Mr. Zhao”) is deemed to be interested as a result of the
Irrevocable Undertaking in respect of the entitlement of Offer Shares
of Shun Wang under the Open Offer; and (iii) 726,415,094 shares
which may be issued upon the exercise of conversion rights attached
to the Convertible Bonds to be issued by the Company to Wahen
Investments Limited (“Wahen Investments”) pursuant to the CB
Subscription Agreement. Shun Wang is owned as to 100% by Whole
Advance Limited, which voting ordinary shares are owned as to 100%
by Liberal Expansion Limited, which in turn is owned as to 100% by
Mr. Zhao, an executive Director, Chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company. Wahen Investments is also owned as to 100% by Mr.
Zhao. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhao is deemed to be interested in the
shares of the Company in which Shun Wang and Wahen Investments
are interested. Capitalized terms used in this note shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the circular of the Company dated 14
October 2022.

As at 31 March 2023, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy, an independent non-
executive Director, together with his spouse, respectively holds 6,293
Shares and 18,040 Shares of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. To Wing
Tim, Paddy is interested in 6,293 Shares and deemed to have interest
in 18,040 Shares of the Company under Part XV of the SFO.
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Long positions in debentures of the Company REQATEHF 2R
Approximate
percentage to
the total amount
Amount of of debentures
Name of Director Debenture Capacity debentures held in issue
HERTES
EEnR =t 545 FEEseE HEHRIEIE
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang 8% unsecured convertible Interest of a controlled HK$154,000,000 100%
bonds due 2024 corporation (Note)
B EE FRERBREN T _NF RHEE 2w (M) 154,000,000/ 7T 100%
IEmEERTRRES
Note: Bt -

On 19 September 2022, Wahen Investments, a company wholly-owned by
Mr. Zhao, entered into a subscription agreement (the “CB Subscription
Agreement”) with the Company pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue and Wahen Investments has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$ 154,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”) which are freely transferable and
convertible into shares at the initial conversion price of HK$0.212 (subject to
adjustments) which is equivalent to the Subscription Price (as defined in the
circular of the Company dated 14 October 2022) (the “CB Subscription”).

RZBZZFAAFNA EZRE(—FHHE
SEELERBRILE]) BALEIF] 780 g ([
BREFZEGE]) HI ALFEEERE
BT MEZREFIKAZZHERNEHERELR
B SR 17 K B8 /3154,000,00078 7T 5 A PR A%
B ([TRKES]) AR 2R IERB212E
T (A FHE) HERBEE (EEZRAXRAH
B —F - —F 1+ ATHAESR) ([TRRE
FRBER]) -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors
nor the chief executive of the Company had registered an interest
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of each
person, other than a Director or chief executive of the Company,
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which had
been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

BREXBEEEIN RZF_=F=A
=t—B ZEEREARFNEIEZTHRAER
BERARARETAREER (EERES
KEREGBIEXVED) 2 Biin - AERE ) K&
FH - BRBAREE S LB %RDIF352
RAT RSk IR IR R HIRBIZELE TR
EMEARR MR EmIIXR

FERRRHEMAL 2B

RZZEZ=F=A=+—H SAL(E=H
HARBEBZITHRABBRIN RARR 2%
DEABREIRG - A RIEE S5 R HAE G
BEXVERFE 2R F3n FEME AN\ KB
iRzl AR (BEFEREESFRPE
BHZEGXEEEXRIERE 2 ERZR
KB MR AR RBIRIEEF KRB EEF
BB FEZ Bz ER AR T

Long positions in shares of the Company: REQXTRBZHFR:
Approximate
Percentage of
Number of issued share
Name of substantial Shareholders Nature of interest shares held capital
HEBRITRAE
TERRZHE B EEME RS HE BHABEDL
Wahen Investments Limited Beneficial owner (Note a) 726,415,094 250.17%
ETREFRAF] E=EEA (Hita)
Shun Wang Investments Limited Beneficial owner (Note b) 146,841,904 50.57%
JERE 12 & BRR A A EnmBA(Hitb)
Whole Advance Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note b) 146,841,904 50.57%
AaEBRAT RHEE 2 R (AAEb)
Liberal Expansion Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note b) 146,841,904 50.57%
A ER AR THEEZ #Em (Mitb)
Rontac Resources Company Limited  Beneficial owner (Note c) 14,718,922 5.07%
BMEERERAA] EmEAA (Hite)
Rontac Investment Company Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note c) 14,718,922 5.07%
BMEREER QA THEE 2w (Hate)
Mr. Li Hongwei Interest of a controlled corporation (Note c) 14,718,922 5.07%
FRHEEE RHEE 2 s (Mitc)
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Notes:

(a) As at 31 March 2023, Wahen Investments is wholly-owned by Mr.
Zhao, an executive Director, chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company.

(b) As at 31 March 2023, Shun Wang is owned as to 100% by Whole
Advance Limited, the voting ordinary shares of which are owned as to
100% by Liberal Expansion Limited, which in turn is owned as to 100%
by Mr. Zhao.

(c) As at 31 March 2023, Rontac Resources Company Limited is wholly-
owned by Rontac Investment Company Limited, which in turn is owned
as to 71% by Mr. Li Hongwei. Accordingly, Mr. Li Hongwei is deemed
to be interested in 14,718,922 Shares under Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, so far as is known
to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, no person (other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had an interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the period, the Group entered into various transactions which
constituted connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. All the connected transactions during the period that need to
be disclosed herein are in compliance with the Listing Rules. Details
of the connected transactions of the Group for the period are set
out above under the sections headed “MATERIAL INVESTMENT,
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL" and “ISSUE OF THE CONVERTIBLE
BOND”.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions as
set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements falls under
the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected
transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Wit -

(a) R-F-_ZFZA=+—H ZE=ZKEH
KRABITEF T/ERTHABH B ;L
2EHER -

b) R-E-=F=HF=+—H AEHERA
Al EHEEIEHE R #a BB R A2
BHEABEARARIZAREREFRE

ML EHEELER A I #

<

B

(c) R-F-—=#F=A=+—H B%xLFH
RAGHEBEREGFRAGIZEHE  F
LIEHERBEREEIR A AIHEGT1%1E
25 o Bl IRIFFEH R HIENFHIEXVES - 3
FoAB S £ R ER 4,718 92288 BR 17 70 #F
B o

BREXHBEEN R_FT_=F=A
=t—H REEHARAEBTRAEM
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LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The total loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
March 2023 amounted to HK$218,188,000 (31 December 2021:
HK$733,863,000). Particulars of loans and other borrowings are set
out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The property, plant and equipment of the Group as at 31 March
2023 amounted to approximately HK$1,778,913,000 (31 December
2021: HK$1,234,000). Details of movements of property, plant
and equipment are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately
99.9% (2021: 76%) of the Group’s total turnover and the largest
customer accounted for approximately 60.0% (2021: 47%) of the
Group’s total turnover.

The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately
99.7% (2021: 96%) of the Group’s total purchases for the period and
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 37.4% (2021: 53%)
of the Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the period did a Director, an associate of a Director
or a Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in
any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

The Group is committed to establishing a close and caring
relationship with our employees, providing quality services to its
customers and enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has complied with the sufficiency of public
float requirement under the Listing Rules during the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Open Offer

On 19 August 2022, the Company proposed to raise approximately
HK$121.7 million before expenses by way of open offer on the basis
of two (2) new shares of HK$0.1 each for every one (1) existing
share of HK$0.1. For details of the Open Offer, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 19 August 2022 and the
circular of the Company dated 14 October 2022. The Open Offer
(including the grant of a specific mandate) was approved by the
independent Shareholders at the SGM held on 31 October 2022,
please refer to the poll results announcement dated 31 October
2022 for details.

As at the date of this report, as additional time is required for the
Company to prepare and finalise certain information to be contained
in the prospectus in relation to the Open Offer, the Open Offer has
not yet been completed. It is expected that the despatch of the
prospectus documents will further be postponed to on or before 31
July 2023.

Issue of the FA Remuneration Shares

On 19 September 2022, the Company proposed to issue (the “Issue
of the FA Remuneration Shares”) 3,301,886 remuneration shares
(the “FA Remuneration Shares”) to settle part of the professional
fees in the amount of HK$700,000 to Veda Capital Limited (the
“Financial Adviser”) (or its nominees) at an issue price of HK$0.212
per share. For detail of the Issue of the FA Remuneration Shares,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 19
September 2022 and the circular of the Company dated 14 October
2022. The Issue of the FA Remuneration Shares was approved by
the independent Shareholders at the SGM held on 31 October 2022,
please refer to the poll results announcement dated 31 October
2022 for details.

The completion of the Issue of the FA Remuneration Shares took
place on 24 May 2023 and 3,301,886 FA Remuneration Shares was
issued by the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to supporting sustainability of the
environment and endeavours to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and to adopt measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction. The details of environmental, social and governance
information of the Group for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 63 to 94 to this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. The Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations that have significant impact on the operations
of the Group. The Company is subject to the Listing Rules, the
Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs, the
Bermuda Companies Law, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and/or the rules and
regulations of the jurisdictions where the shares of the Company are
listed and traded. Details of the corporate governance practices of
the Group for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 43 to 62 to this Annual
Report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 25
September 2023 (Monday) to 28 September 2023 (Thursday),
both days inclusive. In order to qualify for the attendance of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
28 September 2023 (Thursday), share transfer forms accompanied
by relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on 22 September 2023
(Friday).

AUDITOR

BDO Limited was appointed as the external auditor of the Group for
the period from 10 July 2019 to 25 January 2021.

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited has been appointed as the external
auditor of the Company with effect from 25 January 2021 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of BDO Limited as external
auditor of the Company, and to hold office until the conclusion of the
next annual general meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023 have been audited by Zhonghui Anda CPA
Limited, which will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming 2023 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Zhao Xu Guang
Chairman
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The Board is committed to upholding high standard of corporate
governance. The Directors believe that effective corporate
governance practices emphasised on accountability and
transparency are the keys to protect the interest of our Shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders, enhance the confidence in the
Group business and fulfil its social responsibility.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board regularly reviews the corporate governance practices
which have applied the principles set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix 14, under the
Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange together with all other
applicable rules under Listing Rules, the SFO, the Companies
Ordinance and other applicable laws, rules and guidelines.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of
this report, except for the code provision C.2.1 with reason for the
deviation explained hereunder, the Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules.

As a required disclosure under the Code Provision D.1.3 of the
CG Code, as set out in the 2021 and 2022 annual reports, the
auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) has issued a Disclaimer
of Opinion regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The Group has taken and will continue to take certain
proposed measures to improve the Group’s working capital and
cash flow position and mitigate its liquidity pressure. For details
of the disclaimer of opinion and proposed measures, please
refer to the section headed “Management’s position and basis on
the going concern assumption, and its view on the disclaimer of
opinion” of the Annual Report. Details of action plans of the Group
to address the Scope Limitation, impact of the disclaimer on the
Company’s financial position and impact of the Scope Limitation on
the Company’s financial position are set out at P.15 and P.16 of this
report respectively.

Compliance with the Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. All Directors have confirmed in writing,
following specific enquiry by the Company, that they fully complied
with the Model Code throughout the fifteen months ended 31 March
2028.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Company has designed an appropriate corporate governance
structure for the Group which is headed by an effective board
of directors. To assist the Board in discharging its duties and
facilitate effective management, the Board has established three
Board committees (each, a “Board Committee”), including Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee.
The Board undertakes the corporate governance function and is
lead by the Chairman. The majority of the members of each Board
Committee are independent non-executive Directors, and each
Board Committee has its own defined and written terms of reference
approved by the Board covering its duties, powers and functions.
Their terms of reference are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhao Xu Guang
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. Wang Yijun, four
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick, Mr.
Huang Man Yem, Mr. Jiang Jiansheng and Mr. Tang Ching Fai, and
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Hoy
Lee, Laurie, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy and Dr. Wang Wei Hsin.

Directors’ Retirement at 2023 AGM

In accordance with the bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company,
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang, Mr. Wang Yijun, Mr. Jiang Jiansheng and Mr,
Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under section
heading “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” on pages 20 to 24 of this Annual Report.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible for the
leadership. The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s
operations, strategies, financial performance and compliance. The
following outlined the key matters that are reserved to the Board for
approval:

° set Group’s overall objectives and business strategies;

° establish Board Committees, define the role and duties of each
Board Committee;

° authorise delegation of power to the management for
implementation of its decisions;

° direct and supervise management performance;

° oversee the Group’s compliance with statutory and regulatory
obligations;

o review financial statements, announcements and reports; and

° recommend on of dividends and its distribution.
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Delegation to the Management

The Board has delegated its power to the executive Directors to act
on its behalf. The executive Directors are responsible for day-to-day
management of operations, implementing the decisions approved by
the Board, conducting regular meetings with the senior management
of the Company and its subsidiaries and associated companies, at
which operational issues and financial performance are evaluated.
The executive Directors are required to report and provide an
updated information to the Board on a regular basis on business
development, financial positions, market updates, risk management,
compliance and corporate governance issues.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Zhao Xu Guang, being the chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”), also acts as Chief Executive Officer since 2 May 2017.

Code Provision C.2.1

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

Reason for Deviation

Mr. Zhao Xu Guang is the Chairman of the Board and also serves
as Chief Executive Officer. The Board believes that, despite the
deviation of the CG Code, vesting the roles of both Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Zhao has the benefit of ensuring the
consistent leadership within the Group and enabling more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning of the Group. The Board
considers that the balance of power and authority for the present
arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will enable the
Company to make and implement decisions promptly and effectively.
The Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles of
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account
the circumstances of the Group as a whole.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven non-
executive Directors including independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick, Mr. Huang Man Yem, Mr. Jiang
Jiansheng, Mr. Tang Ching Fai, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie, Mr. To
Wing Tim, Paddy and Dr. Wang Wei Hsin. According to the bye-
law 99 of the Bye-Laws, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors at the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. All non-executive Directors are
not appointed for a specific term and are subject to retirement by
rotation requirement under the Bye-Laws and shall retire from office
at least once every three years.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board comprises of three independent non-executive Directors
out of nine members of the Board in total, representing one-third of
Board. The Board is satisfied that current composition of the Board
is in compliance with the requirement of independent non-executive
Directors under Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rule.

Most of the independent non-executive Directors are professionals
with recognised qualifications, either being certified public
accountant or lawyer, who possess extensive experience in their own
professions. The biography details of the independent non-executive
Directors are set out on page 23 of this Annual Report. During the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2023, all independent non-executive
Directors contributed impartial view to the Board members and
made independent judgements on issues discussed at the Board
meetings.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each independent non-executive Director for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023 pursuant to the independence guidelines
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considered
each of the independent non-executive Directors fulfilled the
independence requirement throughout the year and up to the date
of this report. The independent non-executive Directors had been
identified in all corporate communications of the Company that
disclose the names of Directors.

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BOARD MEMBERS

Saved as disclosed under section heading “BIOGRAPHICAL
DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT" on pages
20 to 24 under this Annual Report, none of the members of the
Board has any relationship, neither financial, business, family nor
other material/relevant relations, among each other.

MECHANISM TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS FROM
DIRECTORS

To ensure independent views and input from any Director, the
following mechanism is established by the Board:

1. Independence Assessment

Each of the independent non-executive Directors shall provide
a written annual confirmation of independence to the Company
on their compliance with the independence requirements as
set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination
Committee shall assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors upon appointment and annually to ensure
they can continually exercise independent judgement.
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Composition of Board

Currently, one-third of the Board members are independent
non-executive Directors, which meets the requirement of
the Listing Rules that at least one-third of the Board are
independent non-executive Directors.

Board Proceedings and Decision Making

At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board and Board committee
meetings will be given to all Directors, and all Directors are
invited to include any matters for discussion in the agenda.
By at least 3 business days in advance of every regular Board
and Board committee Meeting, Directors are provided with
the meeting agenda and the relevant board papers containing
complete, adequate and timely information to enable full
deliberation on the issues to be considered at the respective
meetings.

All Directors are required to declare their direct/indirect
interests, if any, in any business proposals to be considered
at the meetings and, where appropriate, they are required to
abstain from voting on any Board resolution concerned.

Independent non-executive Directors should attend all regular
meetings of the Board and Board committees on which
they serve. They should also attend general meetings of
the Company to acquire understanding of the views of the
shareholders.

Remuneration of Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for
their role as members of the Board and Board committees and
no equity-based or incentive based compensation program is
granted to independent non-executive Directors as this may
lead to bias in their decision-making and compromise their
objectivity and independence.

Access to Professional Advice and Up-to-date
Information

The Company Secretary provided induction pack and
orientation program for all new recruits to the Board. Such
program would familiarise the newly appointed Director with
the nature of the business, the corporation’s strategy, the
internal control and corporate governance practices and
policies, and directors’ duties and responsibilities. Subsequent
information packages are regularly provided to the Directors to
keep them abreast of their responsibilities and infuse them with
new knowledge relevant to the Group’s current business and
operating environment.
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To facilitate proper discharge of Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, all Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are entitled to seek advice from the
Company Secretary as well as from independent professional
advisers at the expense of the Company.

6. Independent Views and Inputs Treasured and Valued

During the Board and Board committee meetings, the
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to
express freely their independent views and inputs in an open
and candid manner. The chairman also encourages questions
and challenges from Directors, in particular independent non-
executive Directors and their comments and concerns are
closely followed up by the management.

In addition to Board meetings, the chairman schedules a
meeting annually with independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other Directors to discuss the affairs of
the Group.

The Company Secretary is required to prepare minutes that
record not only the decision reached but any concerns raised
or dissenting views expressed by Directors. Draft versions of
the minutes are circulated to all Directors for their comment
and confirmation before it is finalised for records. Minutes of
all Board and Board committee meetings are available for
Directors’ inspection.

The implementation and effectiveness of the above mechanisms
have been reviewed by the Board on an annual basis and the
Board believe these measures would allow Directors to contribute
effectively and independent views and input are available to the
Board and Board committees.

INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal action against the Directors and management of the Group.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

All Board members have separate and independent access to the
Company Secretary and management of the Group to fulfil their
duties. Independent professional advice can be sought to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties at the Group’s expense
upon their request.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Au Wing Sze (“Ms. Au”) acts as the Company Secretary of
the Company and is responsible to the Board for ensuring that
Board procedures are followed and the Board is fully briefed on all
legislative, regulatory and corporate governance developments and
that it has regard to them when making decisions.

Ms. Au undertakes to ensure a good information flow within the
Board and between the Board and senior management, provides
advice to the Board in relation to Directors’ obligations under the
Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations and assists the
Board in implementing the corporate governance practices. During
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023, Ms. Au finished no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training and in compliance
with the training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS AND PROCEEDINGS

Regular Board meetings were held 16 times during the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023. The Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary and company secretarial team
for ensuring that the Board procedures, all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

The chairman of the meeting set the meeting agenda in consultation
with other Board members and with assistance of the company
secretarial team. Board meeting notice is sent to the Directors at
least 14 days prior to each regular Board meeting and reasonable
notice is given for other Board meetings. Board papers and meeting
materials with sufficient information details are sent to Board and
Committee members at least 3 days before each meeting to enable
the Directors to make informed decisions.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
drafted by the Company Secretary of the meetings and recorded in
sufficient details of the matters discussed and decisions reached
and have been circulated to the Directors for comments and record
in a timing manner. Originals of all minutes of the Company are
kept by the company secretarial team and open for inspection by
Directors.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, that
Director will be abstained from voting on the relevant resolutions
with conflict of interest and that he/she shall not be counted in the
quorum present at such Board meeting.
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Attendance of Board Meeting and General Meeting during the
period

The attendance of Board meetings and general meeting during the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

RERAZESEERRRRAEHEAR

HE—_Z-_=—F=-A=+—HIE+HEAR"
EXZERMRRRGZHEAHBEHT W0
T

Board Meetings Attendance at
Attended/Held and 2022 general
Capacity and Name of Director Eligible to Attend meetings
ETEERLRE =F=—=
REBITIREK BRAE
EEHERER BRUERE HEER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang (Chairman and B (EEFTHBAEZE)

Chief Executive Officer) 15/16 4/4
Mr. Wang Yijun FREESE 16/16 4/4
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick =5OMEA 16/16 4/4
Mr. Huang Man Yem BENELEA 15/16 4/4
Mr. Jiang Jiansheng ERAELAE 16/16 4/4
Mr. Tang Ching Fai’ PR AIE 28 5 A 14/14 4/4
Independent non-executive Directors B EHITESE
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MBI FI S A 13/16 3/4
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy MAOR S & 16/16 4/4
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHEELT 16/16 4/4

g appointed on 6 April 2022
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in a programme of continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging and
funding training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of the Directors.

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023, all Directors had
provided to the Company a record of their CPD training by attending
seminars and conferences, taking courses and reading materials. A
summary of training topics covered is as follow:

FREXRER
RIFMEEE AT AR ST AR FEC.A.41%
EREFELAFEFTRURIE UER
NEREMB LR BRERBESSR
REERDRBBZER ARREEER
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ETUNEEZER-

BE_Z_=F=A=+—HIET+EEA"
PREZHCRAARFARHREFLERFE
BEXZERBIZLE BB HERTS
Kt i & & ERIZ K BIE I DIA L« 553
WE 2 mEB s

Topics of Training
B E R

Legal/ Group

Accounting/ Corporate Business/

Name of Director Financial Governance Directors Duties
EES SEEY

EEpE o5t B EEER EERE
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang HEE S S A v v
Mr. Wang Yijun EFEELRE v v
Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick EHOMEA v v v
Mr. Huang Man Yem BENELE v v
Mr. Jiang Jiansheng ERERE v v
Mr. Tang Ching Fai BB ST A v v
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie R F S A v v v
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy AR & v v v
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHRELT v v

! appointed on 6 April 2022

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING

The Group seeks to conduct its business honestly and with integrity
at all times. Anti-corruption and whistleblowing are essential to
establishing a healthy corporate culture and promoting high ethical
standards within the organisation.

The Group has adopted its Best Practice and Guideline on
Occupational Code of Ethics (the “Code”), setting clear anti-corruption
policy that supports the compliance of anti-corruption laws and
regulations as well as to promote an anti-corruption culture within the
organisation. The Code provides guidelines on handling conflicts of
interests and restrictions on acceptance of advantages from business
partners. Anti-corruption training is provided as part of the onboarding
process and on an ongoing basis to ensure the Company’s
expectations are effectively communicated to all levels of staff.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy who also acts as
chairman of the committee, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie and Dr. Wang
Wei Hsin, and one non-executive Director, Mr. Huang Man Yem.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviews and supervises
the Group’s accounting policies and financial reporting, risk
management and internal control practices, maintains an appropriate
relationship with the external auditors and ensures the regulatory
compliance of the Group.

During the review of financial statements, the management reported
the liquidity position of the Group and measures taken/to be taken
to enable the Group to sustain as a going concern. The Audit
Committee was aware of the matter as one of key audit matters
and to be included in the section under material uncertainty related
to going concern in the Independent Auditor's Report for 2022/23
consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee did not
express any disagreement with the management’s assessment
concerning of the going concern assumptions in the preparation of
2022/23 consolidated financial statements.

The attendance of Audit Committee meetings during the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

Capacity and Name of Director
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Audit Committee Meetings
Attended/Held and
Eligible to Attend

ERZESSEHRERE
EERARESR BIRBREREERE
Chairman of Audit Committee EREEEXRE
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy MRS A 9/9
Members BB
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MR 58 A 8/9
Mr. Huang Man Yem BENELAE 8/9
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHEFELT 9/9

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1E % E BR 2 5




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 is set out as follows:

o reviewed the half-yearly and annual financial statements
and reports and recommended to the Board for adopt and
approval;

° reviewed the performance and independence of the external
auditor and recommended the Board on the re-appointment of
external auditor;

o reviewed and approved the audit plan for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023;

o reviewed the independence of external auditors and its
engagement letter and approved the engagement;

° reviewed and approved engagements of respective
independent external professionals to assess the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control system and
compliance of environmental and social regulations of the
Group; and

° reviewed the respective compliance and risk and internal
control assessment reports, and the corporate governance
review report of the Group.

The Audit Committee had recommended to the Board on
consideration of the re-appointment of Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited
as external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie who also acts
as Chairman of the committee, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy, Dr. Wang
Wei Hsin and one non-executive Director, Mr. Huang Man Yem.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for review and
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration structure
and policy for all Directors and senior management, reviews specific
remuneration packages, ensuring a formal and transparent process
in place to develop remuneration policy and no Director takes part in
decisions of his own remuneration.
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The attendance of Remuneration Committee meetings during the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

BE_ZT_=—F=A=+—HIL+HEAAR"
FMZEeeR s HEARFEIIMT

Remuneration Committee

Meetings Attended/Held
Capacity and Name of Director and Eligible to Attend
FHESESRHERE
EERARESR BOREREREERE
Chairman of Remuneration Committee FHEESXE
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MRER A SE A4 1/1
Members RE
Mr. Huang Man Yem BENELE 1/1
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy MAOR S A& 1/1
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHEE LT 1/1

In accordance with its terms of reference which have been revised
in December 2022, the Remuneration Committee is responsible for,
among other things:

° reviewed the Directors’ fee for the period and recommended to
the Board for approval,

° reviewed and assessed the remuneration policy and structure
of the Group;

° reviewed the appointment of Chief Executive Officer and
recommended to the Board the adjustment of monthly
salary considered his dual capacity as Chairman and the
responsibilities undertaking; and

° reviewed and/or approved matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the period
are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. The
remuneration of the members of the senior management of the
Group by band for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 is set
out below:

Remuneration Band

BEBER-_T__F+-AEiT0HgEaE -
FHZEeRE (HHhEH):

BAMANEEREYMESTSIELN
FEREZE

o HRE REPEAEE S H B R

e RETTHRARZZE INEEHSH
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EeEFHABREAT X

e RER/HHAEEWLETRAEITE
AT EMNER-

SESENHPRZHFMNFEERNEG S VBT
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TR ERZRHFHARE S ZEAEE A
BEHETIIT

Number of Persons as
Senior Management

A8 Bl BEREBABAR
Nil to HK$2,000,000 £ 52,000,000 7T 9
HK$2,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 2,000,001 7T 5,000,000/ 7T 1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, Mr.
Zhao Xu Guang who also acts as Chairman of the committee and
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. To Wing Tim,
Paddy, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie and Dr. Wang Wei Hsin.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for review of the
composition of the Board in terms of board structure, size and
diversity, review of the board diversity policy, determination of the
policy for the nomination of Directors and identification of potential
candidates for directorship, recommendation to the Board on
the appointment, re-appointment, re-election or re-designation of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, assessment of the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and review
of the time commitment of each Director. The selection criteria and
procedures for the selection and nomination of Directors are set out
in the Nomination Policy, which is also published on the Company’s
website.

The attendance of Nomination Committee meetings during the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

Capacity and Name of Director
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INTEE  MRER R E R T EHEL -

REZEGRERTEZTSAERE ABK
REZT TR ZER REEEEKES
TEBR EERZEFERIVEELE
EANE REE BEHRE BEEAFHCTE
ERERZENTEIMESESEL RS &
EBUFFATEST 2B Ui EE
ENH KB -HAERESTTEENAR
PR R RAREFHIRAEE AT RARFHE
UAE R -

BE_ZT_=F=A=+—HIL+HEAAR"
REZBESERZHFEARHEIINMT

Nomination Committee
Meetings Attended/Held
and Eligible to Attend
REZESERLEERE
BOREREREERE

Chairman of Nomination Committee REZEEXE
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang HBXEE
Members &

Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MRERFI S A

Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy KR A

Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHRE L

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, among other things:

° reviewed the composition of the Board in terms of board
structure, size and diversity policy;

o reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

° reviewed the time commitment of each Director to discharge
their responsibilities as Director;

° reviewed the retirement by rotation requirement and nominated
the Directors for re-election; and

° reviewed the Group’s business plan and recommended to the
Board to appoint the Chairman of the Board to act as Chief
Executive Officer of the Company to ensure the business plan
can be effectively implemented.

1/1

11
11
1/1

REZEGRE (HEHER):

e BNEFSEREB AHLZ TR
RITEZHERK:
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A
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B R
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board undertakes the corporate governance function for the
Group with assistance of the Audit Committee, which (1) develops
and reviews the policies and practices on corporate governance of
the Group, (2) reviews and monitors legal and regulatory compliance
of the Group and (3) reviews the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, (4) reviews and
monitors the code of conduct applicable to employees and directors
and (5) reviews the issuer’s compliance with the code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledged that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The internal controls of the Group are designed
to provide reasonable assurance rather than elimination of the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. It is designed for assurance of the Group’s
assets and that Shareholders’ investments are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with the management’s authorisation, internal audit,
proper accounting records are maintained, and the relevant
legislation and regulations are being complied with.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The risk management and internal control framework of the
Group are developed and reviewed annually based on Integrated
Framework released by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (collectively the “COSO Framework”)
which includes the following procedures:

o identify risks of the Group’s and evaluate the level of the risks
and impacts on regular basis;

° report the high risks to the management to discuss the
approach and measures to manage those risks;

° implement the measures to manage the risks as management
advised;

° review regularly whether the measures have been implemented
and appropriate at current situation;

° review annually the whole risk management and internal control
practices;

o report the effectiveness of the measures and the risk
management and internal control systems;

° adjust the risks approach and measures if consider
appropriate; and

o monitor the risks on regular basis.
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For the scope limitation issue set out at the independent auditor
report, the management of the Company has followed the standard
procedures to collect and monitor the Receivables, including: (1)
timely monitoring the status of the Receivables by taking site visits;
(2) issuance of demand letters and legal letters from time to time;
(8) preparation for the litigation against Energy Technology if the
payment of Receivables has defaulted, if any; and (4) negotiation
about the repayment schedule of the Receivables. The Company
considers that the underlying causes of the scope limitation were not
caused by internal control deficiencies.

The Board considers the risk management and internal control
systems are effective and adequate for the Group as a whole.
The Board further considers that there was no issue relating to the
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Group.

Independent Assessment

To ensure the independent review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, the Group engaged
independent external professionals to perform annual review and
assessment of the risk management and internal control system
of the Group covering the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 to
ensure the compliance of relevant regulations and rules. The review
report was submitted to the Audit Committee.

Review of the Effectiveness

The Audit Committee reviewed the relevant report and considered
the Group’s risk management and internal control system based on
COSO Framework is adequate and the practice is effective that the
Group had complied with the provisions on risk management and
internal controls as set out in the CG Code.

AUDITOR’ S INDEPENDENCY AND REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the
independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the financial statements. The
Audit Committee were of the view that the Company’s auditor,
Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited is independent.

During the period, Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited had rendered
audit services and non-audit services to the Group. The non-audit
services mainly consist of review and other reporting services. The
remuneration paid/payable to it by the Group is set out as follows:

Service Rendered
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Fees Paid/Payable
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Audit Services EZARE 1,000,000
Non-Audit Services IEE LR 1,457,000
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2023 and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules and applicable regulatory and
law requirement. The Board, having made appropriate enquiries,
considers that the Company has adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future and that for this
reason, it is appropriate to adopt the “going concern” basis in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. The Statements
of the Auditor on its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 95 to 98 in this Annual Report.

GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The Company adopted a board diversity policy which set out the
objective and strategies to achieve diversity on the Board, taking
into consideration a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group in Hong Kong, including the Board and senior management
as at 31 March 2023:

EERMBBRRAAEZEE
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SE TR A BAR R 08 - WERILE A
RE RPN FELE | EREREGRAVHT
WMERAGHE ZHMREERETBHRERZ
RHREAMEL ZBAHERAFREBE
98B 2 BN R HAIFRE R

(E¥:Erld
ARBERAKEEBEAMERZ T A
RACHENETEXNEZTEEE HIEE
REEEXNEZTIENBERELRE ZEE
BETRRUS Fik XERHEES:
BEXRER e NBEARGEHREZES
H-BEFEMBEREHUARARES BRA-
TABFEHRTZEBREN REETDER
EEgRBEZTbMES - BAIREA SR
—RIZTABELEE BHRATRR
A Fi XERBEER Bk BEL
BoREE B MRBFEH TRIAIRNE
BAEEBT (BREZSASAEERE)
R-B_=F=A=+—H8MRLLH:

Female Male

z B

Board = 0.0% (0) 100.0% (9)
Senior Management SRERE 100.0% (1) 0.0% (0)
Other employees Ht{ES 30.0% (3) 70.0% (7)
Overall workforce BEST 20.0% (4) 80.0% (16)

Details on the gender ratio of the Group in Mainland China
together with relevant data can be found in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report on pages 63 to 94 of this Annual
Report. Currently, the Board consists of only male members.
Having reviewed the Board composition, the Board recognises the
importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board level and
shall continue to review the gender diversity of the Group from time
to time to ensure their appropriateness and take initiatives to identify
female candidate(s) to enhance the gender diversity among the
Board members.
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CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND CORPORATE
CULTURE

The Board defines the purpose, values and strategy of the Company
and considers that the Company’s corporate culture is aligned. The
Group is committed to investing in the industry of trading of coke,
washing of raw coal into refined coal and the sale of electricity
and heat generated as byproducts, and the processing of refined
coal, creating value for consumers, and to delivering attractive
and sustainable returns to the Shareholders. Despite the ever-
changing operating environment, the Group places strong emphasis
on workplace safety, employee relations and the efficient use of
materials, energy and resources, promoting a culture of ethical
conduct and integrity. A healthy corporate culture is important
to good corporate governance which is crucial for achieving
sustainable long-term success of the Group.

ESG-RELATED MATTERS

The Company adheres to improving internal sustainability
governance, strengthening the management and control of corporate
development’s impact on the environment and society, and creating
value for our stakeholders. The Board has overall responsibility for
the Company's ESG strategy and reporting, and oversees the overall
ESG governance of the Company. In particular, the Board conducts
a regular review of the Group’s ESG-related matters and considered,
among others, (i) the adequacy of resource, staff qualification and
experience, training programmes and budget of those relating to
Group’s ESG performance and reporting; (ii) the changes, since the
last annual review, in the nature and extent of significant ESG risks
(if any); and (iii) the scope and quality of management's ongoing
monitoring of ESG risks. For further details, please refer to the
Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report on page
63 to 94 of this Annual Report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Bye-Laws of the Company during the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2023. With effect from 1 January
2022, the Listing Rules have been amended which requires, among
others, listed issuers to adopt a uniform set of 14 “Core Standards”
for shareholder protections for issuers set out in Appendix 3 of the
Listing Rules. As such, the Board proposes to amend the existing
amended and restated bye-laws of (the “Existing Bye-laws”) of the
Company (the “Proposed Amendments”) and to adopt the second
amended and restated bye-laws (the “New Bye-laws”) of the
Company in substitution for and to the exclusion of the Existing Bye-
laws in order to (i) bring the relevant provisions of the Existing Bye-
laws in line with the amendments made to the Listing Rules and the
applicable laws and procedures of Bermuda; (ii) expressly permit
a general meeting of the Company to be held as, in addition to a
physical meeting, an electronic meeting or a hybrid meeting where
Shareholders may attend the general meeting remotely through
electronic means in addition to physical attendance in person; and
(iii) make other consequential and housekeeping changes.
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The Proposed Amendments and the adoption of the New Bye-laws
are subject to the approval of the Shareholders by way of a special
resolution at the forthcoming AGM, and will become effective upon
the approval by the Shareholders at the AGM.

The New Bye-laws will be published on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders are entitled to exercise certain rights pursuant to the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Bye-Laws of the Company and
the CG Code under the Listing Rules.

Convene Special General Meeting

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and Bye-laws of the
Company, on requisition of Shareholders holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition (the “Request Submission Date”) not less
than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the Request
Submission Date carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company, Directors shall proceed duly to convene a special
general meeting of the Company (a “SGM”).

The requisition, may consist of several documents in like form each
signed by one or more Shareholders, must (1) state the purposes of
the SGM, (2) be signed by the Shareholders and (3) deposited at the
registered office of the Company for attention of Company Secretary.
Such requisitions will be subject to verification by the Company’s
Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, and upon its confirmation
that the requisition is in order, the Company Secretary shall inform
the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all
Shareholders under the Bye-Laws. If requisition be verified as not in
order, Shareholder(s) will be notified of such results and accordingly,
a SGM will not be convened as requested.

If Directors do not within 21 days from the Request Submission
Date proceed duly to convene a meeting, the Shareholders or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a SGM, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from
the Request Submission Date. A SGM convened on requisition of
Shareholders shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by Directors.
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Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any number
of Shareholders holding not less than 5% of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company, or not less than 100 Shareholders, can request the
Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of
any general meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the requisitionists, or two or more copies
which between them contain the signatures of all the requisitionists,
must be deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong with deposited or tendered with the requisition a sum
reasonably sufficient to meet the company’s expenses in giving effect
thereto (i) in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not
less than 6 weeks before the meeting or (ii) in the case of any other
requisition, not less than one week before the meeting. Provided that
if after a copy of the requisition requiring notice of a resolution has
been deposited at the principal office of the Company, an AGM is
called for a date within 6 weeks or less after the requisition has been
deposited, such requisition though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of continuing communications
with Shareholders and strives to ensure timeliness, completeness
and accuracy of information disclosure to Shareholders and to
protect the interests of Shareholders.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy
and reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. As
a channel to further promote effective communication, the Group
maintains a website allowing Shareholders to access updates on
the Company's particulars where the Company’s announcements,
financial information, shareholders’ communication policy and other
information are posted.

The Board maintains an on-going dialogue with Shareholders
through general meeting of the Company to communicate with
Shareholders. The chairman of the Board, the representative of each
committee and the external auditor attend the general meeting to
answer any questions from Shareholders.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website, www.huscoke.com, where information and updates on
the Company’s business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access.

The relevant part of the shareholders’ communication policy
was reviewed during the year. The channels for Shareholders
to communicate their views on various matters affecting the
Company and the steps to solicit and understand the views of
Shareholders and stakeholders were considered to be sufficient.
The implementation of the policy and the communication with
Shareholders were effective.

Shareholders Enquires and Investor Relations

Shareholders are welcome to make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

For enquiries about your shareholdings on the Company, registered
Shareholders may at any time direct contact the Hong Kong Branch
Share Registrar of the Company:

Tricor Secretaries Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Telephone: 2980 1333

E-mail: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

For any other enquiries, Shareholders may at any time send
enquiries to the Company:

Investor Relations
Huscoke Holdings Limited
Room 2301, 23rd Floor
Tower One, Lippo Centre
89 Queensway, Admiralty
Hong Kong

Telephone: 2861 0704
E-mail: ir@huscoke.com
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE HERERBSE

SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the ESG report by Huscoke Holdings Limited (the “Group”),
highlighting its Environmental, Social, and Governance (the “ESG")
performance, with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting
Guide as described in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules and
Guidance set out by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

This ESG report covers the Group’s overall performance in two
subject areas, namely, Environmental and Social of the business
operations in Mainland China. The exact coverage is the 666,670 m?
of plant area, which include the power plant, the heating plant, the
material plants, and other facilities in Xiaoyi, Shanxi Province from
1 January 2022 to 31 March 2023 (the “Reporting Period”), unless
otherwise stated.

As mentioned in the 2021 ESG Report, the Group has complied with
government request and ceased operations of the coking plant as
of October 2021. Furthermore, the Group has also complied with
government request and ceased operations of the heating plant as
of March 2022, and of the power plant as of June 2022.

The Group plans to resume operations of the coking plant in the
following reporting period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 (the
“Following Reporting Period”).

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” set out in Appendix 27 to
the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange (the “Guide”). The contents
covered herein are in compliance with the mandatory disclosure
requirement and the provision of “Comply or Explain” as well as
four reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency required in the Guide.

Materiality — Materiality assessments have been carried out to identify
material environmental and social issues that have major impacts
on investors and other stakeholders, the significant stakeholders,
procedures, and results of the engagement of which are presented
in the section “Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality” in this ESG
Report.

Quantitative — Key performance indicators (“KPIs”) have been
established, and are measurable and applicable to make valid
comparisons under appropriate conditions; information on the
standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation
tools used, and sources of conversion factors used, have been
disclosed when applicable. Unless otherwise specified, standards,
methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used, and
sources of conversion factors used are pursuant to Appendix 2 and
Appendix 3 of “How to Prepare an ESG Report” as set out by Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.
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Balance — This ESG Report presents the Group’s performance during
the Reporting Period in an impartial manner, avoiding selections,
omissions or presentation formats that may unduly influence readers’
decisions or judgements.

Consistency — Consistent statistical methodologies and presentation
of KPIs have been used to allow meaningful comparisons of related
data over time.

THE CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of the Group, | am pleased to present to you the ESG Report of the
Group for the Reporting Period.

The Group is committed to continuing its implementation of ESG-
related policies, adhering to the standard requirements of efficient
resource utilization and clean production process, and constantly
innovating and breaking through with environmental management
technologies.

Looking forward, the Group plans to open up the comprehensive
utilization of hydrogen energy through coke oven gas emitted from
coke production to transition into the field of clean energy, further
integrate its upstream and downstream operations, and build a
green and low-carbon enterprise.

THE GROUP’S SUSTAINABILITY MISSION AND VISION

The overall sustainability commitment of the Group reinforces the
concept of creating an “ecological Shanxi” promoted by the central,
regional, and local government. The Group's business value and
management approaches focus on serving people, homeland and
society. The Group aims to become fully vertical integrated along the
coal industry supply chain, from downstream trading to midstream
processing and upstream ancillary businesses.

During the Reporting Period, key challenges identified by the Group
included meeting more stringent environmental standards set by the
local government. Correspondingly, the Group continues to invest
in upgrading environmental protection facilities, and has ceased
operations of all facilities that do not meet government regulations.
The Group continues to focus on reducing emissions and resource
consumption through the adoption of cleaner production facilities,
recycling all wastewater, recycling and reusing by-products either
on-site or to downstream processors to the maximum extent.
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The Group also values its employees greatly. The Group constantly
reviews employee salaries and makes adjustments based on market
research, as well as providing employees with extensive benefits
such as free dormitory arrangements and free gym amenities. While
the Group has temporarily ceased coking-related operations during
the Reporting Period, the Group has retained most of its employees
and will be allowing them to resume work once production capacity
has been restored in the Following Reporting Period.

The Group aims to keep close communication with its stakeholders
for advancing economic benefits while improving ESG performance
and managing ESG-related risks, and to be prepared for future
business development and challenges.

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining
the Group’s ESG-related risks, and ensuring that appropriate and
effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in
place. Furthermore, the Board places heavy emphasis on managing
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions from its operations, and is
focused on actively responding to challenges arising from climate
change.

Accordingly, the Board has set up an ESG task force team to assess
and manage ESG-related and climate change issues during the
Reporting Period. The ESG task force team is in charge of monitoring
emissions indicators, overseeing the implementation of ESG policies
across the Group’s operations, and reporting any potential ESG
issues to the Board.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY

The Group values feedback and opinions of its stakeholders as
they are all indispensable to the business. Thus, key internal and
external stakeholders such as board members, senior management,
shareholders, frontline employees, third-party professionals,
suppliers, customers, and regulators have been engaged such
that their needs and concerns can be better understood. Such
engagement had been conducted via various channels, one of
which was through survey distribution.

By carrying out the stakeholder engagement survey, the most
concerned ESG aspects among the stakeholders were identified.
Results show that the most material issues were on environmental
aspects. Social aspects, on the other hand, were considered less
material for the Group. This finding closely aligns with the business
nature of the Group. The following matrix shows the materiality
assessment of the stakeholder engagement.
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According to the materiality matrix, the five most material topics to
the Group’s stakeholders and its operations are:

o Environmental Protection Measures
o Air Emissions

o Waste and Effluent

o Energy

o Occupational Health and Safety

The Group strictly complies with the statutory requirements in respect
of the identified material aspects. Corresponding management
practices and policies are being formulated and/or implemented
following the identification of these issues. The Group will continue
to improve its ESG management and performance by actively
communicating with its stakeholders and constantly improving its
internal policies.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach
and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your views
via email at ir@huscoke.com.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL
The Group stringently complies with national and local laws
and regulations concerning environmental protection and
pollution control, including but not limited to the following:

° Environmental Protection Law of the PRC;

. Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution;

o Cleaner Production Promotion Law;

° Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC:

° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste;

° Environmental Protection Tax Law of the PRC.
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Top-down, policy-driven, and performance-based
environmental protection activities have been reinforced
during this Reporting Period. This is because the local
government has issued several new policies to further improve
environmental performance in the city with a special focus on
improving performance from coal industry. Some of the policies
include:

° Document No. 39 [2019]: Notice on Shanxi’s Blue-Sky
Protection 2019 Action Plan;

° Regulation of Shanxi on Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution;

o Permit on Effluent Management Policy (Trial), etc.

Notwithstanding the tightening requirements, the Group
considers Reporting Period as an outstanding period for
keeping up with high emission standards and maintaining
excellence in implementing environmental protection projects.

There was no non-compliance with the above-mentioned laws
and regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste during the Reporting Period.
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A1l.

Emissions

1.1 Air Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operations
in Xiaoyi, China accounts for its major sources of air
emissions, which include nitrogen oxides (“NO,”), sulphur
oxides (“S0,”) and particulate matter (“PM”).

Table 1 Annual air emissions

Al HERK

1.1 AmHH
REEBRA - AEERBHERFE
EETWEEEENEERR

Hmas EerRAfty ([&
giwl) = ([|ELwHE])
KFEny ([Ea)l) -

XK1 FREARIME

2022/23 2021
amount (kg)Vere ! amount (kg)

—Bg2-—/
SZEHE —2--FHE
Type of Air Emission RRBEHER (R fr)me (AF)
NO, Note2 "G yrez 131,851.90 134,739.20"
SO, Note2 =R ATk 121,453.61 69,082.23'
PIM Note 2 58 Ry Yy ez 18,166.00 19,038.45

Note 1: 2022/23 figures cover 15 months of environmental
data.

Note 2:  Emission factors for calculations on environmental
parameters throughout this report were disclosed
pursuant to Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing
Rules and documentation referred thereto, unless
stated otherwise.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a 2.14%
decrease in NO, generation, a 75.81% increase in SO,
generation, and a 4.58% decrease in PM generation
from the Previous Reporting Period. Such emissions were
mainly contributed by the Group’s electricity and heat
production processes, the rest of which was produced by
its own mobile vehicles, which included passenger cars,
heavy goods trucks, and other mobile machinery.

The intensity of air emissions by the Group was 0.20
kg of NO,, 0.18 kg of SO,, and 0.03 kg of PM per m? of
total area of the Group's operations. Since the Group
did not produce any coke during the Reporting Period,
production intensity data is not available.

z The 2021 amounts for NO, and SO, emissions were erroneously
swapped in the 2021 ESG Report; Please refer to the 2022/23 ESG
Report for the correct 2021 air emissions figures.
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12

During the Reporting Year, all emissions were below
the permissible level set by the applicable national
standards, including but not limited to:

° GB16171-2012 Emission Standard of Pollutants for
Coking Chemical Industry;

° GB13271-2014 Emission Standard of Air Pollutants
for Boilers;

° All standards listed on the Emission Standard of Air
Pollutants for Coal-fired Power Plants.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

Scope 1 GHG emissions were generated directly from
the consumption of coal for stationary combustion and
fuel for mobile combustion. Scope 2 energy indirect
GHG emissions were generated by the Group from the
purchase of electricity from June 2022 onwards. Other
sources of indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions included
use of municipal freshwater, sewage processing, and
paper waste disposed at landfills.

During the Reporting Period, 267,721.61 tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO,e”) GHG (mainly carbon
dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide) were emitted
from the Group’s operation. 97.59% of greenhouse gas
emissions were contributed by the boilers for power
generation and heat generation. Compared to the
Previous Reporting Period, the amount of greenhouse
gas emitted had decreased by 52.68%, which was
mainly due to the cease in heating plant and power plant
operations. As coking plant operations shall be resuming
in the Following Reporting Period, the Group expects
to see an increase in GHG emissions for the Following
Reporting Period.

Since coking plant operations had ceased during the
Previous Reporting Period, and heating plant and power
plant operations had ceased during the Reporting
Period, emissions intensity comparisons with the Previous
Reporting Period are not meaningful. Nevertheless,
emissions intensity figures are presented in the table
below.
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Table 2 Annual GHG emissions

X2 FREMEREHINE

Scope and 2022/23 GHG 2021 GHG
Operation of Emissions Emission Sources Emissions Emissions
—E2-=/ —E--F
—=FRE BERE
ERYEERRE BERRIR REHHE HHE
(tCO,e)More 1 (tCO.e)
(&M QR 74
Scope 1 Direct Emission #/E15 E# 267,587.97 565,606.40
Combustion of petrol in mobile sources "2 283.38 417.27
T BN A )5 m MR g
Combustion of diesel in mobile sources "2 250.73 527.40
T2 BN IR ) 5 HR g 2
Coking Plant 0.00 46,375.81
X
Coal-Fired Power Generation Plant 130,117.06 319,179.09
Coal-Fired Heat Generation Plant 136,948.05 199,118.08
Assimilation of Carbon Dioxide through
Tree Planting "o 3 -11.25 -11.25
BBEBR Y = E b aRrE
Scope 2 Energy Indirect Emission #5E1255 7 B4 i 5,949.93 0.00
Purchased electricity 5,949.93 0.00
BE
Scope 3 Other Indirect emission & E3E B #EH#H 133.64 38.722
Electricity Used for Processing Fresh Water %2 0.00 0.00?
BRIERKA T
Electricity Used for Processing Sewage "2 128.85 32.24
FRIB 5K A E#
Paper disposed at landfills "2 4.79 6.48
AR 35 I R A2
Total 45t 273,671.54 565,645.122
Area Intensity (kgCOe/n? total area) 410.51 848.46
ARZE (AF=SItREE FrrEAE)
Employee Intensity (tCOe/Group employee) 1,629.00 2,226.95
EIZE (W-SIHEE %£B5T)
Coke Production Intensity
(kgCO e/tonne of coke produced) N/A REH 2,166.21°
EREEEE (AT-SILKEE WEX)
Electricity Generation Intensity
(kgCO./MWh of electricity generated) 4,354.61 4,389.41°
REFE (AT-—GIHEE KRKHES)
Heat Generation Intensity
(kgCO.£/GJ of heat generated) 175.01 186.81°

RUBE (AT-EKER EHREAE)
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Note 1. 2022/23 figures cover 15 months of environmental

data, from 1 January 2022 to 30 March 2023.

Note 2:  Emission factors were made reference to Appendix

27 of the Main Board Listing Rules and their referred
documentation as set out by Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited, unless stated otherwise. Scope 3
emissions were only calculated based on the available
emission factors from the referred documentation.

Note 3:  Removal factor of CO, per tree planted was 23, with

reference made to Appendix 27 of the Main Board
Listing Rules and their referred documentation as set
out by Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.

Since the Group uses groundwater for its operations, there
is no electricity used for processing fresh water.

The following figures have been revised as such:

2021 Scope 3 Other Indirect Emissions — Previous Figure
(704.27 tCO.e), Revised Figure (38.72 tCO.e),

2021 Electricity Used for Processing Fresh Water —
Previous Figure (665.55 tCO.e), Revised Figure (0.00
1COL);

2021 Total Emissions — Previous Figure (566,310.67
tCOe), Revised Figure (565,645.12 tCO.e),

2021 Coke Production Intensity — Previous Figure
(2,168.76 kgCO.e), Revised Figure (2,166.21 kgCO.e);

2021 Electricity Generation Intensity — Previous Figure
(4,394.57 kgCO.e), Revised Figure (4,389.41 kgCO.e),
and

2021 Heat Generation Intensity — Previous Figure (187.03
kgCO.e), Revised Figure (186.81 kgCO_e).
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Figure 1 CO, Emission Contributed by Each Plant by Year 1 IEERE T &R E LA — &
LR E

CO.EMISSION FOR DIFFERENT PLANTS BY YEAR
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1.3

Measures to Mitigate Emissions

To minimise its impacts on the environment and human
health, the Group performs tests to figure out the value of
certain substances from the beginning of the production
process to better control the treatment for them. For
example, the Group measures and records the amount
of SO, in clean coal before they start using them. In later
stages, these substances are also treated by respective
facilities before being emitted into the air. These
procedures give the Group a better grasp of its sources
of emissions, the contribution of emissions at different
stages of production, and how much emission each of
those sources contribute to. The Group has continued
to invest in new facilities, and these measures shall also
be implemented in the coking plant which is planned to
begin operations in the Following Reporting Period.

In addition, the Group had completed its rainwater
collection pond installation in 2021. The pond collects the
first batch of rainwater that has hit the ground in order to
minimise the chance of industrial pollutants being carried
into the city’s pipes or surface water, thereby minimising
the burden and pollution brought to the sewage system
or river.

Aside from managing and controlling emissions of
unwanted substances, these substances are also
regularly sampled, closely monitored, and updated on-
site and online to ensure all emissions are following the
requirements. In-house training on the proper use and
maintenance of equipment has also been provided by
the environmental service provider (see Section B3). To
take an active role in mitigating emissions, the Group has
planted various types of plants in the past, 489 of which
exceeded a height of 5 meters. In total, these 489 trees
helped offset a total of approximately 11 tonnes of CO..
With the Group’s effort, strict requirements set by the local
government had all been met by the operations during
the Reporting Year.

Due to major operational changes to the Reporting
Scope during the Reporting Period, as well as planned
major operational changes to the Reporting Scope for
the Following Reporting Period, the baseline year for
reduction target of overall emissions intensity shall be
reset to the Following Reporting Period. The original
target of 10% reduction in 10 years may also be
reevaluated in the Following Reporting Period.
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15

Hazardous Waste and Waste Reduction Initiatives

Due to the cessation of coking plant operations during
the Previous Reporting Period, the Group did not
generate any significant amounts of hazardous waste
during the Reporting Period as coke production has not
yet resumed.

However, since coking plant operations are planned to
be restored in the Following Reporting Period, the Group
expects to record the generation of hazardous waste for
the Following Reporting Period.

Hazardous waste is usually collected and treated by
external parties, which include municipal hazardous
waste treatment plants, or appointed recyclers. As for
chemicals, to avoid pollution to the environment and
increase effort in cleaner production, waste products,
such as liquified natural gas, are recycled by downstream
factories to extract and reproduce chemicals like,
synthetic ammonia, urea, and ethylene glycol. These will
then be used again by the coal industry.

Due to major operational changes to the Reporting
Scope during the Reporting Period, as well as planned
major operational changes to the Reporting Scope for
the Following Reporting Period, the baseline year for
reduction target of overall hazardous waste generation
intensity shall be reset to the Following Reporting Period.
The original target of 30% reduction in 10 years may also
be reevaluated in the Following Reporting Period.

Non-hazardous Waste and Waste Reduction Initiatives

The Group generated a total of 127,176 tonnes of non-
hazardous waste from production processes during the
Reporting Period, which represents a 48.37% decrease
from the Previous Reporting Period. Since the Group
did not produce any coke during the Reporting Period,
production intensity data is not available.

The significant change in the total amount of non-
hazardous waste generated is mainly due to the cease
in heating plant and power plant operations during the
Reporting Period. However, since coking plant operations
are planned to be restored in the Following Reporting
Period, the generation of non-hazardous waste should
still be recorded for the Following Reporting Period.
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The Group also generated a small amount of organic
waste, composed mainly of food waste. These leftover
food from the canteen are sent to nearby farms for
animal feeding, or to appointed sections to make organic
fertilizers for office gardening. Since the amount of
organic waste generated was insignificant, the Group

had not kept records of the exact amount generated.

Table 3 Annual non-hazardous waste generation and
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AEETELELEGHEY =
ERNBRRY -ZEHBHRY
RREZXIMONERGIERD
WERAEL X B3 TE RO RBFI R
REFEREERIE - AREL
L ERWEY  BRE B
GHRIELHE-

K3 FREZENELEREIE

treatment methods T oE
2022/23 Annual 2021
waste amount  Annual waste
(in tonnes) amount
Non-hazardous waste ol (in tonnes)  Waste treatment method
—E=-=/
=% —E-—F
ZEE ZEE
BYHE BYHE
EEEY ( LAm# ) mre (LMEE) BYEESE
Fly ash 56,044 108,359  Sent to building materials
R EE R @M
Boiler slag 71,132 137,533  manufacturers for recovery
wE B 3% 7 [0 W
Activated coal 0 450  Mixed with refined coal for coking
SEE R EREER S RE

Note 1: 2022/23 figures cover 15 months of environmental
data, from 1 January 2022 to 30 March 2023.

Fly ash and boiler slag are hard to reduce in amount as
they are inevitable by-products of the Group’s operations.
The Group can only handle them responsibly by sending
them to any recyclers who may make use of them or
waste collectors to reduce stress to the environment.

Due to major operational changes to the Reporting
Scope during the Reporting Period, as well as planned
major operational changes to the Reporting Scope
for the Following Reporting Period, the baseline year
for reduction target of overall non-hazardous waste
generation intensity shall be reset to the Following
Reporting Period. The original target of 5% reduction
in 10 years may also be reevaluated in the Following
Reporting Period.
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A2. Use of Resources

A2. ERER

2.1 Energy Consumption and Use Efficiency Initiatives

During the Reporting Year, a total of 42,758,016.09
Kilowatt-hour (“kWh") of energy was used by the Group.
In addition, 31,565,296 kWh of electricity was generated
and supplied to 8 neighbouring companies, and
426,388.889 kWh of steam was generated and supplied
to houses covering 30% of Xiaoyi's area.

Since the Group did not produce any coke during
the Reporting Period, production intensity data is not
available.

Of all energy consumed, 78.34% was contributed by
electricity (combining self-produced and purchased)
and 15.09% contributed by steam generated by coal
from its power and heating plants. A further 2.98% was
contributed by the burning of coal in power and heating
plants. Finally, 1.81% and 1.78% was contributed by its

2.1 BEFBEHERFBHEERE

RFEEFE - AEBFEHAAE
42 758,016.09 F B & ([ F
FE])MEEIR -t E4E
31,565,296 F K FF & 7 I 4t
EFNRBEHRAR] RELE
426,388.889F F B 2% /5 M fE
TEEZEMEBI0%HEN S
Eo

HRAKRERN RS AL EE
ETMER REAEGEER
B8R -

FEHERNMARIRT @ 78.34%
KEZEHE(BEBRE)  15.09%
R 5 H B E 2R RO R E
HEHE T BIN2.98% K BT
R RN TR TR B R R R I e FR 1R
1.81%M1.78%% 5l 2k B H # &)

diesel and petrol usage in mobile vehicles respectively. BHIpMER R TRAE -
Table 4 Annual Energy Use *4 DFREREH
2022/23 2022/23 2021
Consumption  Consumption 2021 Consumption
Note 1 (kWh)¥ete7 Consumption (kWh)
—E-C
—Eg--/== ZZEHE —E--F —E--&
Energy Usage BEREH g ena (FRE) HE  EE(TEH)
Coke Oven Gas THER om? 0 60,841,502 m? 293,281,390
VAR AR
Electricity (Self-Produced) Eh (BE) 31,281,043 kWh 31,281,043 83,255,944 kWh 83,255,944
TRE FRE
Electricity (Purchased) EN(BE) 10,240,841 kWh 10,240,841 0 kWh 0
TRE FRE
Steam #N 28,791 GJHEE 7,997,500 47,985 GJEEE 13,329,167
Cleaned Coal e 215,552 kgA [T 1,577,364 416,767 kg AT 2,420,488
Diesel 5 106,538 litres’A F 957,956 201,447 litres A F 2,014,089
Petrol b 95,814 litres’ A F 944,153 156,873 litres’ A 1,390,228
Total Fohy 52,998,857 395,691,306
Note: Conversion factors were made reference to IEA Energy Wit: BHREEGZEZERERE
Statistics Manual, 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National BERGE FM —FEENEFE
Greenhouse Gas Inventories, and 2020 China Energy BHTRIREZE S 2R
Statistical Yearbook. R E R EEE B IR R A B g
JRAEF 52020 -
Note 1: 2022/23 figures cover 15 months of environmental data, Wit RZFEZ—F—H—HZ =

from 1 January 2022 to 30 March 2023.

FE-=F=ZH=+H =F
= FmMEFTIRES
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Table 5 Distribution of Electricity Used x5 EEH
2022/23 2021
Consumption Consumption
(KWh) Mote 7 (kWh)

—E—-=

“=FHHE —EB-—F
Electricity Usage BEhHEA (FERE)## SHFE (TRE)
Heating plant = 15,114,660 23,125,736
Power plant BB 14,458,717 33,751,428
Office WAE 11,618,806 3,353,190
Gas Station sk 170,305 2,047,190
Coal washing plant FE AR R 133,906 678,610
Coking plant =[] 25,490 20,254,090
Transportation E 0 45,700
Total F 41,521,884 83,255,944

Note 1: 2022/23 figures cover 15 months of environmental
data, from 1 January 2022 to 30 March 2023.

The Group continues to upgrade its equipment for
increasing energy efficiency. Due to the combustion
processes in boilers, heat recovery technology has
been considered as one of the best energy efficient
technologies to be adopted. Hence, the Group uses
waste heat boilers that ensures a temperature reduction
of waste flue gas below 150 Degrees Celsius and
makes full utilisation of the waste heat from the flue
gas. Variable-frequency drives were adopted to replace
traditional electric machines for its high energy efficiency
and flexibility in changing speeds.

Due to major operational changes to the Reporting
Scope during the Reporting Period, as well as planned
major operational changes to the Reporting Scope for
the Following Reporting Period, the baseline year for
reduction target of overall energy consumption intensity
shall be reset to the Following Reporting Period. The
original target of 10% reduction in 10 years may also be
reevaluated in the Following Reporting Period.
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2.2 Water Consumption and Use Efficiency Initiatives 22 HAREAHUFLERE

The total water consumption for the Group was
613,573 m3, which represents a 60.54% decrease from
the Previous Reporting Period. Since the Group did
not produce any coke during the Reporting Period,
production intensity data is not available.

The significant decrease in total water consumption
is due to the cease in heating plant and power plant
operations during the Reporting Period. However, since
coking plant operations are planned to be restored in the
Following Reporting Period, water consumption should
still be recorded for the Following Reporting Period.

Water was sourced from underground and no issues
on sourcing water were reported during the Reporting
Period. Since the Group has continued to purchase 100%
of its coal consumed, the coal washing plant remains
unused during the Reporting Period.

NEEMBKLEE R613,5733L
KR E—EREHRD
60.54% © F P AN & [ 7 R 5 R
WEEEEMAER WEEES
EEREEE-

RKBERERDTIBHREE
HA R 15 2R R B 3 B A
A BRERICRE B8R T — 3]
SHRIKESE  Ft )RR
TR EHEOHRKRE-

REEHA KRB NKR
3 48 g 5 SREUKIR 77 T8 HY9 ) 78 o
RBERAR AR AEREFER
BHERMMA KK # N EE
FAJURE IR

Table 6 Annual water consumption *6 FREHLKE
2022/23 2021
Consumption Consumption
(ma) Note 1 (mS)

—E-=

—=FHR —E-—F
Water consumption BAkE (3L7F3K)meEr SHFE (LK)
Heating plant R R 359,673 746,748
Power plant £ 253,900 470,307
Coking plant =X (471 0 337,966

Note 1: 2022/23 figures cover 15 months of environmental
data, from 1 January 2022 to 30 March 2023.

The Group continuously conserves water resources
and recycles water whenever possible. Wastewater
was concentrated, filtered, and monitored to ensure
their parameters (e.g., pH, suspended solids, total
phosphorus, total nitrogen, volatile Phenol, polyaromatic
hydrocarbon (PAH), benzene, BOD, COD,,) were within
permissible level set by GB16171-2012 Emission
Standard of Pollutants for Coking Chemical Industry,
before they could be sent for consumption by the second
time for processes such as coking, coal quenching,
chemicals treatment, and biochemical sewage treatment.
They will finally be completely absorbed or used up,
thus, not discharged. The new rain-water collection pond
project has also further saved water resources since its
construction.

Wit1: RZFBZ—F—-—H—HF=
E-_ZF=-Z/H=+H =—F
gy 5 0F - & 3V -3 1)
18] A #5245 B %

NEBBESGHOKERLRES
fEIR AK e KM E AT A BEAKETT
TEFR - BRENEMN BEREZ
H(pH - BFER B8 8
REED 2 PAH) - & -
L EEEBOD) LEFAE
(COD«) ) ¥ £ GB16171-2012
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2.3

Due to major operational changes to the Reporting
Scope during the Reporting Period, as well as planned
major operational changes to the Reporting Scope for
the Following Reporting Period, the baseline year for
reduction target of overall water consumption intensity
shall be reset to the Following Reporting Period. The
original target of 10% reduction in 10 years may also be
reevaluated in the Following Reporting Period.

Coal Consumption and Use Efficiency

Coal is a key resource of the Group as it is the most
important raw material for the Group’s main business,
coking. While the Group has yet to resume coking plant
operations during the Reporting Period, the Group still
purchased and consumed coal for its heating plant and
power plant operations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group purchased and
consumed 215,552 tonnes of coal, a 72.60% decrease
from the Previous Reporting Period. The reason for the
significant decrease in coal consumption is due to the
closure of the heating plant from March 2022 onwards,
and the power plant from June 2022 onwards.

However, since coking plant operations are planned to
be restored in the Following Reporting Period, the Group
expects to continue recording coal consumption for the
Following Reporting Period.

Continuing its practice from the previous reporting
period, the Group no longer washes its own raw coal and
has switched to purchasing all clean coal from external
parties, as such the coal washing plant remains unused
during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, excess electricity was sold
to 3 nearby enterprises, whereas steam was distributed to
houses of Xiaoyi for heating purposes, providing heating
coverage for approximately 30% of Xiaoyi's area, which is
around 4.1 million m? of land area combined.

The usage of coal therefore shows that the resource is
used to its fullest capacity, and not limited only to those of
the highest quality. The Group will keep an effort in using
all coal materials and residue to their fullest potential.
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2.4 Packaging Material

A3.

3.1

A4d.

The Group’s operation does not involve any significant
use of packaging materials.

The Environment and Natural Resources
Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment

Following the issuing of several major policies by local
government, the Group has formulated and implemented
various controlling schemes to control its impacts on
the environment, such as dust, air, fugitive, and volatile
organic compounds emissions, and water discharge. The
Group aims to achieve cleaner production by monitoring
the waste or emission that would be generated from raw
materials till the end product.

Besides emission and discharges, the Group’s use
of ground water and pollution may also put a risk on
surrounding lands in terms of soil condition caused by
reduction in humidity. Hence, the Group had grown some
hundreds of trees around the site to reduce the further
loss of ground water and prevent soil erosion. The Group
will continue to monitor its air emission, solid waste
generation, wastewater discharge, and noise level to
ensure minimal impacts on the surrounding environment.

Climate Change

A4.1 Significant Climate-Related Issues

Climate change poses a huge threat to all businesses,
and that of the Group’s is not an exception. In response
to the global and national call to have carbon emissions
peak before 2030 and achieve carbon neutrality before
2050 or 2060, the Group acknowledges the significance
of addressing climate change in order to be more
responsive to potential climate-related consequences.
Subsequently, the Group has started to take into
account the recommendations of Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) to enhance the
governance processes and integrate the consideration
of the climate-related risks and opportunities into our risk
assessment.
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The Group understands the risks and threats posed REETHRIEEZ/AE R R

by climate change. The Group is aware of various
carbon reduction targets that have been established by
respective countries, and anticipates that more stringent
policies will be implemented, which exposes the Group’s
business to policy and regulation risks. Accordingly, the
Group has identified relevant climate-related risks and
assessed their potential financial impacts. The climate
risks identified, their time horizon, trend, and the potential

BMEE AKRETRISEE
B E S REWORYE B 1R TR
EmEBEMNBE MEKS

5 B /9 X 15 H e BUR & B2 B R
BeRF NEEDBBER
BB R - I 2 AP A EY
B & -2 B R AR B R -
FEHE - BE REAEENE

financial impacts affecting the Group are shown below: e EMT
Table 7 Summary of Climate Risks X7 TR R Z
Climate risks Time horizon Trend Potential financial impact
RIZRER B &5 B BENBEE
Acute Short term Increase Extreme weather events with increased severity during
2 5 H iabay cyclones, hurricanes, storm surges and floods can
cause supply chain interruption by bringing damage
to local infrastructure, potential damage to offices and
% disruption to human resources.
x & IR B - BRI RS SRR B R R E AR
) EREHEN THOREE ARSI UHATSE
D BOBEWE  WEELANER SERMEEEPE -
3 Chronic Long term Increase Longer-term shifts in climate patterns can increase
=gis ~H A capital costs, operating costs, costs of human resources
and increased insurance premium.
RIRRABEERPECASEME R LR A
NERKARRRE -
Technology Long term Increase During the transitional period, the Group expects
i ~H 7 increased procurement expenditures to introduce new
and alternative technologies, and the additional cost of
adopting/deploying new practices and processes.
FHEE BARE - AN E TR A S 18 N ER BB 5 s - 5| AR R
R BT - SWREIME IR EE T E B R AR T K
PN
Policy and Short to Increase Implementation of tightened environmental laws,
Legal medium abay stringent requirements on climate disclosures and
BE RERE term carbon pricing system increases operating costs.
e PSR BB EORREAR RIERENRRERRIREEE
2 & RIEMGEA -
.5 Ej( Market Short term Increase During the transitional period, the Group might face
S % M5 %2 HA EF a decrease in revenue due to higher environmental
E requirements of clients, if no strategy has been set
= accordingly.
BB BARE - e 30 MR I E AR FE SRR - AR B R gET R
T B = O BRIR B SR E ER AR A
Reputation Short to Increase Stakeholders’ concerns on climate-related issues of
Ba medium 7 the Group might dampen the investment sentiment
term of investors, impacting the stock price and market
AR ER capitalisation of the Group, and hence increasing the
liquidity risk.
M THAEERGEANENEENSITERE
ENREEL FEREENRELTE EMEINR
Bt @B o
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A4.1. Significant Climate-Related Issues

The Group recognises that extreme weather events may
negatively impact daily operations and has accordingly
prepared contingency plans for these situations. In cases
of extreme weather such as typhoons or heavy rain, the
Board shall execute procedures to resume production
and maintain operations as soon as possible.

However, the Group views climate change not only as
a risk to mitigate, but also an opportunity for the Group
to transition into a low-carbon enterprise. Upon request
from the Shanxi local government, the Group has
ceased operations of its original coking plant in October
2021 as part of efforts to improve air quality within the
Shanxi province. The Group has used this opportunity
to purchase new coke production ovens that utilise
cleaner hydrogen energy and more efficient technology,
which is expected to begin operations in the Following
Reporting Period. This shall allow the Group to expand its
production scale while also lowering its carbon emissions
intensity.

B. SOCIAL

ik

B1

Employment and labour practices
Employment

The Group stringently complies with national and local
laws and regulations concerning employment and labour
practices, including but not limited to the followings,

° Labour Law of the PRC;

Labour Contract Law of the PRC;
o Regulation on Paid Annual Leave for Employees;
o Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour.

No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare had
been identified during the Reporting Period.

Employment and Turnover Figures

As of 30 March 20232, there was a total of 168 employees
working in the Mainland operations of the Group. All
employees of the Group worked full time and were
located in Mainland China. The workforce consisted
mainly of male and people of the age 36-55. See the
table below for the detailed distribution.
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Table 8 Employment Figures

X8 B2 E

30 March 2023 31 December 2021
Z2-=fZHA=+H ZB2--54+ZfA=+-H
Number of Employment Number of Employment
Employees  Percentage Employees  Percentage
BERRASRN
Total Workforce as of BET#Y EEHE (EEEIT EEYE (EEEIHL
Employment Type EREE
Full Time 28 168 100.00% 254 100.00%
Part Time FB 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
Employee Category EEES
Senior Management aRERE 3 1.79% 3 1.18%
Middle Management RRERERE 27 16.07% 30 11.81%
Frontline and Other Staff AR EMET 138 82.14% 221 87.01%
Age Group FgAE
18-25 18-25 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
26-35 26-35 19 11.31% 50 19.69%
36-45 36-45 70 41.67% 92 36.22%
46-55 46-55 57 33.93% 82 32.28%
56 or above 5653 A - 22 13.10% 30 11.81%
Gender 37
Male i 137 81.55% 183 72.05%
Female geg i3 31 18.45% 71 27.95%
Geographical Region HWENVE
Mainland China HE A 168 100.0% 254 100.00%
3 The cutoff date of 30 March 2023 was chosen since the g BE_T-_-F=A=+H

Group has sold off its business operations in Mainland
China on 30 March 2023, so its employment and turnover
figures as of 30 March 2023 would be most reflective of
the Group’s operations throughout the Reporting Period.
As of 31 March 2023, the total workforce of the Group in

Mainland China is 1.

As of 30 March 2023, 86 people left the Group,

BE

ABEEZEHDBEREAEEE
RZZEZ=F=ZA=+AHH
EHRPEAMA R E
EZE-=F=ZA=+HH
MEAREEERERR
AEBRBEREERHED
EEBER-BHE_T-_=F=
A=+—H KNEERHERA
KB THEBAIH-

—E-=F=A=+H8" "%

contributing to a turnover rate of 51.19%. Most of those
who left were workers at the heating plant and the power
plant, which were closed from March 2022 and June
2022 onwards respectively. These workers had been
transferred to Shanxi Jinyan Energy Technology Company
Limited for continued employment. See the table below
for detailed distribution.
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Table 9 Turnover Figures

X9 mABF

30 March 2023 Yere ! 31 December 2021
—E-=F=RA=t+ g “E--f+ZA=+-H
Number of Turnover Number of Turnover
Employees Rate Employees Rate
Turnover Figures RABF EEZE RAE EEZE AR
Employment Type EREZ
Full Time a1 86 51.19% 229 90.16%
Part Time B 0 N/AT 3 0 N/AT 38 £
Employee Category EREZF
Senior Management aRERE 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
Middle Management RREERE 3 11.11% 2 6.67%
Frontline and Other Staff AN EMET 83 60.14% 227 102.71%
Age Group FRAF
18-25 18-25 0 N/ATER 8 N/ATER
26-35 26-35 31 163.16% 56 112.00%
36-45 36-45 22 31.43% 76 82.61%
46-55 46-55 25 43.86% 89 108.54%
56 or above 567Kk A 8 36.36% 3 10.00%
Gender 37
Male St 46 33.58% 221 120.77%
Female g3 40 129.03% 8 11.27%
Geographical Region HEWE
Mainland China Bl A 86 51.19% 229 90.16%

Note 1: 2023 figures cover 15 months of social data, from 1

1.1

January 2022 to 30 March 2023.

Employee Compensation and Benefits

The Group values input of its employees, hence
offers generous welfare to them in return of their
hard work. This has contributed to a relatively low
staff turnover rate, especially for management-
level positions. Not only does the Group ensure
employees’ benefits and welfare by strictly following
the above-mentioned laws and regulations,
the Group also established its own policies as
an internal guideline. There had been no non-
compliance regarding recruitment, compensation
and dismissal, promotion, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, and benefits and welfare
during the Reporting Year.

g1 RoFE——F—H—HF=
F-_=ZF=F=+H =F
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1.2

In terms of remuneration, the Group continuously
reviews its salaries to maintain its competitiveness.
After conducting thorough market research, the
Group has started to determine employees’ base
salary on the three major categories of, position
salary, working age, and education level. Besides,
employees are entitled to paid annual leave, sick
leave, marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity
leave, injury leave, compensation leave and
breastfeeding breaks, which are all performed with
accordance to the principle, “everyone is equal
regardless of the position hold”, where the Group
treats all employees fairly.

On top of that, the Group also strives to provide all-
rounded welfare to retain talents. Some benefits
that employees enjoy are, free accommodation,
free domestic-use heating, economical meal plans,
free access to a well-equipped gym room, one-off
subsidies for workers’ children who obtain offers
into universities, etc.

Employee Communication

As the Group values ideas from employees, the
Group also has a labour union for its employees.
In case of any complaints or feedback from
employees to the Group, the union acts as a bridge
to communicate employees’ needs and demands
to the Group, whereas the Group understands its
employees better through the union.

The Group also believes that well-established
communication is key to improving teamwork and
efficiency. Thus, the Group actively encouraged
staff to bond with one another outside of work
by applying for local sports and talents, such as
singing, competitions for them during the Reporting
Year.
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B2,

Employee Health and Safety

The Group regards providing a safe and accident-free
working environment for employees as of paramount
importance. Therefore, both external and internal
guidelines and regulations are followed by the Group.
External guidelines and regulations cover national,
provincial, and local level instructions. Some instructions
that the Group abides by include (but is not limited to),

° Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases;

o Requirements and Evaluation Criteria for the
Standardized Production of Hazardous Chemicals
in Shanxi Province;

° Xiaoyi People’'s Government Safe Production
Committee’s Guideline on the Further Strengthening
of Occupational Diseases Prevention Work.

Internal policies outlined by the Group cover areas
including,

° restriction and control on air composition,

° mandatory and regular health checks for certain
types of staff (such as those who are likely to get
occupational health diseases),

° education and training on safety precautions and
importance of adhering to the policies,

° provision of personal protection equipment,

° regular fire or hazardous drills, and feedback and
reflection on such drills, to constantly prepare for
and improve reactions to emergencies,

° restriction on over-time work and operating
machines that produce radiance, noise, pungent
odour, etc. for women who are pregnant,
breastfeeding, or on mensuration, etc.

Such policies and implementation continue to ensure that
employees can work under a safe environment. During
the Reporting Period, no employee was injured or passed
away from working on their tasks. No non-compliance
had been recorded regarding the Group’s health and
safety policies.
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Apart from measures preventing employees from getting
injured in work-induced accidents, various measures are
also taken to control and minimise chances of employees
being endangered by non-work-related hazards. For
example, as the Group provides accommodation,
showering, and laundry facilities for employees, devices
and equipment, such as showerheads and heating
system, within these facilities are regularly upgraded to
ensure they are safe to use. See Table 10 for summary of
occupational health and safety data of the Group for past
three years.

BT RIS R EEE HIE T
BERMZEIN - A& B IR
TEERRE EHNEERIE
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FHBERERLZE2EERE
RE&10-
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Table 10 Occupational Health and Safety Data K10 BERFR LTS EE
2022/23 Note 1 2021 2020
—=E=-=
—=gMm —g-—F —B-BF
Number of work fatalities THEIETAH 0 0 0
Fatality rate BT R 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Cases that contributed to >3  EZEHAIFEIER
lost working days BERHED 0 0 0
Work injury cases that ERTHEBIEIAER
contributed to <3 lost BANIERH
working days 0 0 0
Lost days due to work injury EISELXHNBEH 0 0 0
Note 1: 2022/23 figures cover 15 months of social data, from 1 Wit1: RZFZ—F—-—H—HF=
January 2022 to 30 March 2023. F-=F=ZA=+H =F
o =R FERES
1815 B4t & 215
B3. Development and Training B3. ZEHIZ

The Group strives to constantly deliver comprehensive
career training to employees to equip them with the
necessary knowledge of the industry and maintain
their professionalism. Hence, employees get a 2-day
training when they get into their positions, followed
by regular training conducted by training companies,
usually monthly. A wide range of topics such as internal
occupation health and safety training was provided to
employees.

During the Reporting Period, there was a large-scale
training for all employees in Xiaoyi on safety or business
managing. Monthly trainings were provided to the Finance
department in Taiyuan by a third-party organisation. The
Safety and Environmental Department also had regular
trainings on relevant practices. As for other management-
level employees, training was arranged for them often
as well when it was not peak season. Overall, all 168
employees received training, and the average training
hours per employee was 20 hours. See Figures 2 and 3
for percentage of employees trained and average training
hours for each worker category.
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Figure 2 Percentage of Employees Trained by Category* B2 %3 B &) 7 1y % B
T A

PERCENTAGE OF EMPLOYEES TRAINED
FIEIEDE

Female 1%

Male S 1f

Frontline and Other Employees
AR EMET

Middle Management
R ARE R E

Senior Management
=RERE

0.00% 20.00% 40.00% 60.00% 80.00% 100.00% 120.00%

Figure 3 Average Training Hours by Category B3 118 5l ) 77 1 F 1 15
P AT
AVERAGE TRAINING HOURS PER EMPLOYEE
BHEE T WFI9EIRE

Female 21t |

Male S

Frontline and Other Employees
HIAR M HME T

Middle Management
HREERE

Senior Management
mREEE
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4 Training percentage is calculated by dividing the number of employees — * F B 5 T3 R R & B A B A A A

of the relevant employee category that received training during the BETHFME TAEBUIEBE THEF
Reporting Period by the total number of employees of that relevant 85 THEZ5E -

employee category.
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B4.

B5.

To keep up with the constantly updating environmental
protection policies and facilities, on-site training is
provided to staff by contractors to ensure the proper
functioning of the newly installed equipment, topics
include but not limited to:

o Structure and mechanism of the facility;
° Facility operation & maintenance; and

° Proper selection and usage of spare parts and
auxiliary materials.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly follows relevant laws and regulations
such as the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract
Law of the PRC, the Law on the Protection of Minors to
manage labour practices. Screening and background
checks are performed when recruiting new employees.
Working hours are also strictly restricted as 8 hours to
prevent excess workload. Forced labour is restrained as
the Group is confined to Article 38 of the Labour Contract
Law.

No child labour, forced, or compulsory labour was
reported and/or identified within any sites of the Group
during the Reporting Period. There are no major risks
associated with incidents of child labour, forced or
compulsory labour within the Group’s operation sites. If
any case of non-compliance is discovered, the Group will
immediately terminate employment and further investigate
to avoid recurrence.

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group has the Procurement Policy and Standardized
Purchasing Procedure in place which requires suppliers
of the Group to provide proofs of basic qualifications
they have acquired relating to the environmental aspects,
such as sewage discharge permission. The suppliers’
effort and means of reducing their environmental impacts
are also looked into when the Group screens and
chooses suppliers, for example, the Group prioritises
suppliers who take steps to reduce dust and pollution
into air during transportation by covering materials on
trucks. The information is then audited, followed by a
site visit conducted by the Group to respective factories
the suppliers to confirm that the practices are well taken
place.
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Bé.

On top of the above policies, the Group specifies detailed
clauses within contracts to ensure business partners
to have implemented adequate management policies
regarding their social and environmental impacts. For
example, within the Environmental and Energy Property
Management Contract, the Group requests that both
parties shall comply with the safety and environmental
protection requirements:

° The service provider shall set up a management
committee to ensure safety production;

° The service provider shall submit to the Group’s
supervision whenever the Group observes a
potential risk;

° The service provider shall arrange its personnel to
receive necessary training offered by the Group;
and

° The Group will send designated personnel to
conduct on-site surveys to monitor the service
providers’ performance.

During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged with 2
suppliers of raw materials from Mainland China.

Product Responsibility

Product labelling, health and safety, and advertising were
not applicable due to the business nature of the Group.

6.1 Intellectual Property

Due to the nature of the Group, there is no policy on
intellectual property rights protection.

6.2 Quality Assurance

The Group continues to guide the general quality
assurance and quality control processes. No non-
compliance with the outgoing products were
reported during the Reporting Period as strict
measures were taken to keep up with the quality of
products during the whole process of production.
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6.3

Amongst all, to ensure quality of the production
from the beginning, all incoming supplies are
examined before entering the plant. The laboratory
closely monitors parameters of key supplies of the
operations in terms of their quality, such as water
content, ash content, sulphur content, volatile
matter content of the raw coal. Sampling methods
strictly follow national standards such as GB482-
1995, GB481-93, and GB475-1996. Other national
standards were also followed during quality
assurance and quality control processes, including
but not limited to:

° GB/T4000-2008 Coke — Determination of
reactivity and strength after reaction;

° GB/T5447 — 2014 Determination of caking
index of bituminous coal;

° GB/T214 — 2007 Determination of sulphur in
coal;

o GB/T212 — 2008 Proximate analysis of coal;
and

° GB474 — 2008 Preparation of coal sample.

After quality checks, the supplies are distributed to
different plants for different productions according
to their quality. At the end of the production process,
products would be checked for quality again by
the sales department. Products that are not up to
standard would be arranged to be produced again
to assure the quality of products sold to market.

Data Protection

The Group acknowledges the importance of
protecting the privacy and confidentiality of
relevant stakeholders. Therefore, various schemes
are constantly taken to prevent data leakage,
and misuse, or, abuse of customer sensitive
information. No non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group relating to privacy matters had been
identified during the Reporting Period.
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To prevent leakage of sensitive data from virus
attacks, several anti-virus protection practices are
taken. For example, security systems are updated
regularly, the newest version of Huawei firewall
was purchased and installed in 2019. The Group
also keeps an eye on alerts released by the market
and does assessments and audits with external
collaborators to look for bugs, suspicious activities,
or flaw in the security systems. On top of that,
some computers used are restricted in terms of the
application and software that they can download.

Data are also backed up every six hours to prevent
a loss of data in case of any hacking. To minimise
the chance of employee misconduct, leading to
any sensitive information being leaked out or used
improperly, such data is only accessible by a small
number of staff.

B7 Anti-corruption

The Group requires that all employees shall conform
to the Law Against Unfair Competition of the PRC,
Criminal Law of the PRC, and other laws, regulations
and regulatory documents related to commercial bribery.
The Group also has anti-corruption agreements with
every supplier they establish ties with. The Group’s Legal
Department continues to implement a monitoring system
to ensure zero tolerance of corruption, bribery, extortion,
fraud, money laundering, and any other unlawful
activities. Whistle-blowers may either contact the Group's
Legal Department to raise possible concerns or submit
their concerns via private reporting mailbox to protect
their anonymity. Furthermore, the Group has implemented
measures to protect whistle-blowers from retaliation or
adverse consequences of their employment.

The Group has not aided, abetted, assisted or colluded
with an individual who has committed, or conspired to
commit any unlawful activities. No non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to corruption, bribery, fraud
and money laundering had been identified during the
Reporting Period.
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Bs.

The Group recognises that anti-corruption training is
pivotal to raising employees’ awareness and maintaining
a culture of integrity throughout the Group. The Group
has carried out an average of 15 hours of anti-corruption
training per member of its Board during the Reporting
Period, which covered topics such as business ethics,
avoiding conflict-of-interest, and anti-bribery. Employees
also receive anti-corruption training as part of their
orientation and within their Employee Handbook, and the
Group plans on expanding the scope of anti-corruption
training to its employees in the Following Reporting
Period.

Community Investment

The Group strives to implement corporate social
responsibility and actively participates in public welfare
activities. When making contribution or donations,
the Group gives priority to the fields of education,
environmental protection, and labour demand.

The Group plants trees around its plant to offset potential
impacts, such as soil erosion and dust pollution, that
would be brought about by its operations. The Group
is also mindful of any pollutants that are released to its
surroundings, and takes care to minimise its impact to
the surrounding community.

As COVID-19 subsides, the Group had also organised its
employees to aid in anti-pandemic efforts at the Sheng Xi
Street Health Centre, such as helping to perform nucleic
acid amplification testing.

For employees from the Xiaoyi office, they get a one-off
subsidy of 2,000-3,000 RMB if their children manage to
get a university offer. The Group also offers internship
programmes to local university students to provide them
opportunities of working at a genuine workplace. Those
who have performed excellently would be given a return
offer for when they graduate and can formally work at the
Group.

The Group will continue to find ways in which it can utilise
its resources and experience to make contributions to
society.
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thiC

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Huscoke Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 188,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2023, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
it is not possible for us to form an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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AREMBAR (FEEEE])HRE
PVEFIBBE AT BHRE EFHEARN
TE_ZFZAZT+HZRAPBERR
R BE_Z_=F=A=+—HI+AHHE
BzHeBakEtmrmlaER Sefs
BHRRGEBEERERURGEAVBR
EHF (BREEESHBERE) -

EFrY BERENGAMBHRERERE
CENBFHNRE [BERTERLNER]
—HAEENERN  BEFEEIURER
EMBBRRERBER -EMEEMITE &
ERREAVBRROREBZERBEM
MRBEREZ BRmE -
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group has recorded a net operating cash
outflow of approximately HK$1,608,000 for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023 and as at 31 March 2023 the Group had
net current liabilities of approximately HK$226,939,000. Further, no
revenue was generated from the new operating assets up to date,
which bring significant impacts on the Group’s operations. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Group'’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
Group’s ability to make the new operating assets in full operation
on schedule, the completion of the fund-raising activities and the
success in delaying the payments by persuading its creditors of
the Group not to insist on demanding repayment before the full
operation of the Group’s new operating assets. The consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result
from the failure to make the new operating assets in full operation
on schedule, to complete the fund-raising activities and to delay
the repayments. We consider that the material uncertainty has been
adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.
However, in view of the extent of the multiple uncertainties relating
to make the new operating assets in full operation on schedule, to
complete the fund-raising activities and to delay the repayments, we
disclaim our opinion in respect of the material uncertainty relating to
the going concern basis.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1E % E BR 2 5
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OTHER MATTERS

Had we not disclaimed our opinion in respect of the matters
described in the Basis of Disclaimer of Opinion section above, we
would otherwise have qualified our opinion in respect of the scope
limitations on our audit relating to the matters detailed below.

Trade receivables and prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Impairment loss on prepayments, deposits and other receivables
of approximately HK$34,316,000 was recognised for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2023. In relation to impairment loss on
prepayments, deposits and other receivables for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023, other income and gains of approximately
HK$41,367,000 were recognised for the fifteen months ended 31
March 2023. Impairment loss on trade receivables of approximately
HK$1,448,000 was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2021. In relation to impairment loss on trade receivables for the year
ended 31 December 2021, revenue of approximately HK$1,281,000
were recognised for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position were
prepayments, deposits and other receivables of approximately
HK$121,869,000 and approximately HK$114,132,000 as at 31 March
2023 and 31 December 2021, respectively.

The management was in progress on negotiating with the debtor on
settlement of the aforesaid balances. In absence of the fulfillment
on the agreed repayment schedules, the management considered
that there is uncertainty on recovering the aforesaid balances. The
management has not yet initiated actions including but not limited
to legal action against the debtor on the balances, hence no result
from actions is available up to the date of this report for justifying the
extent of the recoverability of the aforesaid balances.

Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverability of aforesaid
balances as at 31 March 2023 and 31 December 2021. There
were no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to
determine whether the aforesaid impairment loss, revenue and other
income and gains for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 and
the year ended 31 December 2021 were properly recognised and
the aforesaid balances as at 31 March 2023 and 31 December 2021
were fairly stated.
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Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have
a consequential effect on the Group's financial performance and
cash flows for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 and the
year ended 31 December 2021 and the financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2023 and 31 December 2021, and the related
disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report.
However, because of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us to
form an opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Sze Lin Tang

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P03614

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GERERE2EWER

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

Period from
1 January
2022 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
R=-ZB==
—RA—R=Z H=E
—B=-= —T-—F
=A=+-—~H +—A=+—8
R IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 FET FHET
REVENUE N 7 34,726 866,602
Cost of sales SHE A (125,638) (753,868)
Gross (loss)/profit (£8) /5 (90,912) 112,734
Other income and gains, net HAb U A Rz # 5 7 340,605 235,183
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEN B AR Rk 35(b) 1,693,981
Selling and distribution costs HE R HR A (1,565) (1,417)
Administrative expenses EREH (114,007) (99,920)
Finance costs MEEA 8 (157,108) (113,936)
Other operating expenses, net HthisEf% 55 9 (34,316) (154,157)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRBUATRA, (B58) 9 1,636,678 (21,513)
Income tax Fri5 12 (387,817) (9,669)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR 1/ % puitFl,/ (&518) 1,248,861 (31,182)
Other comprehensive expenses Hit2HEBAX
Items that may be reclassified HEHBARENR 2 EE
subsequently to profit or loss, BRZEH BRE%:
net of tax:
Exchange differences on translation of VBN ITEEEZ
foreign operations: HIRERE
Exchange differences arising on BINEBIEEE 2
translation of foreign operations H=s (11,571) (2,009)
Reclassification of foreign currency o 65 B BB A BB ST
translation reserve upon disposal DEEINERE
of subsidiaries (82,026) -
Other comprehensive expenses for AEE/ FEHEMEE
the period/year, net of tax F - BREE (93,597) (2,009)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ AHE FEZA
(EXPENSES) FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR W3 (BEX) M 1,155,264 (33,191)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FeBRRE2EKER

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

Period from
1 January
2022 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
R-BE-ZF
—RA—R=E HE
—B-=F —E-—F
=A=+-—8 +=—A=+—8H
A 1EFE
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FAT
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD/ FEAEAEE,
YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: =R (FE)
Owners of the Company ViN/NETES F =N 1,250,165 (31,259)
Non-controlling interests FEVERRAE = (1,304) 77
1,248,861 (31,182)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ AR FE2M
(EXPENSES) FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR Wi (BI) M
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Owners of the Company VN/NEIEZ =N 1,155,600 (32,824)
Non-controlling interests IR (336) (367)
1,155,264 (33,191)
PROFIT/(LOSS) PER SHARE SREF (FE)
Basic A 13 HK$4.357% 5T (HK$0.1178 7T)
Diluted e 13 HK$4.357% T (HK$0.11787T)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE MR R R

At31 March 2023 R=—ZE-_=%=H=+—H

31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E-= —E-—F
=A=+-—8 +-A=+—8H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
it FHExT FHET
Non-Current Assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipments W BB R&E 15 1,778,913 1,234
Financial assets at fair value through BAAREBEFABRZ
profit or loss SREE 16 1,508 1,508
Trade receivables E 5 IR X 18 - 283,816
Prepayments, deposits and BRI e REM
other receivables FEWUIR 5K 19 - 1,274,277
Total non-current assets IRBEEHLEE 1,780,421 1,560,835
Current Assets REEE
Inventories EE 17 - 3,111
Trade receivables B 5 IR X 18 - 494,706
Prepayments, deposits and TERFRIE  Re RE A
other receivables JE R X 19 129,064 154,849
Cash and bank balances Be RRITET 21 601 7,903
Total current assets REBEEAR 129,665 660,569
Current Liabilities REBAE
Trade payables B 5 FEIR 22 - 482,566
Other payables, accruals and H A EIRR - FERTEIA
deposit received ke lize 23 59,199 977,621
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 24 218,188 733,863
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 2,717 1,417
Financial guarantee contracts WIS HERE 4 26 - 148,210
Tax payable FHERIE 76,500 16,546
Total current liabilities FREBEEAE 356,604 2,360,223
Net current liabilities REEEFE (226,939) (1,699,654)
Total assets less current liabilities EEBBRABAE 1,553,482 (138,819)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R

At31 March 2023 R=—ZE-_=%=H=+—H

31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E-=F —E-—F
=A=+-—8 +-A=+—8H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
it FET FHET
Non-Current Liabilities REBEE
Other payables, accruals and HAth FEAT IR R - JEETFIE
deposit received KEWIES 23 58,504 =
Deferred income IEFEUA 23 - 5,521
Lease liabilities HEBE 25 - 7,617
Tax payable FHRFIE 305,996 =
Deferred tax liability BEERIBERE 27 - 6,135
Total non-current liabilities REBEBEHEE 364,500 19,273
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/ (BB B8 1,188,982 (158,092)
Equity BE
Equity attributable to owners of NN BHER AL
the Company
Share capital f& A 28 28,707 28,707
Reserves (] 30 982,660 (172,940)
1,011,367 (144,233)
Non-controlling interests AR R A 31 177,615 (13,859)
Total equity/(deficit) R () BEE 1,188,982 (158,092)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 HR-_Z-_=ZF NAZ-ZTHKEZEFT MW AER

June 2023 and signed on its behalf by: KERM TR TIEERERESE:
Mr. ZHAO Xu Guang Mr. WONG Siu Hung, Patrick
B K 5 A BOHERE
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANAREAEE
Equity
attributable
Exchange Capital to owners Non-

Share  Share Contributed  Special Other fluctuation Statutory redemption Accumulated of the ~ controlling

capital premium*  surplus* reserve* reserve*  reserve* reserve*  reserve’ losses* Company interest Total
|
i:5:3 &x BEA

Bx ROEE SARS BHEE AbEE RIRE iERR RERE  RHER RERE FRRER @it
HK$000 HK$000  HK$O000 HK$000 HK$O000  HKS000 HK$O000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TEr TEn  TEn  TER  TEr TR TEn  TER TEr TR TET  TEn

AT Januery 2021 Wo2-—%-F-A 8707 346554 1731681 18236  (10354) 76080 9403 8 (231801) (111409 (1349  (124901)
Loss for the year TEERE - - - - = = = = (31,259)  (31,259) 7 (31,18
Other comprehensive expenses ~ AEEE 2 EA :
for the year:
Exchange differences BNEBTEEE L
on translation of RAER
foreign operations - - - - - (1,565) - - - (1,565) (444) (2,009)

Total comprehensive expenses ~ AFEREMXAE

for the year . B . . - (1569) . . (B1250)  (32824)  (37)  (33,191)
At 31 December 2021 R-E--%
+-A=t-8 8707 3655 1731681 1823  (10354) 74515 9403 8 (2343060) (144233)  (13859) (158,092)
At 1 January 2022 WoB-—%-F-A W07 36554 173681 18236  (10354) 7515 9403 85 (233060) (144233)  (13.859)  (158,092)
Profit(loss) for the period RERER/ (B#B) - - - - - - - - 1,250,165 1,250,165 (1,304) 1,248,861
Other comprehensive income ~ AHEE M 2ENE:
for the period:
Exchange differences BNERTEESEL
on translation of RAEE
foreign operations - - - - - (94,565) - - - (94,565) %8  (93,597)
Total comprehensive rEHEENE/
income/(expenses) (Fx)a8
for the period - - - - - (94,565) - - 1,250,165 1,155,600 (336) 1,155,264
Disposal of subsidiaries HENHBAR - - - - 9788 - (9403 - (385) - 14193 14193
Acquisition of subsidiaries KENBAR - - - - - - - - - - ATIElT ATIRM7
At 31 March 2023 RZZ2Z=F=fA=1-H 28,707 346,554 1,731,681 18,236 (566) (20,050 - 85 (1,093,280) 1,011,367 177615 1,188,982
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves in the — * ZEGEROER T =F=H=+4+—
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023. AzZiFEa B ERAR G E e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERETRER

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

Period from
1 January 2022 to
31 March 2023

Year ended
31 December 2021

R-ZF-_F
—A—R=E HE
—B=-= —E-—F
=HA=+—H +=—A=+—H
A IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES mEEK
Profit/(loss) before tax BB ATEF (E18) 1,636,678 (21,513)
Adjustments for: EEESN
Finance costs e R 157,108 113,936
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE KB A R R e (1,693,981) =
Compensation income from contract BFEAKMERA
with customer (41,367) (8,703)
Interest income FLEWA (39,423) (52,702)
Interest charged back to Jinyan Electricity FACEENHEBEEEZFE
related borrowing (90,331) (69,589)
Imputed interest income of amount due to R —ERERARFKIEZ
a former subsidiary HER WA (12,058) =
Governments grant BE#E S (5,214) =
Depreciation of property, plant and equipments ¥ R LR ETE 639 7,533
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREESERE 3,684 4,269
Impairment loss on property, plant and W RERZEREEE
equipment - 90,738
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BB RERE B
equipment - 1,320
Loss on written-off of inventories WisFEEE - 12,180
Loss allowance of trade receivables, net B 5 RYIR RSB R E TR - 1,448
Loss allowance of prepayment, deposits and AR FRIE ke REAEK
other receivables, net MR E B R R 34,316 825
Amortisation on financial guarantee contracts M ERE Q#EH (124,632) (56,814)
Loss allowance on financial guarantee contracts B i 1E (R & 4 2 B E - 61,146
Operating cash flows before working LEESEPRIcKLEReRE
capital changes (174,581) 84,074
Change in inventories FEEE) 2,938 45,990
Change in trade receivables B 5 REURIR 3 346,380 (141,317)
Change in prepayments, deposits and AR FIA iR R E AR
other receivables MR R 1,442 (8,226)
Change in trade payables 2 5 AR R E (147,879) 109,143
Change in other payables, accruals and H Ath FE IR X - JEFTRUIE R
deposits received BiiEe (29,908) (93,879)
Net cash used in operations REMAZREFE (1,608) (4,215)
Income taxes paid EFER - (4,538)
Net cash flows used in operating activities REXBTAZHESRETE (1,608) (8,753)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

REBRERER

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

Period from
1 January 2022 to
31 March 2023 31 December 2021

Year ended

RN-—ZE-—
—BA—R=Z HE
—B=-= —ET-—F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—H
R IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEME BE K& (63) (429)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant LEWE  WE &K&W
and equipment - 818
Interest received [ | BSN 2 2
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BB T B 1 A 1 =
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMRE AR (120) =
Net cash (used in)/generated from REXK () EEz
investing activities REeFE (180) 391
FINANCING ACTIVITIES AEER
Repayment on bank and other borrowings EERITRAMBEE = (241)
Lease payments HERRK (5,329) (4,742)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEXBHRAZRSFHE (5,329) (4,983)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND REeRBREEEYRDFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (7117) (13,345)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of H/ ENzRERREEED
period/year 7903 21,119
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash EXRFEHHRE R
and cash equivalents ReEBY e TE (185) 129
Cash and cash equivalents at end of B/ EXBERESEEY
period/year 601 7,903
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF ReRRSEEBYERD T
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances e RIBITHER 601 7,903
Cash and cash equivalents at end of B/ ERXCBERBSEEY
period/year 601 7,903
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

106

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Huscoke Holdings Limited was incorporated in Bermuda as
an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange. The registered office at the
end of the reporting period is located at Victoria Place, 5th
Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda and the
principal office at the end of the reporting period is located at
Room 2301, 23/F., Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway,
Admiralty, Hong Kong.

At 31 March 2023, the directors consider that the immediate
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Shun Wang
Investments Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin
Islands and Mr. Zhao Xu Guang, a director of the Company,
respectively.

During the period, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) were involved in the following
activities: (i) coke trading business; (ii) coal-related ancillary
business; and (iii) coke production business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated.

The current financial statements cover a fifteen-month
period ended 31 March 2023 and the comparative financial
statements cover a twelve-month year ended 31 December
2021. The comparative amounts are, therefore, not entirely
comparable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1
Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as

DNEAEHR (&)
FEMBARZER

ARBEZMBARZFBOT :

follows:
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share equity aftributable
Name registration and business capital to the Company Principal activities
BRATLER NG
£ BV 5 5 /MR BAt TREHR
Direct Indirect
i &

Rich Key Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 100 - Investment holding
EELEEARAF RBRZHEE/EH 1ET REER
Pride Eagle Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 = 100 Investment holding
HEREERAT EERAES/BE 1ET RERER
Huscoke International Group Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Trading of coke
NEAREEERAF BE/ BB 10,0007 7T BEEER
Herong Resources Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Trading of coke
NBERBRAF BE/ BB 10,0007 7T BEEER
Ocean Signal Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Assets holding
BHBRAR EE/ BB 10,0007 7 EERA
Joy Wisdom International Limited" British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1,000 - 100 Investment holding
BHERERAR" EERAES/BE 1,000% 7 REER
Huscoke International Investment Limited" Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
MEBRRRERRAT" BB/ BE BT REER
LW ERNEREERAR People’s Republic of China HK$715,000,000 - 90  Coal-related ancillary

GRG Huscoke (Shan Xi) Ltd * (the “PRC")Mainland China business; coke production

("GRG Huscoke")" and coke trading
WESEANZERERAR ([ENR)) " REARLAE ((hE])/ 71500000057 RREENBRS:

HER EREENERED
Wealth Guardian Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 100 - Investment holding
EHERAER AR EEREES/BE 1ET REER
Good Guardian Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 - 100 Investment holding
EEREBRAT EERAES/BE 1ET RERR
Fruitful International Investments Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Investments
ELARREABRAA EE/ BB 10,0007 ¢ Y
Joint Bloom Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 100 - Investment holding
AELRERAT EBRAES/BE e REER
True Tycoon Limited Cayman Islands/Hong Kong US$1 - 100 Investment holding
AT BERAA MERs/ % e REZR
h
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1. 2QREEHE)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEMBARZER (&Z)
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share equity attributable
Name registration and business capital to the Company Principal activities
BRATLER RN LR E
£B BLEAVEINES S /R Rl TEER
Direct Indirect
¢ B
Ample Lead Global Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 100 - Investment holding
BERRERAT EBAAHE/EE 1% REER
Tycoon Path Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$100 = 100 Investment holding
THREBRAT EBALHE/EE 100% 7T REER
Huscoke Management Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
MEERARAF B/ EE BT REER
IEMEERERERAR The PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Shanxi Huscoke International Energy
Company Limited * (“Shanxi Huscoke")®
WEAEERERARAA (WERE] S RE/ PENM AR REER
10,000,000t
A ERREEEREEDA The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 90  Coal-related ancillary
Shanxi Jinyan Energy Jiarun Co., Ltd * business; coke production
(“Energy Jiarun")t and coke trading
WESERREERARECAR ([RFEE]) PE/ PENM AR RynBnEER:
1,000,007 EREERERES
Heroic Global Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 = 100 Investment holding
BRBRRAEEBRAA EBAAHS/BE 1ET REER
Bloom Wealth Investment Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100 Investment holding
ARREBRAT BB/ EE BT REER
Notes: Mt
E GRG Huscoke is a Sino-foreign equity joint venture company # SEMNBASRTPEKLZPIIEE
established in the PRC. BE QA
" The company is disposed on 30 March 2023. " ARRR—ZE-_=F=ZA=+HH
o
For identification purposes only Xl

@ Shanxi Huscoke is a Sino-foreign equity joint venture company
established in the PRC.

¢ Energy Jiarun is a limited liability company established in the
PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
at the end of the reporting period, or at anytime during the
reporting period.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for
the period and formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

PRESENTATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value.

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of key assumptions
and estimates. It also requires the directors of the Company
(“Directors”) to exercise their judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical
judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to these consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 5.

The Group has recorded a net operating cash outflow of
approximately HK$1,608,000 for the fifteen months ended
31 March 2023 and as at 31 March 2023 the Group had
net current liabilities of approximately HK$226,939,000.
Further, no revenue was generated from the new operating
assets up to date, which bring significant impacts on the
Group’s operations. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
upon the Group's ability to make the new operating assets
in full operation on schedule, the completion of the fund-
raising activities and the success in delaying the payments
by persuading its creditors of the Group not to insist on
demanding repayment before the full operation of the Group’s
new operating assets. The consolidated financial statements
do not include any adjustments that would result from the
failure to make the new operating assets in full operation on
schedule, to complete the fund-raising activities and to delay
the repayments.

The Directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group and are of the opinion that the Group
will be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due for
the foreseeable future, and accordingly, are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis.

2IREREE
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current period, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1
January 2022. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
did not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting
policies, presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and amounts reported for the current period and
prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new
HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of

BRI REIETE B BREE
Al

AR AEEEHEMNEELESRH
YTE-E-_—_F—A—HERGANE
HFEEERNTER SR MAESHE
HHFTR] RS R BB TSRS 28 -
RNz Ee] MBI BB ERE
RV RSAEENGTERE 275
REBEMIERE P HERE MAHE LB
AFEEMERNECBEEEAES -

7SR B 30 K & PR B AR A 1B iR R AR Y
M EAMBHREERN AKECH
AR AR SRR BB M WG ERIH
T8 BNELEFAZEHTEEM
BHREEN ST HELEXE RN

operations and financial position. RRENERTE -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES ERETHE

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation BEZERAMBRERAEANEKR
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. GETBURE N T o

Consolidation HARE

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the
Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential voting
right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company'’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any
remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related
accumulated exchange fluctuation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the period between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4., ERGHBE(E)
Business combination and goodwill (¥REHEREE

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of
acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of
the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred
and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are
incurred and the services are received. |dentifiable assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is
added to the cost of acquisition to calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
in the subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive
income (for example, equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income), the amount that was recognised
in other comprehensive income is recognised on the same
basis as would be required if the previously held equity interest
were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment
losses of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as
stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses of
goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and
are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Group’s presentation currency and the functional
currency of the Company. The functional currency of the
principal operating subsidiaries of the Group is Renminbi
(“RMB”).

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Group’s
presentation currency are translated into the Group’s
presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the exchange fluctuation reserve.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives are as follows:

Building 30 years
Leasehold improvement Over the lease terms
Furnaces and infrastructure 25 years
Plant and machinery 8 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending for installation,
and is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and

4.

EXREFTEE (&)

M- -BERRE (&)

HEY X - BB KR i r W e 3B 18
THERBSRIBFRERFEENK
EEZENERE  WNIB R R

ERTREDEZEFNEFREFFRE
B RS B M A - 3% A AN R B (E B 1R
SR - PR E-KABRBRERESE
AR ZEHRNBBEEESNHEAR
EEERA-EEZETRZRT RAJ#
ERE SEMOREEENYE
R K maE Al -

HE

EEBEBABA
MENHEEEE R HAKEIE R E
RREREEEMAREERE &
REEETRKARBR T E RRE
EBERIK - EREEEDNREENT]
FRFHABENMEFREENE
RO LR AN L R BT E

the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal useful FEAFERFHNT:
lives are as follows:
Land and buildings 2-10 years T RETF 2-10%F

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease
payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs.
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the lease
payments discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group's
incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are
leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair value
through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

(i)

(i)

Financial assets at amortised cost; and
Investments at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of
the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they
do not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised
cost and the conditions of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income unless the Group
designates an equity investment that is not held for
trading as at fair value through other comprehensive
income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss are net of any interest income and dividend
income. Interest income and dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost to which the impairment requirements apply in
accordance with HKFRS 9. At each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount
equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the
holder, the debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

- past due information

- nature of instrument

- nature of collateral

- industry of debtors

- geographical location of debtors

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial instrument.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

- Information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

- there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial assets has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. ERGFEEX(£)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SRMEERE (&)
Credit-impaired financial asset FEREHEE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about
the following events:

(i)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(i)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(iii)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(iv) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(v) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(vi) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to
an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities are initially
recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at the
higher of:

- the loss allowance; and

- the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation recognised in profit or loss over the terms of
the guarantee contracts.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where
the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
installments.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service
to a customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the
laws that apply to that contract, a performance obligation can
be satisfied over time or at a point in time. A performance
obligation is satisfied over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the product or service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Sale of medium coal, coke and by-products are recognised at
a point of time at which the customer obtains the control of the
promised asset, which generally coincides with the time when
the goods are delivered to customers and the title is passed.

Sale of electricity and heat are recognised at a point of time
when they are transferred to the customers.

Other revenue

Compensation income is recognised when the right to receive
payment has been established.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Share-based payments transactions

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Equity-settled share-based payments
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and
adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

Employee benefits
(i)  Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period. Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii)  Pension schemes

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost
charged to profit or loss represents contributions payable
by the Group to the funds.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that
are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
period. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4., ERGHBE(E)
Taxation (Continued) BE (&)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the Group
whose business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax for such investment properties are measured
based on the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the entities comprising the Group
are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mER

by b

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(B) (Continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to a parent of the Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except
investments, inventories and receivables to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation
or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are classified as
a separate allocation of retained earnings within the equity
section of the consolidated statement of financial position, until
they have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’'s memorandum and articles of
association grant the Directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(a) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the factors described in note 2.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Depreciation

The Group depreciates its property, plant and equipment
over their estimated useful lives, commencing from the
date the property, plant and equipment are ready for
their intended use. The estimated useful life reflects the
management’s estimate of the periods that the Group
intends to derive future economic benefits from the use
of the property, plant and equipment. The depreciation
will be changed when the useful life is expected to be
different from the estimate and would affect profit or loss
for the period in which such change of estimate takes
place.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is determined with reference to the present value
of estimated future cash flows. Where the future cash
flows are less than expected or there are unfavourable
events and change in facts and circumstance which
result in revision of future estimate cash flows, a material
impairment loss may arise.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’'s management estimates the loss allowance
for financial assets at amortised cost including trade
receivables, amount due from non-controlling shareholder
and deposits and other receivables, by using various
inputs and assumptions including risk of a default
and expected loss rate. The estimation involves high
degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s
historical information, recoverable amount of collateral,
past collection history of debtors, concentration risk of
debtors, the Group’s actual loss experience, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying amount of the financial assets at
amortised cost. Details of the key assumption and inputs
used in estimating ECL are set out in note 38(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
the following reportable operating segments:

(a) the coke trading segment — purchases and sales of coke
and coal,

(b) the coal-related ancillary segment — washing of raw coal
into refined coal for sale and for further processing, and
sale of electricity and heat which are generated as the
by-products during the washing of raw coal; and

(c) the coke production segment — processing of refined coal
into coke for sales, and sale of coke by-products that are
generated during coke production.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment
profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax.
The adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with
the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income,
unallocated other income, corporate and administrative
expenses, other operating income, finance costs and income
tax expense are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and bank balances, restricted
bank deposits, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, other unallocated head office and corporate assets as
these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other borrowings, lease liabilities,
deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted at cost plus a
certain percentage of mark-up.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023

6. &

==

z

BE-—E-=fF=ZRA=+—HLt+H

EORENR (&)
BRARESR

@A
Coke Coal-related Coke
trading ancillary  production Eliminations Total
ERES HErEHENE BREE EgF ] @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FTHER THET TERT THERT
Segment revenue: SERA:
- external sale —¥INEE - 34,726 - - 34,726
— intersegment sale —-DERHEE - - - - -
Other income Hit A - 28,336 - - 28,336
Total et = 63,062 - - 63,062
Segment results PHEEE - (64,141) - - (64,141)
Unallocated other income ROBEEMUA 4,460
Compensation income HEWRA 41,367
Interest income arising in o fth PR AR TR A Y
other receivables FSWA 129,752
Imputed interest income of amount B —RRIE AR
due to a former subsidiary FREZ HBEFISRA 12,058
Amortisation on financial IR E 18
guarantee contracts 124,632
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR 2 e 1,693,981
Impairment loss for prepayments, BRZFE REREM
deposits and other receivables JFEWOIR SR B E 1R (34,316)
Corporate administrative RAERER (M)
expenses (Note) (114,007)
Finance costs MBER (157,108)
Profit before tax BT AR A 1,636,678
Income tax expense PSR Y (387,817)
Profit for the period RHR 5 R 1,248,861
Corporate
Coke Coal-related Coke and
trading ancillary  production  unallocated Total
ERES HExEENE BREE DARKRDIE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TERT FTHER THERT THERT THERT
Segment assets PHEEE - - 1,776,167 133,919 1,910,086
Segment liabilities SEEE - - - 721,104 721,104
Other segment information: HihpEER:
Additions of property, RENE BER
plant and equipment B - - 1,776,167 5,835 1,782,002
Depreciation e - - - 4,323 4,323
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6.

OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

6. &

==

EREER (&)
DPHEBMARERE (&)
BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HI#F

&
Coke  Coal-related Coke
trading ancillary production  Eliminations Total
ERBS KpEENE EREE HiH it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FTHET FTET FTET
Segment revenue: SERA:
- external sale —HNEE - 81,517 785,085 = 866,602
— intersegment sale —DRERHEE = 16,515 = (16,515) =
Other income Hi A - 41,902 - 41,902
Total st = 139,934 785,085 (16,515) 908,504
Segment results DTEEE - 1,526 62,650 64,176
Unallocated other income AAEMBA 5,473
Compensation income RERA 8,703
Amortisation on financial HBERE SR
guarantee contracts 56,814
Loss allowance on financial MBERENZER
guarantee contracts e (61,146)
Impairment loss for trade receivables & 5 fE Uik ZR EE 1B (1,448)
Impairment loss for prepayments, BRFE REREM
deposits and other receivables IR KR EER (825)
Interest income arising in H A JE IO SR EE A Y
other receivables FSWA 122,289
Corporate administrative NEERER (M)
expenses (Note) (101,613)
Finance costs MBER (113,936)
Loss before tax BERIEE (21,513)
Income tax expense FrEHEE (9,669)
Loss for the year rEEER (31,182)
Corporate
Coke  Coal-related Coke and
trading ancillary production  unallocated Total
TRBS KiEBENE BREE DRRKRDE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FAET FAT FAT
Segment assets TEEE - 67,866 741,141 1,412,397 2,221,404
Segment liabilities SEEE - 581,116 29,160 1,769,220 2,379,496
Other segment information: HinpEER:
Additions of property, RENE BER
plant and equipment B - - 427 2 429
Depreciation neE = 112 6,201 5,489 11,802
Impairment on property, U EN NS
plant and equipment AL - 1,240 76,740 12,758 90,738
Note: Unallocated corporate administrative expenses mainly include Wit ARBERAEEZEFAFEGELR

corporate’s staff cost and Directors’ remuneration, legal and
professional fee, PRC local tax and depreciation of unallocated
property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is all
derived from the PRC. The revenue information is based
on the locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

6.

(a) KENEHBEFZHKA

2 EENE  WARFRA
B WABRTIREBEEFHE

HE D o

(b) F¥HEEE

31 March 31 December

2023 2021

—E-= T —F

=B=+—-H +=ZA=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Hong Kong BB 2,746 1,234
The PRC F 1,776,167 -
1,778,913 1,234

The non-current asset information is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments
and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenues from external customers individually contributing
10% or more of the total revenue from the Group are as follows:

ERERBDEEENIREE
EfEES s BTEEER

TANRELERBEE

FREIEEFZER

ERERAEEBRUAI0% A LM

HINBEP ZABRIAT :

Period from
1 January
2022 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
HNR—T—=——
—HA—B% HE
—Zg=-= —F-—F
=A=+—-A +ZHA=+—H
S IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Customer A BEPA *N/A 38 A 483,861
Customer B ®FB *N/A i A 120,424
Customer C ®FC *N/A 38 A 92,722
Customer D ZFD 20,836 *N/A 3 A
* These customers did not individually contribute 10% or more * BEEFREZ-_FT-_=F=4

of the total revenue from Group in the fifteen months ended 31
March 2023 or the year ended 31 December 2021.

=t —Hirt+alEAZEE—F
T FF A= —HIFFELR
1815 B Bt 2 2 B AG A #910% 36 X

Fo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

WA - E Al A R W g8

WAEFAEELEM I FERERE
R BB A N E SR H RS
ZEE BWAREMBARKE 2D

7. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 7

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after
allowances for returns and trade discounts, and the value of
services rendered during the year. An analysis of revenue and

other income and gains are as follows: Hranh
Period from
1 January
2022 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
HR=-TB=——
—HA—B% HE
—E=-= —E-—F
=A=+—-8A +=ZH=+—H
HM IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue WA
Sales of electricity and heat HEE N 34,726 81,517
Sales of medium coal, coke and HEPHE SR EIEM
by-products - 785,085
34,726 866,602
The revenue is recognised at a point IRAREE — IR I B FERR ©
in time.
Other income and gains, net Ha AR Wz FE
Compensation income (Note a) HEWA (Hita) 41,367 8,703
Interest income from bank deposits RITIF R FEWA 2 2
Interest income from related companies  BEEE A 7] 2 F] B UL A - 12,043
Interest income from the non-controlling ~ — FE1Ff1 /& & &) JE 22 PR A% B8
shareholder of a subsidiary 2 MEWA 39,421 40,657
Interest charged back to Jinyan ASEBNHEBAEE
Electricity related borrowing (Note b) ZHE (Hitb) 90,331 69,589
Imputed interest income of amount FET — R ATFT & A RISRIE
due to a former subsidiary (Note 20(c))  Z{EEF B U A
(Ktz20(c)) 12,058 -
Governments grant (Note c) B e (Kidc) 28,336 41,902
Sundry income MIEWA 4,458 5,473
Amortisation on financial guarantee WIS HEIR G HO B3R
contracts 124,632 56,814
340,605 235,183
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

7

*

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

Notes:

(a) In 2019, the Group paid a trade deposit of US$22,000,000 to
Shanxi Jinyan Energy Technology Company Limited* (1L 74 % &
BERFIE AR 2 A1) (“Energy Technology’) for the coke trading
business. However, due to the downtrend of international coke
price, both parties agreed to terminate the plan and Energy
Technology agreed to refund such trade deposit by instalment
with compensation to the Group. Upon the completion of the
acquisition of a new subsidiary, Shanxi Jinyan Energy Jiarun Co.,
Ltad* (L i &2 6E)R 32 8 A IR & (F 22 7]) ("Energy Jiarun”), on
18 January 2023, as disclosed in note 35(a), Energy Technology
became a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary of the

Group at 31 March 2023.

(b)  The interests were derived from the unrecorded loans and the
relevant accrued interests in relation to the incident caused by
Xiaoyi Jinyan Electricity Coke Chemnical Company Limited* ( %
H2EENRIETERAAE) (“Jinyan Electricity”), being the 9%
minority shareholder of GRG Huscoke (Shanxi) Limited™ (1L 75 &
EMEEE R B R A ) (“GRG Huscoke”) (the ‘“Incident’). Details
of which are set out in the Companys annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and the Company's announcement

dated 18 January 2022 and 26 May 2022.

(c)  Government grant have been received for supplying heat in the
PRC. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating

fo these grants.

For identification purpose only

7.

*

L' ON

CHAW AR RS ()

Wt

(a)

(®)

(c)

REZF—NF FEBREREZE
BlE e ERIBHRA A (6
BER#E) LT E Z 1% %22,000,000
ZETL oA ARERERXREET
B BT R AR LA BER R A
BERAEE S HROEBEZIZS
BEEHE R=ZFE-—=ZF—F+/N
A - i 20 7 #7235(a) B # 55 - 55 5K
—BIETHT B A Rl Ll 77 & BE )5 52 18
BEREML A ([BEFZR]) M
Bk BEFERRR-_F-_=Z€=4
=F— A BAREEH B LA
B FEFERR AR o

FIERREBHEEZET &5 ERIE
TITERRE]([2EFEL] AlfFHE L
FeE Mt RaRAA] ([£E5F
5/) 9%AR Y ) BR R ) B 21 FE 1F
([ZBH])BARALREBE R G BE
FFE - BHFIEER AN A E =
FE-FFf =+ —HIFFEH
FHRRARNGAHE =T = —F—
A+NAR-FE-—FFH -+

HEy 2 g e

ERRAEERWRBNTHHE 2
BAEFHZEEZREXRIFE
HRER -

EH#F

h

©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. H¥%EH
Period from
1 January
2022 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
NR-—ZTE——
—A—B=% HE
—E-=F —E-—F
=A=+-8 +zZA=+-A
HAM EFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Interest expenses on other borrowings ~ HAbEEF| BF X 35,917 19,488
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBEZFERX 702 558
Imputed interest expenses on amount & — R AT BT B A 15008
due to a former subsidiary (Note 20(c))  Z1HEF BRI
(Htat20(c)) 1,854 —
Interest expenses on Jinyan Electricity & &E HiE@EEE 2
related borrowing MEFRX 114,545 69,589
Interest expenses on other payables HiEMARZRZFERAX
(Note 33) (H1:£33) 4,090 24,301
157,108 113,936
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

9. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 9.
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging:

BRBLAEF, (BE)

AEBZBHRINEN (BR) MR

THIBRERL:

Period from
1 January
2022 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
R=-TB=-Z=F
—HA—HZ% HE
—E-= —E-—F
=A=+—-B +=-—A=+—H
HE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Auditor’s remuneration BB & 1,000 1,300
Cost of inventories FERA 125,638 753,868
Depreciation weE
— Owned -BF 639 7,533
- Right-of-use assets —PREEE 3,684 4,269
Employee benefit expense (including EERAMZ
Director’s remuneration): (BRESME) :
— Wages and salaries —TERF® 31,923 42 209
— Pension scheme contributions (Note a) — 3R ki& F| 5T 214 3%
(Kiita) 6,895 11,673
Total employee benefit expenses EERM M B 38,818 53,882
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BELREREZ
plant and equipment 518 - 1,320
Loss on written-off of inventories WiE T EEE - 12,180
Provision of loss allowance of B SRR RS ERE
trade receivables, net (Note b) SFEE (M itb) - 1,448
Provision of loss allowance of TERTRIE - & R H At FE UL
prepayments, deposits and MR RE R
other receivables, net (Note b) TR (B7atb) 34,316 825
Impairment loss on property, W WE MR ERE
plant and equipment (Note b) Ee (Mitb) - 90,738
Loss allowance on financial B EREH 2 EE
guarantee contracts (Note b) BE (b ) - 61,146
Notes: Biat

(a) As at 31 March 2023 and 31 December 2021, the Group had no
forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions to the
pension schemes in future years.

(b)  These balances are included in “Other operating expenses, net”
in the consolidated profit or loss.

(a) R-FE-_Z#FZHA=+—HFR-Z
——FFZA=F—H AXEFHY
7 A] FH1E 05, 5K 2 J2 AR (K48 Fl 5t

F| 2 EORH AR5

(b) HEHFAFEERERZ [EMEERH

% EBE A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 10. EEM<
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the BiEEMRA BB RA KO E
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong 383(1)(a)* (b)* (c) R (Hix kA a] (#F&
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies EEFEER) ROIBERE 2 AN F
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) BFEEHMMOT

Regulation, is as follows:

Period from
1 January 2022 Year ended
to 31 March 31 December
2023 2021
R-E_-_—
—A—HZE HE
—ZE_-= —E—F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—H
HR HEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Fees we 4,335 3,281
Other emoluments: HAib < -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind  #r & 285 R E¥1E Fl 3,989 3,423
Pension scheme contributions RIREFIFF B 46 36
4,035 3,459
8,370 6,740
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R e B R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

10.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 10. EEME (&)
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 BE-E-_=f=HA=+-—HLTH
18 A
Salaries and Pension
allowances and scheme Total
Fees  benefit in kind contributions remuneration
& BHR RIKER
He ENEF eIt BEm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TET TER S
Executive directors HiTES
Zhao Xu Guang )i 1,040 4,013 23 5,076
Wang Yijun I8 1,230 - 23 1,253
2,270 4,013 46 6,329
Non-executive directors FATES
Wong Siu Hung, Patrick B0 345 - - 345
Huang Man Yem ENE 345 - - 345
Jiang Jiansheng E3 % 450 - - 450
Tang Ching Fai* R IEE 212 - - 272
1,412 - - 1,412
Independent non-executive directors BV FHTES
To Wing Tim, Paddy OR 225 - - 225
Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie WEF 225 - - 225
Wang Wei Hsin T 225 - - 225
675 - - 675
Total E 4,357 4,013 46 8,416
* appointed on 6 April 2022 * R—F = —F A NAEZT
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

10. EEM<E (£Z)

RE-F-—F+-A=+-ALF
&

Salaries and Pension
allowances and scheme Total
Fees benefit in kind contributions remuneration
H¢ 28R RINER
#e EWEHN SR BET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT FEL TEL
Executive directors HTES
Zhao Xu Guang izl b 845 3423 18 4,286
Wang Yijun T%% 984 - 18 1,002
1,829 3,423 36 5,288
Non-executive directors FHTES
Wong Siu Hung, Patrick B 276 = = 276
Huang Man Yem 3¢ 276 = = 276
Jiang Jiansheng E3 360 - - 360
912 - - 912
Independent non-executive directors BV FHTES
To Wing Tim, Paddy AR 180 = = 180
Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie PREA 180 = = 180
Wang Wei Hsin T 180 = = 180
540 - - 540
Total @zt 3,281 3,423 36 6,740

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 and the year
ended 31 December 2021, no emolument of any director was
waived or agreed to waive and no emolument was paid by the
Group to any director as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

11.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals during the period included two
Directors (2021: three), details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 10 above. Details of the remuneration for the period
of the remaining three (2021: two) highest paid individuals are
as follows:

11.

EEEEH AL
AHEzABESHFALEEMEE
B(ZZ2-—F:=8) HFM=FHB
P EXXEE10 - AHRSB T =% (=
T —F :MB)RSFATIFHMF
BT

Period from
1 January 2022 Year ended
to 31 March 31 December
2023 2021

N-—E=-—

—H—HZE HE
—E-=F —E-—F
=B=+—-HB +ZA=+—H
[ LEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T FETT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 2B R EW@E 2,401 934
Pension scheme contributions IRRAEFET B30 66 26
2,467 960

The emoluments of the individual fall with the following bands
is as follows:

FMNFTIEBEZALTIT:

Number of employees

EE®E

Period from
1 January 2022 Year ended
to 31 March 31 December
2023 2021

R-EBE-_—F
—BA—HZ BHZE
—E_-= —EZ—F
=A=+—HA +=ZH=+—H
M LFE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,0007% 7T 2 2

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 T E

1,500,000/ 7T 1 -
3 2

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 and the year
ended 31 December 2021, no emolument was paid by the
Group to any of the above three (2021: two) highest paid
individual as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office.

BHE-_ZT-_—F-A=+—HLTH
BMARBE-_E-_—F+-_A=+—
BIEFE AEBEHEREM L=
H(ZEZ—F WMB)ERHFALTE
RERB 2 /E RSB A RS B =0
AREE R 2 ZE) BRI (E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was made as there
were no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 and the year ended 31

December 2021.

The income tax provision in respect of operations in the PRC is
calculated at the applicable tax rates of 25% on the estimated
assessable profits for the year based on existing legislation,

interpretations and practices.

12.

FrEBim
HREBILEERE DA WNEE
—E_=f=A=+—HIt+R@EAR
rBE-_T_—F+-_A=t—HL
FEIENFTANSHAIRREEG

BRETBRRG ZAEHBEEIIART
BRZAN 2EREMSER RR
F A fEE B RBUS F 2 25%38 A T &

Py
ST HE o

Period from
1 January
2022 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
NR—T—=—
—HA—B% HE
—E_=F —E—F
=A=+—H +=ZH=+—H
2™ IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Current — Hong Kong BVH— &% - =
Current — The PRC B HA — R
Provision for the period/year NEARE FERTR 387,817 =
387,817 -
Deferred tax expenses B/ FREEHRERS
for the period/year - 9,669
387,817 9,669

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023

BE-—FE-_=f=A=+—HLTH
& A

Hong Kong The PRC Total

5B e et

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET FHBT

Profit before tax R 56 A s ) 122,565 1,514,113 1,636,678

Tax at the statutory tax rate BEERMEFTE 2 FIE 20,223 378,528 398,751
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBEAWA R

and expenses not deductible A BRI 2
Mg & (20,223) 9,289 (10,934)
Tax provision HIERHR - 387,817 387,817
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 12. FiS®AxX (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_ZT-_—F+=-A=1+—HL*F
E
Hong Kong The PRC Total
B + BET
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FHET T FHIT
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (E518) % F (31,950) 10,437 (21,513)
Tax at the statutory tax rate WA EFTHE 2R (5,272) 2,609 (2,663)
Tax effect of income not taxable and ~ HZER AU A K
expenses not deductible AR RIS 2
Mz & 5,272 7,060 12,332
Tax expenses RIEM X = 9,669 9,669
13. PROFIT/(LOSS) PER SHARE 13. SREF, (FE)
Basic profit/(loss) per share BRENRF, (HR)
The calculation of basic profit/(loss) per share attributable ARalHEAEAEBMGEEREX S
to owners of the Company is based on the profit/(loss) for M/ (BE)DBEBEAABEESA
the period/year attributable to owners of the Company of FEEARERE,FERF, (BE)D
approximately HK$1,250,165,000 (2021: loss of approximately 1,250,165,0008 0 ( —E = —F : fF
HK$31,259,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary $84931,259,000/8 7T) + U R EIRE 2
shares of 287,071,349 (2021: 287,071,349) in issue during the 17 % 3B % hn & 15 £0287,071 349H>z
period. —T = —:287,071,34908) 5t &
Diluted profit/(loss) per share SREEERN (BA)
No diluted profit/(loss) per share are presented as the BHE_T-_="F=HA=+—HItTH
Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary sharing BARBZE-TE_—F+=A=*+—
during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 and the year HIEFE XA EEMEEEE
ended 31 December 2021. TREB M EHNTREEREFR,
(B#E) -
14. DIVIDEND 14. BKRE
The board of Directors does not recommend the payment EFSETEARERE T _=F=
of any dividend for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 A=+—BIE+RAEAZEFARKRE (=
(2021: Nil). T —F:E)-
h
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. M¥ BERRZRE
Other properties
leased for own
usecarried  Leasehold Fumacesand  Plantand  Computer  Fumiture Motor  Construction
Building atcost improvement infrastructure  machinery  equipment  and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
REASIEZ
EEfFERZ
53 AfthE EEWEAR EMREE HBEREE  EMRE  AARKE fE  ERIR &t
HK$'000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
TR THR TR TR ThR TR TR TR TR Tin
Cost
At 1 January 2021 371528 20038 1,653 521,209 621,500 75,301 408 4879 - 1862516
Addttions - - - - a1 - 2 - - 49
Disposals - - = - (1661) (41) - (208) - )
Exchange realignment 122% 343 - 17446 20541 2484 - 1,002 - 54117
At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022 383,823 20,381 1,653 544,655 640,813 71368 40 23816 - 1692919
Adations - 5112 - - - 63 - - - 5,835
Acquisiion of subsidiaries
(note 35(a)) - - - - - - - - 1716167 1,776,167
Disposal of subsidlaries HENBAR (357513) (9,669) - (Go721)  (596887)  (7205) - (18,701) - (1,562,156)
Transfer £+ - (9977) - - - - - - - (0977)
Exchange realignment Ejae (26,310) (734) - (37334) (43,926) (5,303) - (1,376) - (114,983)
At 31 March 2023 - 5,773 1,653 - - 63 40 3739 1776167 1787805
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment £ TERHE
At 1 January 2021 W=F=-£-A-A 338,696 7562 1653 471128 617,364 74,257 2 41,684 - 1558606
Charge for the year Ehxi 2591 4269 - 283 613 k7] 81 1,091 - 1802
Writen back on disposals HERHE - - - - (634) (409) - (20962) = (22,005)
Impairment loss HEEE 30783 7710 - 48074 2,994 730 - 37 - 90738
Exchange realignment Bring 11753 260 = 16619 476 2467 = 77 = 52494
At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022 383,623 19,828 1,653 544,655 640,813 T1368 ki) 21m - 1691685
Charge for the period R - 3684 - - - 35 4 600 - 4323
Written back on disposal of subsidiaries (357513) (9,669) - (507321)  (596,867) (72,065) - (18,701) - (1,562,156)
Transfer - (9977) - - - (29) P - - (997)
Exchange realignment (26,310) (734) - (37334) (43,926) (5,303) - (1,376) - (114983
At31 March 2023 WEZZFZA=1-R - 37 1,653 - - 6 406 3,700 - 8,892
Carrying amount kaEE
At31 March 2023 RZBZ=%=A=1-A - 2,646 - - - 57 4 N 176167 1778913
At 31 December 2021 RIBZ-F+ZA=1-R - 55 - - - - 3 639 - 1,234
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15. ¥ BERREE (&)
The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of AR & BIRRBBSORRBUR ZKH
its plant and machinery in year ended 31 December 2021 FEEE AEEREE-T=_—F
as a result of the Group shut down its coking furnaces in TZA=T—HIEFEEHERKE M
accordance with the requirements of the national environmental HNAWESBETTEE - ZREE
policy. These assets are used in the Group’s coal-related ERRAEERERBENESER
ancillary segment and coke production segment. The reviews EREED B ZEFEELSHHERRE
led to the recognition of an impairment loss of HK$90,738,000, E51890,738,000% 7t * i B 2 £ 18
that has been recognised in profit or loss. No recoverable MR EBEEYIRE ATREE
amount of the relevant assets has been determined on the HORBACHABE FABRRE
basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow method mEX(E=EANREHE)METE -
(level 3 fair value measurements). The discount rate used was FRABITIAEAE11.93% °
11.93%.
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Disclosures of lease-related items: THEMRBIERHE:
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E_=F T —F
=A=+—-8H +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Land and buildings T RIEF 2,646 558
Period from
1 January
2022 Year ended
to 31 March 31 December
2023 2021
NR—TB——
—HA—B= HZE
—E_=F T —F
=A=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H
HAM HFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets  # FAEEE 2 T E L H
- Land and buildings — T REF 3,684 4,269
Lease interests HEF L 702 558
Total cash outflow for leases HERS KL 2% 5,329 4,742
Additions to right-of-use assets ERAREERE 5,772 =

The Group leases various land use rights, land and buildings.
Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to
10 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

AEBEHESELI MERE TR
BF -HEHEEEHREEH2E
10F-HEGAEENEHEE &
FEEERNRGR &S - HE R
AT ENEARE BHEEED
SREREZHERR-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 16. EAABEGTABRZERMEE

OR LOSS
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—ZE_-= —E-—F
=RA=+—H +=—A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT T T
Private club debenture — fair value FASHES —RERMS
measured at quoted price WEFECANE
in active market 1,508 1,508
Detailed information in relation to the fair value measurement FEEZARBFEEBZHFRE
of the items above are set out in note 37 to the consolidated BB R G SRR 37 -
financial statements.
17. INVENTORIES 17 FE&
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—EgE=-= —E-—F
=g=+-8 +=A=+-8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Raw materials FE R - 3,111
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. E S EUWIIR
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E-= —F—F
=A=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade receivables: S EMBIRK
— third parties —F=5 - 644,941
— non-controlling shareholder of ——FAI b B A R FE4E A%
a subsidiary (Note 20) R&ER (B 7E20) - 234,228
— related companies (Note 20(c)) — BB R R (ffaE20(c)) - 49,588
- 928,757
Less: loss allowance W EEERE = (150,2835)
- 778,522
Less: Current portion W BNERER > - (494,706)
Non-current portion FEBNERES 9 - 283,816

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables (net of loss
allowance) by invoice date at the end of the reporting period is

RBSHR RERAH2IZESH
FEMIR R (FIER B R ) 2 WRile D AT

as follows: A
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E-= —E-—F
=B=+—-8B +=-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 3 months =@AR - 242 285
3 to 4 months —ZEMEA - 44,711
Over 4 months @ {E A - 491,526
= 778,522

Information about the Group's exposure to credit risks and loss
allowance for trade receivables are set out in note 38(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

FREARBEERNEERRLRESE
WIRREBBENER RN ERE T
R P FE38(b) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19.

AR - RERH M ERIRR

31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—EZZ=HF —T-—F
=A=+—-8 +=—A=+—8H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Prepayments, deposits and other FEWE=7 2 BFIE
receivables due from third parties T N H b UL bR 3k 25,699 113,624
Other receivables due from the FE U — B BB & B FEHE AR
non-controlling shareholder of PR 3R 2 H i FE W IR 5K
a subsidiary (Note 20) (K1z20) - 363,077
Borrowing for and related interest B8 RAEEF S A
charged back to Jinyan Electricity ®EEN (H77E20)
(Note 20) - 785,612
Prepayments and other receivables JE UR BB RS A &) 2 TEAT 5R08
due from related companies K2 EL A WUIR 50
(Note 20(c)) (K1a220(c)) - 125,588
Trade deposits and other receivables BEREECESEE R
from Energy Technology (Note 20) H A E YR SR (HaE20) 161,679 137,592
Less: Loss allowance W BEREE (58,314) (96,367)
129,064 1,429,126
Less: Current portion R BERES 9 (129,064) (154,849)
Non-current portion FERNHAEE 5> - 1,274,277
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

20. AMOUNT DUE FROM THE NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

20. FEWRHE A FFERRRARE

31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
=A=+—-B +ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Trade receivables (Note 18) B P REWIRK (H:7E18)

(Notes a and c) (Kiatakc) - 234,228

Other receivables (Note 19) HAb IR K (A7:219)

(Notes b and c) (Kiitbkc) - 363,077

Borrowing for and related interest BE BB EFA

charged back to Jinyan Electricity eaEN (HiE19)
(Note 19) - 785,612

Trade deposits and other receivables BEREIRZE SRR

from Energy Technology (Note 19) Hth pE IR 5K (A77£719) 127,363 =
127,363 1,382,917

Less: Current portion W BNERES 9 (127,363) —

Non-current portion FEBNERER - 1,382,917

Notes: Miet -

(a)  The balances are trade in nature and non-interest-bearing. (a) #BEHBXZMEERTEE -

(b)  The balances are advances to the non-controlling shareholder, (b) BERTETHERRRERZBH TS
which are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. TEHEWEIZEKIERE -

(c)  On 31 December 2018, GRG Huscoke, an indirect 90%-owned (c) RZF-NFEF+ZHA=+—H =%
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a debt transfer EME (BA R E]EEEBIO%
agreement with Jinyan Electricity, Xiaoyi ILNG Natural Gas CHE LR e EE N EETE
Production Company Limited* (& i1 & 55 B B X A 5 & i BRERBAARAFEEERL A ([EE
HIR 22 7E]) (“Xiaoyi ILNG”) and Energy Technology (the ‘Debt BE) REEFTFIHF ([BHZEA])
Assignee’), and Mr. Wen Kezhong* (8 £ 564), pursuant BB LTI B EE
to which GRG Huscoke, the Jinyan Electricity and Debt B cEME 5B REF
Assignee agreed to assign the trade and other receivables REANAERZ2EENCEZRE
from the Jinyan Electricity of approximately RMB365,826,000 1t JE Y IR 50 49 A R #5:365,826,0007T
(equivalent to approximately HK$411,627,000) together with (FHZE R 49411,627,0007% 7T ) 22 [7] fEE
aggregate amounts due from its affiliates of approximately WHE B E 2 75].2 SR AL BB AN R
RMB36,477,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$41,044,000) 36,477,0007T (16 & R #741,044,000
to the Debt Assignee (together the “Assigned Debt’) (the ‘Debt BIT)EETEFZZA(GHE
Assignment”). BEEK) ([EFEEZ])-

h
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

20. AMOUNT DUE FROM THE NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(c)

(Continued)

Further details of the Debt Assignment are set out in the
Company's announcement dated 3 January 2019. The Debt
Assignment is only pursuable subject to the fulfillment of certain
conditions including the approval from the Stock Exchange
and the approval of shareholders of the Company at a special
general meeting (“SGM’). According to the Debt Assignment,
the Assigned Debt is interest-bearing at 5% p.a. and the Debt
Assignee shall repay the Assigned Debt within 1 year from the
date of the Debt Assignment together with accrued interest. A
conversion right is also granted to the JV Subsidiary which can
partially or fully convert the Assigned Debt to not more than
12% of the enlarged registered capital of the Debt Assignee
by subscription of new registered capital or transfer of existing
registered capital held by Xiaoyi ILNG within 1 year from the
date of the Debt Assignment. The Assigned Debt is secured by
12% registered capital of the Debt Assignee held by Xiaoyi ILNG
and the personal guarantee from Mr. Wen Kezhong* (/8 72 &7t
£

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
5 November 2019, the Company entered into a new framework
agreement (“New Framework Agreement’) with GRG Huscoke,
Jinyan Electricity, Xiaoyi Jianeng Coal Chemical Technology
Development Company Limited* (£ £ i1 52 B /R 1L B} 15 B &
FR2A]), Energy Technology, Xiaoyi ILNG, Mr. Yang Linhai*
(B#EH4£) and Mr. Wu Tangjun* (iR % (£ % 4 ) pursuant
to which the Company and/or designated company within the
Group intend to acquire and to subscribe for the share capital of
Energy Technology such that the Company will be interested in a
controlling shareholding stake of more than 50% of the enlarged
share capital of Energy Technology.

Pursuant to the New Framework Agreement, the parties shall
negotiate and enter into formal agreemeni(s) pursuant to the
major business terms, as set out under the New Framework
Agreement. Subject to the entering into of the relevant formal
agreement(s), one of the major business term is Jinyan
Electricity, Energy Technology and GRG Huscoke intend to
update the amount of the Assigned Debt from approximately
RMB402,303,000 as at 30 June 2018 to approximately
RMB448,087,000 as at 30 June 2019 and the GRG Huscoke
shall be entitled with a conversion right to convert the
indebtedness into not less 12% of the enlarged issued share
capital of Energy Technology. The final conversion percentage
will be subject to the valuation of Energy Technology.

New Framework Agreement is subject to the fulfillment of certain
conditions including the approval from the Stock Exchange and
the approval of shareholders of the Company at a SGM.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED FE 2R B R 2 7

20.

FE WL Fff i A B SR IR IR SR =

RIE (&)

Hret: (&)

(c)

(%)

BRERERT E—HFBHARL
RAABB=—FE—NF—H=HZ
RER - EFEEAFE FIESF (E
RIS R AL Al R RRE
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ER R IR (EE - IR IF (BTS2 %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

20. AMOUNT DUE FROM THE NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(c)

(Continued)

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
17 September 2020, the Company entered into the termination
agreement with GRG Huscoke, Jinyan Electricity, Xiaoyi ILNG,
Mr. Yang Linhai and Mr. Wu Tangjun pursuant to which the
parties agreed to terminate the Debt Assignment. The Company
has entered into Merger and Acquisition Framework Agreement
(the "M&A Framework Agreement”) with the GRG Huscoke and
a target company, pursuant to which the Company andj/or the
Company may through direct investment and/or establishment
of a merger and acquisition fund (the "M&A Fund”) may acquire
and subscribe for more than 50% of the enlarged share capital
of Energy Technology.

If the transactions under the M&A Framework Agreement
materialises, upon completion of the transactions, the Company
andfor the M&A Fund is expected to hold more than 50% of
enlarged share capital in Energy Technology.

On 26 March 2021, the Group entered into a cooperation
agreement with Energy Technology and Jinyan Electricity
(“Cooperation Agreement’) pursuant to which GRG Huscoke
entrusts Energy Technology for the construction of a new coking
furnace which has a height of 7.1 meters with annual production
capacity of at least 600,000 tons of coke at a total investment
amount of approximately RMBE600,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$712,660,000). Energy Technology agreed to undertake the
receivables and interests receivables due from Jinyan Electricity
and its related parties by GRG Huscoke and GRG Huscoke
agreed that Energy Technology shall settle the aforesaid
construction project by these receivables.

On 15 March 2022, the Company subsequently entered into an
agreement ("Agreement’) and a debt transfer agreement (“Debt
Transfer Agreement’) with GRG Huscoke, Energy Technology,
Jinyan Electricity and Xiaoyi ILNG to modify and supplement the
terms of the Cooperation Agreement with the inclusion of remedy
and compensation actions as a result of the Incident. Pursuant
to the Debt Transfer Agreement, Energy Technology agrees to
undertake all the receivables and interests receivables due from
Jinyan Electricity and its related parties by GRG Huscoke (the
‘Receivables”). Under the circumstances that any contingent
liabilities arising in the Incident have subsequently occurred and
are to be recognised, Energy Technology and Jinyan Electricity
will be obligated to compensate the contingent liabilities to GRG
Huscoke by the way of increasing GRG Huscokes receivable
due from Energy Technology in the same amount as the
contingent liabilities.

20. FEWHEQRAFZERRRRE (F)

Hret: (&)

(c)

(%)

HZIBH ARG AR =—FE=FFN
A++tHZAE KABJH &
w2 EEN EBERE BHEE
ERBEELETT LI HZ
UE - ET#9 T [R] B AR I (B T B R - KL
A% & iz R —F B 1ERFIET 7
FEEIEZR 173 (B ER =)
Bt AR AR AL I REBE
BRER HEAEMHERD ([H
FBEE )W HE I GRIE LR P A 15
A 18R 1850% °

T HENEZ 55 T YK 518K E
EXRBTHE KRR LGEER
£ B 15 B BRI RASIEA KR
KB #50% °

R-DEFE-—F = -+ NH &
BEHEEFREREEENEGT L — 17
BREEwE ([BREEGHE]) -
Bt & EFEZTEREIBEER
—BEE7. 1K FEE R L E60E
BTN BRE L EABARKE
600,000,000t (16 & K712,660,000
BIL) cBERBI BRI ERIELEES
REFH TR % 5 F5% 609 E KR
HRENFIE - 12 &5 B R
FIRUZE WIS E Lk Zak
EH -

R—EFE——F=H+HH FIFIfE
#HEE S R 25 &
REBEEFTV— 5% ([Z &)
R—EEE#E G ([EEEER
B KEARFTRERS EE
HI K - 6192 B 3% F 14 T R 8 47 7
REFETTE - IRIFKIB TS B 5% 5% B
R R E A E 2w &) RE
T TR % & Tl 55 89 BT 5 FE IR 54 K&
JEWTFIE ([EWIRF]) - 7% F 1+
REERFAEXAE EREEFLEA
R R T BEIRFIHR R 2 &
ERBEFRNEEMEEERLS
B& WEERBIER 25 M52 fE
WHRH LIZ M A B EZ AZEEE
BT A TTREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

20. AMOUNT DUE FROM THE NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

*

(c)

(Continued)

Pursuant to the Agreement, Energy Technology will
unconditionally transfer not less than 90% of the equity interests
of Energy Jiarun, which owned two 7.1-meter top-loading
coking furnaces with an aggregate annual production capacity
being not less than 1,200,000 tons of coke, to the Group as
the compensation of the Incident to the Company and GRG
Huscoke. The potential transaction contemplated under the
Cooperation Agreement and the Agreement is subject to the
fulfilment of certain conditions including the approval from
the Stock Exchange and the approval of shareholders of the
Company at a SGM. The Company's interest in Energy Jiarun will
offset the total Receivables upon the completion of the aforesaid
transfer of equity interests. As such, the receivables due from
the non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary were classified
as non-current assets as at 31 December 2021 as it is expected
that the receivables will be settled by other non-current assets.

Since Shanxi Huscoke International Energy Co., Ltd* (11 75155
EifXE)R B IR 2> 7]) (“Shanxi Huscoke”) will receive the equity
interests in Energy Jiarun at the expense of offsetting the total
Receivables payable to GRG Huscoke, the abovementioned
transactions will incidentally result in the outstanding balance
payable by the new subsidiary to GRG Huscoke in the same
amount as the total Receivables.

To facilitate the Disposal and as an intergroup arrangement, on
26 July 2022, the new subsidiary and GRG Huscoke entered
into an agreement (the “Waive Agreement’), pursuant to which
GRG Huscoke will waive the new subsidiary the outstanding
balance to a remaining amount of RMB60,000,000. All the
conditions precedent under the Waive Agreement have been
fulfilled and the completion of the Waive took place on 29 March
2023 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Waive
Agreement. Accordingly, gain on such waiver was included in
gain on disposal of subsidiaries for the fifteen months ended 31
March 2023.

For identification purpose only
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20.

*

FE Lz Bff B 2 B) I 22 IR R SRR3R (48)

Hret: (&)

(c)

(%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 21. BERBITERE
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
=A=+—-8B +=—A=+—A”
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash and bank balances Re RRTHET 601 7,903
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on RITRSEERETARITFERIEL
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made F B FI R BRELF B o R T AN 5 B B B
for varying periods of between one day and three months ReEFR EENF—RBE=ZBAT
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, FERNERATESHFR TiEEER
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit B BT R R BRER A B o sR1T 415
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy GREDHTEENELNERATS
banks with no recent history of default. HYERTT ©
22. TRADE PAYABLES 22. BESEMKRR
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the RBERR EBEZEAHTECES
reporting periods, based on the invoice date, is as follows: FEIRRZIRE AT T
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E_=F —E—F
=A=+—-8H +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Within 3 months =EAR - 178,120
3 to 4 months =ZMEA - 66,217
Over 4 months 8 38 PO {E A - 238,229
- 482,566
h
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

23. OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS 23. HMEMIRK EtRE - SlkEke

RECEIVED AND DEFERRED INCOME RIEZEW A
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
=A=+—H +=ZHA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other payables and accrued charges HEMEARRRETEA 59,199 225,399
Amount due to a former subsidiary FEAS — R AUHT B A RI5KIE 58,504 =
Dividend payables to non-controlling JE T FEFE AR AR SR AR 2
shareholders - 6,135
Contract liabilities (Note a) aHEE (Hita) - 149,914
Deferred income (Note b) EEWA (M iEb) - 5,521
Interest payable for Jinyan Electricity TEBNHEBEE
related borrowing FEAT T B - 269,937
Other tax payable H b e FIE - 230,235
Tax penalty payable ERTHIES S - 96,001
117,703 983,142
Less: Current portion R BNERER 9 (59,199) (977,621)
Non-current portion JEBNERER 9> 58,504 5,521
Notes: ki
(a) The movements of contract liabilities from contracts with (a) BIAREEHYEREERE 15598
customers within HKFRS 15 during the period are as follows: ANEEFZENELEZSLBE
e
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—EC-=HF —E-—F
=A=t+t-B +=A=+-~
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fax FHAT
At beginning of the reporting period PR EH 149,914 169,335
Recognised as revenue R AU A (29,810) (101,353)
Receipt of advances U B #A SR - 76,730
Disposal of subsidiaries S M E A A (110,237) =
Exchange realignment FE 5, 38 % (9,867) 5,202
At end of the reporting period R¥rE R - 149,914

156
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

(a)

(b)

23. OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS 23. HMESIER EFFRE BWiRE
RECEIVED AND DEFERRED INCOME (Continued) RIBEWA (£)
Notes: (Continued) Hte: (&)
(Continued) (a) (%)
Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations RIBEHK DI EREKEL
unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period and expected to be EFUEARU T FEERS
recognised as revenue in: WA ZXF1E :
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E-= —E-—F
=g=+-8 +=A=t+-8
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
2022 —F-— - 149,914
- 149,914
A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer BHBEEFEBHNE HEFK
products or services to a customer for which the Group has RREBE(HEATEEFKNRREL
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) BFH) A EF 5% K08 2L 1E (IR
from the customer. BHIE -
Deferred income represented government grant to subsidiaries (b) BHEWAIERERFEREIETR
in the PRC with attaching conditions to be complied with, in T BB 2 7.2 BT B = (T
respect of the construction of atmospheric monitoring system, B TFIRIE) B EGRATE HE F
which will be recognised as other income when all the required 1R FIF IR B E MM -
conditions are complied with.
h
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24, BORHEMEE
31 March 2023 31 December 2021
—E-=E=f=+-H —Z-—%+-A=t+—-H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BB FI% (%) B TET  BRAE%) Ealji T
Bank borrowings: RTEE -
Secured bank borrowings HEES AR 2018-2022
related to Jinyan Electricity ~ BEBRITEE N/A N/A —T-N\EZE
(Note a) (Hiita) TEH TER - 485% —E--F 365,380
- 365,380
Other borrowings: AMEE:
Unsecured other borrowings ~ E2&EE H BB
related to Jinyan Electricity ~ EEFEMEE N/A N/A 2016
(Note b) (Hiith) FEH TEH - 1278% —EB—RE 150,295
Unsecured other borrowings & E M (& On demand 2022
(Note c) (Hiizc) 12% BREX 200,000 10% —B-=fF 200,000
Unsecured other borrowings & E M (£ & 2020
(Note d) (Hiitd) 0% 2020 18,188 0% <—B-EF 18,188
218,188 368,483
218,188 733,863
Analysed into: AR
Within 12 months TZEARS
or on demand BIRER 218,188 733,863
218,188 733,863
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(@)

At 31 December 2021, bank borrowings were guaranteed
by the non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary and its
related companies. Certain bank borrowing of approximately
RMB99,970,000 (equivalent to HK$122,653,000) was secured
by the pledge of a forest land use right owned by a third-party
entity.

At 31 December 2021, other borrowings were guaranteed by an
independent third party.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the lender and
the Group entered into memorandum of understanding on
the default interest payment. According to memorandum of
understanding, the event of default was removed upon the
settlement of outstanding interest and default interest on 23
March 2021. Thus, the maturity date of the Group’s other
borrowing of HK$200,000,000 is in 2022. During the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2023, the Group has failed to make its
contractual principal and interest payment of its other borrowing
of HK$200,000,000, which maturity date is in 2022. The lender
has requested immediate payment on the borrowing and
accrued interest.

At 31 March 2023, included in other borrowings were loans
from a former Director, who resigned on 7 September 2018, of
HK$1,751,000 (2021: HK$1,751,000) and a Director of GRG
Huscoke of HK$3, 195,000 (2021: HK$3,195,000).

24.

RITREMEE (2)
ik
(a RZ-ZF-Z—F+-A=+—H #

(b)

(c)

(@)

TEE R — BN B LAl kA A
B E) FEFEIR IR R IEA(R o B T HR7T 15
E#A K #99,970,0007T (182 R
122,653,0008 70 ) A — 1] = 5 &
FEHER B PR (& T P FERE FRIEIR

R-FZ—F+-f=1—FH K
MEES —EBVE=TER-

HBEr—_F-——4F+=-A=+—Hi
FE BN KK EE 5t # X FE
1 30 5T 7 a5 A7 1 5 67 - IR IR AR AR 1
Tt EAEMR —FE - —F=H
A ZHBEERMNFERELFE
BWEH AU NEBE M EE
200,000,000 TR —F = —4F%
H - REZT - FE-_=ZF=/F=+—
BiF+HEA XEBLETHAE
1t & BE200,000,000:% 7T B9 & #)K %
RFEMFT ZEER-F=—F
FH - BHNBEL TR (TEER
JEFFIE °

R-F-—ZF=ZH=+—H BEmE
B —EHFEE(R=2F—/F
NA+HEF) 2 BE#1,751,000
T (ZFE-—4: 1,751,000087T) %
L& Mz —EEEZEH3 195000
BT (ZF=—4F: 3195000/
JT) e
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

25. LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HEEE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities TRINTAEERRERNRZEESR
of the Group's lease liabilities at the end of the reporting B2 TEHEEA
period:
At 31 March 2023 R-B-=5=ZA=+—H
Minimum lease
payments Interest Present value
BREAEMR FE RE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEx THET
Not later than one year —F2ZR 2,785 (68) 2,717
At 31 December 2021 R-BE-_—F+-A=+—H
Minimum lease
payments Interest Present value
BEHAERNRK ZAIES) BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT FHET
Not later than one year —F2ZR 1,816 (399) 1,417
Later than one year and —FE_4F
not later than two years 1,227 (354) 873
Later than two years and TERE
not later than five years 3,681 (790) 2,891
More than five years FRiE A 4,192 (339) 3,853
10,916 (1,882) 9,034
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E_=F T —F
=A=t—-H +=ZHA=+—H~
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Current liabilities mBBE 2,717 1,417
Non-current liabilities JERBBIE - 7,617
2,717 9,034
The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate REETBIRARAERZEEAR
applied to lease liabilities recognised in the consolidated FTRER 2 M T EBAEEEER
statement of financial position is 5.0% (2021: ranging from RAES0% (ZEZ—F N F49%E
4.9% to 5.3%). 5.3%) °
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26. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS 26. MBEREN

31 March 31 December

2023 2021
—ZE_-= —E—F
=HA=+—-B +ZHA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
At beginning of the reporting period MRS HA ) 148,210 139,200
Amortisation of financial guarantee B 75 AR M i8R
provision (124,632) (56,814)
Loss allowance on financial guarantee B TSIER A O 2 BIEEE
contracts - 61,146
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAQR (15,129) =
Exchange realignment ME H, 38 & (8,449) 4,678
At end of the reporting period REREER - 148,210
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

27, EEBEBEBEE &
BERBEE,/ (BAB)RHFR

27. DEFERRED TAX ASSET/LIABILITY

The movements in deferred tax asset/(liability) during the

period/year are as follows: ZEEMT
Temporary Undistributed
differences on profits of a PRC
impairment subsidiary Total
—EHE
HEZ MEARZ
TRMHEE KD BLRR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET FET
At 1 January 2021 \—E-—fF—F—A 9,512 (5,938) 3,574
Deferred tax charge to FREBENR 2
profit or loss during the year RAERTIE (9,669) = (9,669)
Exchange realignment B 5 G2 157 (197) (40)
At 31 December 2021 and R-B-—4%
1 January 2022 +-A=+—H8XK
e e = - (6,135) (6,135)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHRB AR - 5,714 5,714
Exchange realignment b 5 R - 421 421
At 31 March 2023 RZTZ=F
=A=+—H - - -

—BEhENERRZRD ERF

REFPBEEEMEHE KPP B
ZIBLERAFIMEETRZBE
BRAI0% 2 BENH - ARERER-F
ENF-A-BRER XERAR -

Undistributed profits of a PRC subsidiary

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008

and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding tax on dividends distributable
by the subsidiary established in the PRC in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2021, deferred tax liability in respect of
HK$6,135,000 (equivalent to RMB5,000,000) has been
provided.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1E % E BR 2 5

EZLF+ A=+ —HBZEN-
i B IR IMR EEPTB RDERER
BRI A BB EL AR Z EMH X
AREER -BASEME - EAHE
#310% ° AN 55 B A 1t 75 5L 7 R B A AL
ZHBRARAN-ZTZTNF—H—HBHI
KRELENAEDIIEKEEZEBNE B
Mz &L

RZFZ—F+=-A=+—H ' Bff
i JE 7 T8 B & B 156,135,000/ 7T
(FE R AR #5,000,0007T) °
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

27.

28.

29.

DEFERRED TAX ASSET/(LIABILITY) (Continued) 27 EZEBEEE(AE) (&)
Loss available for offsetting against future taxable A AEEERRERBER 2 B8
profits
The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of AEERBEAELECHEERE
HK$34,936,000 (2021: HK$34,936,000) that are available £34,936,0008 L (—Z T = — & :
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the 34,936,000 7T) + A ft 4R PR HA A 1R 3K
companies in which the losses arose. HEAEBE 2 ANE 2 RRERBURF]
At 31 December 2021, the Group had tax losses arising in the RZFEZ—F+=/A=+—8"
PRC of HK$519,800,000 that are available for offsetting against AEERTRESLAZCHEEER
future taxable profits within 5 years of the companies in which 519,800,000/ 7t - A] 54 N A {E
the losses arose. HEAEE 2 N A2 RIRERTUHF] o
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of W IR ERERELERIEE
these tax losses as it is not considered probable that taxable E -EAKREERATKNAEEER
profits will be available against which the above amounts can s A B bt 58 o
be utilised.
SHARE CAPITAL 28. BRZA
31 March 2023 31 December 2021
ZB-ZH¥=ZA=1-H ZB_-f+-A=t-H
No. of ordinary No. of ordinary
shares HK$°000 shares HK$'000

LER#A FET LidkEA FHET

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each # /X EE0.10E 1.2
ZAR

Authorised ETE 2,000,000,000 200,000 2,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid BB 287,071,349 28,707 287,071,349 28,707
Details of the Company’s share option schemes and the share AN A RE AR B R At B AR PR BT B 81T
options issued under the schemes are included in note 29 to Z B AR ST IB AN R A B IS TR B
the consolidated financial statements. 29 -
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 29. BRESHE

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Eligible
participants of the share option scheme include the directors
and employees of the Group. A share option scheme became
effective on 31 May 2002 and expired on 31 May 2012 (the
‘2002 Scheme”). A new share option scheme was adopted
and became effective on 28 March 2013 and expired on 28
March 2023 (the “2013 Scheme”). Unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, the 2002 Scheme and 2013 Scheme (collectively,
the “Share Option Schemes”) will remain in force for ten years
from the effective date.

RAEZRBHERAAETEIAME RS
BEXEBRMEHERM A EKRDHEE
RHFEE LB R BRBETE A
ER2EERBEAEEZEERE
B-ERHEAEN T -_F1A
Zt+—HEB IR _FE——FH A
=t+t—HEM(ZEZ=_F58])-
RRABERMFTEREAESE ER
—E—=ZFZA-+NHERIR =
E_ZFZA-_t+N\BER(=2
—=F58)) BB EHEMISETI -
R _FHBER T -=F:HE (&
BR8] ) KR AEE Ak
BEEWAFo
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

29.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options permitted
to be granted under the Share Option Schemes was an amount
equivalent to, upon their exercise, 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at the respective dates of approval
of the Share Option Schemes. The maximum number of
shares issuable under share options granted to each eligible
participant in the Share Option Schemes within any 12-month
period was limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting
of the Company.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive Director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the
price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting of the
Company.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. Options may
be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
options to the end of the exercise period.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
Directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average closing price
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings of the Company.

Under the 2013 Scheme, options were granted to eligible
participants and there were no outstanding options to
subscribe for shares at the beginning and at the end of the
reporting period.

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes
in the Company’s share capital.
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BRETE (F)

IRIEE A iR T BB R H M R TT (R
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BB R B R AT 8 ME AT 128 A B R &
BERSEERK 2 BRER T %
TZBEN&EEHERRAR R RAEMR
FF ] B BETT AR 19 2 1% = 8 H L PR I 3
—FREBRABEARARBBREAXN
G LSRR AL

RYARARERE - EBTHRAE E
TR R AT A B B A & 2 PR AR A 4
ARBBIERNTEST 2B E-
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ERE-BLIERTE S K E M
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Bz BRI AR H A B1&28H
MR FRAEREANE H1E
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BRHEE B ETEIRERITE-
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BRAT&ESE: (VAR B RMD K
R A R S B OB S P 2 Wi (B ¢ (i)
ARBBEHNREER L BHATAER
Z BN BE R F 2 F U (B + R (i) AR
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BERURTEETHEAZTAEREX
RARBBRRAEG LIRTZ 2 HEF] -
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

30. RESERVES 30. f##E
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company RAREERANERE FE 2 &8
during the period/year are as follows: (ERUNNE
Capital
Share  Contributed Special  redemption Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
R EE PN KEfRE BREABRRE L EE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T THT T
Note (a) Note (b)
Wizt (a) itz (b)
At 1 January 2021 RZF=—-F—-A—H 346,554 1,731,681 17,275 85 (2,352,933) (257,338)
Loss for the year and total AEEBBEREAEE
comprehensive expense 2ERXEE
for the year - - - - (16,764) (16,764)
At 31 December 2021 and i
1 January 2022 TZA=+-Bk
—ZE-_—_%—-HA-H 346,554 1,731,681 17,275 85 (2,369,697) (274,102)
Loss for the period and total 7 Hi fE 518 % 7k AR
comprehensive expense PERXEE
for the period - - - - (44,855) (44,855)
At 31 March 2023 RZZZ=F
ZA=+-A 346554 1,731,681 17275 8  (2414552)  (318,957)

Notes: HeE -

(a) The contributed surplus represents the excess of the value (a) WREBRZF-NAN—FRTZEE
of shares converted upon conversion of the 2008 Convertible 4O A BEBRIEA IR =FZF/N
Bonds and 2019 Convertible Bonds over the nominal amount FARRERR -F—NFAREKR
of the ordinary shares issued pursuant to section 40(1) of the EREF LB RGEERELE ZFT
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the credit arising from the AR E] 8 o BB R BN E A E
capital reorganisation. R

(b)  The special reserve represents the difference between the (b) I FEIENE 2 Bl R L a] Y fE
nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries at the date when R17E H.Z R EE 8RN G5
the shares were acquired by the Company and the nominal BEZETRGEES Z5E -
amount of the Company s shares issued for the acquisition.

h
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

31. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- 31.
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

BREAKEREZZHZENE
A
FRAEERFERER 2 ASEH B A
A ZFEBEIT

166

Energy Jiarun BEREH
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E_=F —E—F
=A=+—-8H +=ZA=+—H
Percentage of equity interest held by REE B 2 JEER =
non-controlling interests FrEsIER 7
at the reporting date 10% N/A 3 A
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—B-=f —F-—F
=B=+—-8 +=ZA=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Loss for the period/year allocated to DEEFERER
non-controlling interests RNEIR,FEEE 2) N/A N8 A
Accumulated balances of non-controlling W ¥4 B Hi 2 JEE AR #E 25
interests at the reporting date R R 177,617 N/A i A
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E-=F —E—F
=p=+-8 +=A=+-H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Revenue WA - N/A 3@
Other income and gains H U R U ek - N/A 7~ A
Total expenses Sz 4858 (19) N/A i F
Loss for the period/year RERRS S FEEE (19) N/A 3@ A
Total comprehensive expense AER FEE2EMY
for the period/year FEkE] (19) N/A 3@ A
Current assets MENEE 1 N/A 38 A
Non-current assets EMBEE 1,776,167 N/A 738 A
Current liabilities MEBE (20) N/A i@ B
Non-current liabilities ERBAE - N/A i A
Net cash flows from operating activities KEKEEB RS
FRE - N/A 7~ A
Net cash flows from investing activities REREXEB RERE
SRR - N/A 71~ 3
Net cash flows from financing activities KEMEEBZRERE
JHER - N/A 73 3
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents R4 &3R4 S E¥E N
FRE - N/A 73 F
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

31.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- 31.

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

BREAFEREZZFZENE

D7 (&)

GRG Huscoke SENE
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E-= T —F
=A=+—-8B +=—A=+—AH
Percentage of equity interest held by MRS BB 2 JEERR =
non-controlling interests FrEiRiER»
at the reporting date - 10%
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E_=F T —F
ZA=+—-H +ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
(Loss)/profit for the period/year allocated 7 Bt = JEIE A2 2 7N
to non-controlling interests HEFE (F58)
ikl (1,302) 77
Accumulated balances of non-controlling W ¥4 B 81~ SR #E 25
interests at the reporting date S 13 - (13,859)
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E-= T —F
=A=+—8A +=ZHA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue WA 34,726 866,602
Other income and gains H At Ug A B Uk % 286,102 225,753
Total expenses il 48 %8 (333,851) (1,091,581)
(Loss)/profit for the period/year AEREFE (B8
ikl (13,023) 774
Total comprehensive expenses AER FEEEMY
for the period/year ] (365) (1,235)
Current assets TMENE E - 532,431
Non-current assets ERBEE - 1,579,908
Current liabilities meaE - (2,275,127)
Non-current liabilities EMBEE = (19,272)
Net cash flows from operating activities REREEBZHERE
R 1,400 962
Net cash flows from investing activities KEREXEBZRERE
R - 391
Net cash flows used in financing activiies FARREEK RS RE
HEE (1,448) (1,449)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR & N8 & S E ¥
R (48) (96)
h
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

32.

33.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 December 2021, the Group did
not have any significant contingent liabilities which have not
been provided for in these financial statements.

LITIGATIONS

The Group received notification issued by LLIFa& A R 4%
ANBRJEBT (Shanxi Province Taiyuan City Intermediate People’s
Court) (the “Taiyuan Court”) dated 20 May 2016 in which L
MEEYRAR AR (Shanxi International Logistic Co., Ltd.)
(“Shanxi Logistic”) commenced legal action against GRG
Huscoke. Pursuant to the statement of claim, GRG Huscoke
failed to deliver goods and failed to repay the prepayment
of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$59,035,000) received
from Shanxi Logistic in accordance with the cooperation
agreements entered into by Shanxi Logistic and GRG Huscoke
in March 2013, on 1 April 2014 and 1 May 2015 respectively.
As a result, Shanxi Logistic demanded GRG Huscoke to repay
RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$59,035,000) plus profits
forgone of RMB14,894,000 (equivalent to HK$17,410,000)
and related legal expense of RMB183,000 (equivalent to
HK$214,000) up to 29 February 2016 as a result of the non-
delivery of goods by GRG Huscoke.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, a civil mediation
agreement (the “Civil Mediation Agreement’) was entered
into to confirm, among others, that the sums owed by GRG
Huscoke to Shanxi Logistic amounted to RMB65,077,000
(equivalent to HK$76,659,000) as of 11 April 2016 and
such sums should be repaid on or before 30 May 2016.
Subsequently, GRG Huscoke, Shanxi Logistic, Jinyan
Electricity and the controlling owner of Jinyan Electricity
(collectively, as the Guarantors of GRG Huscoke) entered
into a settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”)
regarding the execution of the Civil Mediation Agreement.
Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, GRG Huscoke shall
settle RMB31,000,000 (equivalent to HK$36,500,000) by
installments by 31 December 2016, and monthly installments
of RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to HK$7,100,000) from January
2017 onwards until the full settlement of the outstanding sums
(including interest accrued and to be accrued thereon).
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32.

33.

HAREE
RZEBEZ=F=A=+—HEZZ
T+ ZA=t+—RH AEHEIE
EAAT R UL A TS IRk N EH B 2
BERIAREE

ik

AEEZEELAELARTHRREAR
EhR (TARZER] )R Z=ZE—X"FA
A-+HEBERZEN LABRERYR
ERAR([LWEYRHEEENE
EBRZEEFA-BEBERFE €5
EARERBILAMRESEMEZD
R-E—=%=/F -—T—MNEMA
—BR-_E—EHFHRA—BHIIYZ
AEREINERREZLAYRZ
T8 { %98 A R #50,000,0007T (HE 5%
759,035,000/ 7T ) ° A It » 1L 7Y%
BREEMNBZEEEENREBARE
50,000,0007T ( #8 %5 7059,035,000/%
TT)MASEMERERNE R ME
MEE—_E—-RE_A=-thBILZ
B %k &% 7 AR #14,894,0007T (48
£ M17,410,0008 70) KA E 2R X
A R #183,0007T (4855 72214,0007%
JT) °

REBEE-_ZT—XR"E+-_A=+—H
IEFE —HREARHG S (REH
BiHE| D Tl AR (Edha
B)HEZE-_T—X"FNA+—H&E
MELARLUAYRZRBAARE
65,077,000 ( #8%5 7876,659,000/%
TTIRBRFEEANR_ZT—XRFAA
“tHRZAEE -HE £E5ME-
LWAamR BB REEEHZE
BHEEA (HBEEMEERA)RIL
EXHE ((BRBR]) AR EEH
TREAEDZ -REER M &
ENREER_ZT—X"F+_A=+—
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

33.

LITIGATIONS (Continued)

GRG Huscoke has made partial payments to Shanxi Logistic
after the date of the Settlement Agreement. On 30 April 2019,
GRG Huscoke, Shanxi Logistic and the Guarantors of GRG
Huscoke entered into a debt reconciliation and settlement
agreement given that GRG Huscoke has encountered financial
difficulties, pursuant to which GRG Huscoke shall settle the
outstanding sums of approximately RMB54,824,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$61,326,000) by three instalments by 31
July 2019.

On 22 January 2021, Shanxi Logistic lodged the claim to
Taiyuan Court again and demanded the outstanding sums
of the principal amount of approximately RMB47,324,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$58,062,000) together with the
accrued interests of approximately RMB20,130,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$24,697,000) immediately from GRG
Huscoke. As such, GRG Huscoke has been in negotiation with
Shanxi Logistic for the repayment schedule. On 31 May 2021,
GRG Huscoke, Shanxi Logistic and the Guarantors of GRG
Huscoke entered into the second settlement agreement (“2nd
Settlement Agreement’), pursuant to which GRG Huscoke
shall only repay the outstanding sums of the principal amount
under the strict condition that GRG Huscoke will settle the
amounts by instalments by each scheduled date in full before
20 December 2021. The amount of the accrued interests shall
not be waived in the event that GRG Huscoke fails to settle the
outstanding sums on any scheduled repayment date.

The Group eventually failed to repay the outstanding sums
according to the repayment schedule and therefore obliged to
pay the relevant sums of the accrued interests. Accordingly,
the Group has provided the sums of the accrued interests in
the consolidated financial statements for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023 and the year ended 31 December
2021. The Group has been in negotiation with Shanxi Logistic
to re-arrange the payment schedule under the 2nd Settlement
Agreement. To the best knowledge of the Directors, no
further legal action was lodged by Shanxi Logistics up to the
approval date of the financial statements. In the opinion of the
Directors, appropriate provision has been made in the financial
statements as at 31 March 2023 and 31 December 2021.

33.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. EHEBALZRS
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed (@) RUEFEFEEUBHRREMMT
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Frsfii « X5 RAEERIN KEH
Group had the following transactions with related parties REAR R A B T5I 5 :

during the period:

Period from
1 January
2022 to Year ended
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
R-EBE—-Z
—B—HZ HE
—Z2== —E-—F
=A=+—-8B +ZH=+—H
i IEFE
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt FTET FHET
With the non-controlling BT B N R FEIEARAR R
shareholder of a subsidiary:
Payment on lease liabilities HEBREMNK i 1,448 1,207

With related companies which ~ E2BJEE A &) (A0 B

are subsidiaries of the NAEEERRR 2

non-controlling shareholder MBAR) :

of a subsidiary:

Sales of electricity HES ji - 2,496

Notes: Biet -

(i) The rental expense was charged based on terms mutually () MDA AR
agreed between the contractual parties. JEZ MEFAHER -

(i) The transactions were conducted on bases mutually (i)  KBIZEBEET# 75 2 A
agreed by the respective parties, with reference to TEZEBHRIT WIERZ S
prevailing market rates or prices similar to those 4G F E o K B =
transacted with the Group's third party customers/ BEF-HEBZXZZHE
suppliers. 1BI5 T E °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 34. HEBALTZRS (&)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (b) EAEEA LT ZREBELR
(i)  Balances with the non-controlling shareholder at the (i) RIEHAREIEZERBRR
end of the reporting period are set out in note 20 to L ERE RN A VB HE
the consolidated financial statements. B EE20 o
(i) A summary of the Group's balances (before loss (i) AN A RAEE A RZ
allowance) with other related companies is set out rEeR (MR EEREER) 2
below. BEE SR T o
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E_=F —E—F
=A=+-8 +=—A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade receivables from Bl AR 2B S
related companies R =X - 49,588
Prepayments, deposits, and 2} N U D/
other receivables from related o K E b e IR R
companies - 125,588
At the reporting date i =l - 175,176

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group:
The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the period was as follows:

(c) AEEMIEEBEASZHM:

EENHEMTIBERRBAER
HRzMamT:

Period from

1 January
2022 Year ended
to 31 March 31 December
2023 2021

R=ZB==fF
—HA—B% HE
—E-=HE —E - —F
=A=+—8A +=ZA=+—H
™ IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT

Salaries, allowances and e RZMEREYEAR

benefits in kind 8,324 6,704
Pension scheme contributions RIREFET B 5R 46 36
8,370 6,740

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

EEMEcE—THBHNEKE
B M BHRRMEE0 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS
(@) Acquisition of subsidiaries

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company
on 24 March 2023, on 12 January 2023, Shanxi Huscoke
and Energy Technology, has entered into a shareholder
agreement (the “Shareholder Agreement”) to set out the
obligations of the shareholders of Energy Jiarun, including
but not limited to, that (i) all the directors of Energy
Jiarun shall be solely appointed by Shanxi Huscoke; (ii)
Energy Technology is obligated to grant Energy Jiarun
all the necessary license and permit for the operation of
Energy Jiarun, including but not limited to the operating
license, the administrative permit and the right of use of
the land, etc.; and (iii) Energy Technology is obligated
to grant Energy Jiarun the right of use of the public
auxiliary facilities within the useful life of the equipment.
On 7 March 2023, Energy Technology has issued a
confirmation letter to confirm that it will comply with terms
of the Shareholder Agreement and has forfeited the rights
to nominate any board member or senior management of
Energy Jiarun.

On 18 January 2023, Energy Technology completed
the equity transfer of 90% equity interest in Energy
Jiarun to Shanxi Huscoke. The Board has confirmed
the completion of the Cooperation Agreement and the
Agreement by (i) appointed an independent certified
public accountant in PRC to verify the accounts of Energy
Jiarun; and (ii) appointed an independent lawyer in PRC
to issue an independent legal opinion.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1E % E BR 2 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Continued)

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Energy Jiarun acquired as at its date of acquisition is as
follows:

35.

RERERBERWEE (&)

(a)

WEEKHIB AR (&)

Y BE B IR 5= B 89 T 58 Bl B 2
BERAEKEBBHNAAEBEN
T

Net assets acquired: HK$'000
BWEEETE: FHT
Property, plant and equipments (note 15) WE  BE KRR E (HiE15) 1,776,167
Cash and bank balances Re MRTTEF 1
1,776,168

Satisfied by consideration by way of LAY 58 B 5 [ WK SR A 2

offsetting trade receivables, prepayments, TERIE e M E R

deposits and other receivables R AN ARE (1,598,551)
Non-controlling interests e i (177,617)

Total consideration — satisfied by cash
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition:
Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Energy Jiarun contributed loss of approximately
HK$19,000 to the Group’s profit before tax, for the period
between the date of acquisition and the reporting date.

Disposal of subsidiaries

On 26 July 2022, the Group and Mr. Yang Ge, the legal
representative of GRG Husocke, have entered into a
disposal agreement, pursuant to which, among other
matters, the Group conditionally agreed to sell and Mr.
Yang conditionally agreed to acquire the entire equity
interest of Joy Wisdom International Limited (“Disposal
Company”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and the entire amount of the loan owed by the Disposal
Company to the Company for a cash consideration of
HK$1 (“Very Substantial Disposal”).

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 13 April 2023, the completion of the Very
Substantial Disposal took place on 30 March 2023. Upon
completion of the Disposal, the Disposal Company has
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group and the financial
results of the Disposal Company will no longer be
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.

RRE-URS M
WEEEMRERAFER:
PR RRESEFEY

(b)

EREERKEAHREERS
B B HA R 4 7K 5 B Bk B AT SR A
BB E184919,0008 7T °

HEHBAR

RZZEZZF+HZ+B "X
EEHSEMENEARRKS
REEFTLEERHRE Bt (K
PEEB)AEEEKREREE D
E MBEERBGEHEENR
REVETHESHBEREER
AR([FELQAT] AAFE2E
HEBAR)M A RE AR —
BEHEEQRRLERARENET
BEF([FEEREESHE]) -

BRAAARAPA-E =
FMA+=AMHAL FREA
HEBRER —F-=F=f
STARMR-HEFERME:
HEARETEANRENHH
BAR MEEARNTBER
BRBHAREENI HHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 35. ZE&HR&RERMTE (&)

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED FE 2R B R 2 7

FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued) (b) LHEMEZAR (&)
Net liabilities at the date of disposal were as follows: BEFENHEBHNAT
HK$'000
FHET

Trade receivable g 5 YR K 119,169
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables JB T} 7RIE « & & I H fth 8 U iR 7% 3,434
Amount due from group companies FE W & B A B RRIE 86,041
Amount due from non-controlling shareholder & W FE42 B A% 5 30 18 7,404
Cash and bank balances e MRITHET 120
Trade payables Z 5 BRI (303,638)
Other payables, accruals and E M ER IR BT RIERE K

deposit received b2 (976,442)
Bank and other borrowings WITRAMEER (480,326)
Lease liabilities HE&SE (6,895)
Financial guarantee contracts IS ERED (15,129)
Amount due to group companies AN E - INGIE/ (680,749)
Tax payable FET I8 (15,412)
Deferred tax liability BT IEBE (5,714)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEAEFE (2,268,137)
Release of foreign currency ARBR NS BE 3 1B

translation reserve (82,026)
Non-controlling interests E 14,193
Transfer of the net amount of the loans FERTREEBBERARQR

owed by the Disposal Company to the R EE BT

Company as at the date of disposal 641,989
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR 1,693,981
Total consideration — satisfied by cash BRE-URSZR -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEMIB ST FEE:
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FrtERe RASEEY (120)

(120)
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 35. #AEeHE&REBRMT (&)

FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Change in liabilities arising from financing (c) RMETDRELZEESE:
activities:
Bank and
Lease other
liabilities borrowings Total
RITR
HEAE Hitnfa & #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2021 R-—ZE-_—F—H—H 12,933 717,582 730,515
Changes from financing BMEREREL )
cash flows (4,742) (241) (4,983)
Non-cash changes FREEH
— interest accrued —FEETFLE 558 = 558
— foreign exchange movement — HNE 285 16,522 16,807
At 31 December 2021 and R-E——%F
1 January 2022 +=—A=+—8Xk
—E-—F#—F—H 9,034 733,863 742,897
Changes from financing MERERER
cash flows (5,329) - (5,329)
Non-cash changes FRSEDH
— new lease entered —HFEIHE 5,772 = 5,772
— interest accrued —EEHFIE 702 - 702
— disposal of subsidiaries —HEMB AR (6,895) (480,326) (487,221)
— foreign exchange movement — SN (567) (35,349) (35,916)
At 31 March 2023 RZTZ=%F
=A=+—H” 2,717 218,188 220,905
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

36.

BRERNES2EMIA
REEHR SEERTAZIREE

instruments as at the end of the reporting periods are as R
follows:
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E_=F T —F
=B=+—-8H +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets: cRMEE:
Financial assets at amortised cost REBEA AR 2 &/
(including cash and cash equivalents)  EE (B#EHEE MRS
ZEY) 127,964 2,207,137
Financial assets at fair value through BARERGABZRZZ
profit or loss TREE 1,508 1,508
129,472 2,208,645
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E-= T —F
=A=+—-8A +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial liabilities: TRasE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R AR R 2
TRAE 338,608 1,876,848
Financial guarantee contracts BB IERE A - 148,210
338,608 2,025,058

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED FE 2R B R 2 7
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

37.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 37. AREFE
Fair value hierarchy ARESHEEB
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an ARNERRFTEEHAMBL2EERE
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction MFREGPHEEEM WIS EES
between market participants at the measurement date. The BAZNHEK  TIHANBEFER
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair BRANAAEZEREE g8QR
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to Bt EMER2EEREZNRAE "
valuation techniques used to measure fair value: DR=ZEFER:
Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for FEWABE: AEERFEH A
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the ISR EREENBERERTIS
measurement date. BB (CRETHE) -
Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within F_EAE BREEXEGEEENR
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either MEMASEENEAB(ZE-—RAE
directly or indirectly. TR ERIN) o
Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. E-EHAB:-EELBENTAE
/fvtﬁﬁﬂ UNEE
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers AEENBREREEHERNEFTK
out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or EAEHH R HBERA=EERERD
change in circumstances that caused the transfer. AR o
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—HEKZZ
and 31 December 2021: ——H+ZA=1T—HZRAREZR
REENEE:
At 31 March 2023 R-B-_=5=HA=+-—H
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
WERMIEZ BEAT BAFRT
HE BEYE BRYE st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(%—/8) (=) (=)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
THER THER TER TET
Description it
Private club debenture IAEHES 1,508 = = 1,508
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

37.

38.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 37 AREFE(E)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
RERMSZ EpNg| FARA
HE BRI BRYE 4Bt
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2021
(F—FE) (BE=R) (5=1E) —E %
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FET FET FET
Description it
Private club debenture FLABFES 1,508 = = 1,508
During the period, there were no transfers of fair value RN meREEREREBENS
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers FEEF_EC-ATEALENE
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial B O REZEBUEEANEL 215
liabilities (2021: Nil). M(ZFBZ—F &)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 38. 2REMEEBERBEEK

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and bank
balances, trade payables, other payables and accruals, which
arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions
are principally denominated in RMB, US$ and HK$. The
Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from
the monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated
in currencies other than functional currencies of the
respective group entities.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED FE 2R B R 2 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s liabilities are denominated in US$.
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from the exposure of US$ against HK$. The Group
considered the impact on the equity and profit before tax
from the change in US$, exchange rate was nominal at
the end of the reporting period since HK$ is pegged to
USS$.

The Group does not have any hedging instruments
outstanding. The Group will constantly review the
economic situation and its foreign currency risk profile,
and will consider appropriate hedging measures in the
future as may be necessary.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash
and bank balances and restricted bank deposit, trade
and other receivables and deposits and amount due
from the non-controlling shareholder and its affiliates.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on
the consolidated statement of financial position, which is
net of loss allowance, represents the Group’s exposure
to credit risk without taking into account the value of any
collateral held or other credit enhancements.

Cash and bank balances

The Group has limited credit risk with its deposits in
financial institutions, which are leading and reputable
and are assessed as having low credit risk. The Group
has not suffered any significant losses arising from
the non-performance by these parties in the past and
management does not expect this position to change in
the future.

38. & RLEM
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties and related parties. It is the Group’s policy
that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms
are subject to credit verification procedures. The Group
limits its exposure to credit risk from trade receivables by
establishing maximum payment period.

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
due on credit. The credit period is generally 0 to 30
days. Advances are required for certain customers. The
Directors consider that these arrangements enable the
Group to limit its credit risk exposure. As 31 December
2021, approximately 30% and 84% of the Group’s trade
receivables were due from the Group's largest and the
five largest customer respectively, there was a significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. The Group did not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over the trade receivable balances.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer.

The Group's customer base consists of a wide range
of clients and the trade receivables are categorised
by common risk characteristics that are representative
of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. The Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL for trade
receivables and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
The expected loss rate used in the provision matrix
is calculated for each category based on the past
three years and adjusted for current and forward-
looking factors to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historical
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s estimate on future economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables. There was no change
in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions
made during the year.
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(b)

FERR (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The information about the exposure to credit risk and
ECL for trade receivables using a provision matrix as at
31 March 2023 and 31 December 2021 are summarised

below:

At 31 March 2023

38. SRIEAMEEEERBE (&)

(b) =ERE (&)
ESENRK (&)
EHREERRER T -_=F
A=+ BR-_ZE-—%F
+- A=+t BEABEEER
RESRERIRRIEL ZEHE
EEiE s ER BT

R-EB-=%=A=t—8

Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
BHEER HIREE EERE EERMAE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TERT
Not past due KRiEER N/A REHA - - No &
Less than 6 months i HA > pA61E A
past due N/A REHA - - No &
More than 6 months 160 B 4B 1861 A
past due N/A FiE B - - No &
At 31 December 2021 RZZE=Z—F+=ZA=+—H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
TEHIE IR X BIRMEE EiEEE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL FHET FET
Not past due 7K 460 5 - 242,285 - No &
Less than 6 months w1 B> 706 1R A
past due - 181,139 - No &
More than 6 months 180 B 8 #8615 A
past due 30% 505,333 150,235 No &
928,757 150,235
h
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 38. £RiEMREEBEEZERBEK (£)
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FERRK(Z)
Trade receivables (Continued) EBEZENRIR (&)

At 31 December 2021, the Group recognised loss
allowance of HK$150,235,000 on the trade receivables.
The movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables
during the period is summarised below:

RZZBZ—F+=ZA=+—8"
REETE S EBIR K ERE
8 $% #8150,235,0005 7T © B A -
B S5RINIRR 2 BIEBEZS
BEatan s

31 March 31 December

2023 2021

—E_=F T —F

=A=+—-A +ZA=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At beginning of the reporting period 72 ¥ 2 Hi %] 150,235 143,998

Reversal of loss allowance, net B olEiERE F58 - 1,448

Disposal of subsidiaries &M B R R (137,600) =

Exchange realignment bE 5 (12,635) 4,789

At end of the reporting period REE R - 150,235
Other receivables and deposits EMERIKRFIRES

The Group considers that the other receivables and
deposits have low credit risk based on the debtors’ strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and low risk of default. Impairment on other
receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects
the short maturities of the exposures.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and whether the financial asset is credit-impaired, the
Group has taken into account the historical actual credit
loss experience on the debtors historical utilisation
pattern of deposits paid and the financial position of
the counterparties by reference to, among others, their
management or audited accounts, and adjusted for
forward-looking factors that are specific to the debtors
and general economic conditions of the industry in which
the counterparties operate, in estimating the probability
of default of these financial assets, as well as the loss
upon default in each case. The management of the
Group considers the ECL of these financial assets to be
insignificant after taking into account the financial position
and credit quality of the counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group recognised loss
allowance of HK$34,316,000 (2021: HK$96,367,000) on
the balances. The movement in the loss allowance for the
balances during the period is summarised below.

38. SRIEAMEEEERBE (&)

(b)

EERE (&)
BMEREFNREZE (&)
R—_ZTE_ZF=ZA=+—8"
AEERSEFERAEEEE
34,316,000 L (ZFE = —%F:
96,367,000 7T ) < BN+ & 77 2
BEBBZEESHBMMNT -

31 March 31 December

2023 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

=A=+—-H +=ZA=+—8H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

At beginning of the reporting period 7 ¥R & Hi %] 96,367 93,280

Increase in allowance 1 0 34,316 825

Disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR (88,215) =

Exchange realignment M 58 B (8,152) 2,262

At end of the reporting period R E R 34,316 96,367

Amounts due from the non-controlling shareholder of FERNELAHERRRRE
a subsidiary and its affiliates BB L asE

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and whether the amount due from the non-controlling
shareholder and its affiliates is credit impaired, the Group
has taken into account the historical actual credit loss
experience on the non-controlling shareholder and its
affiliates and their financial position with reference to
their management accounts and adjusted for forward-
looking factor, guaranteed amount in Guarantee
Agreement mentioned in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, in estimating the probability
of default of the amounts from the non-controlling
shareholder and its affiliates, as well as the loss upon
default. The management of the Group considers that the
credit risk on the amounts is significant, however, their
ECL is considered to be insignificant after taking into
consideration of the above factors.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the period.

REFEMEEBRE RRNE
EEERBREE B VT HERR
K8 38 0 K 8 U 3F 1 B R %
HEBARRARAHRAREE
BER AEEDERIFER
BREEBBABZAEER
EEEBERERMEBBMR
WSZHEEERKE I3 ATHE
MHRE ERHBBEANERDR
(Gn4R & B 75 3 3% M 5E 2007 )
TR TR - DA R M IR IR AR
REEBERRKEAZEOH
RUREBHOER AEEEERE
RE RETBRZEEAREBE
R AW & RAERER
HEMEEERERA/ALTE
* o

- BRI 2 EAB
BB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

()

38. SRIEAMEEEERBE (&)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FERB (&)
Financial guarantee contracts BBERSH
At the end of the reporting period, the management has R EBR BB EETRER
performed impairment assessment, and concluded that iy WHITEBHMBERE DA
there has been no significant increase in credit risk since TR AR B (= B & b 3 & K18
initial recognition of the financial guarantee contracts. e E bk NEETE BN
Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial guarantee EREHNNEBEEBEZBEER
contracts issued by the Group is measured at an 128 A e E BB S st
amount equal to 12-month ECL. At 31 December 2021, s R_E-_—F+-_A=+—
loss allowance of approximately HK$61,146,000 was B - &5 18 # 1% 4961,146,0007%8 7T
recognised in the profit or loss. Details of the financial RERER AEMBEERERD
guarantee contracts are set out in note 26. Z BT EE26 ©
Liquidity risk (c) RBELEAMK
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between AEBECZERAEREREAM
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of BEMESREZFEMNEE)
other borrowings. EME 2 HBETE-
The maturity profile of the financial liabilities of the Group RIRE R AR EFTHEKREL
as at the end of the reporting periods, based on the RNRzAEBemEa &I
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows: BT
At 31 March 2023 R-FE-_=f=ZA=+—H
within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Total
1ERRIZRER 1255 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx THET FTET
Other payables, accruals and ~ E A BRI - E5T
deposit received REREMES 59,199 58,504 117,703
Other borrowings Hihf5 & 218,188 - 218,188
Interest portion of HibEERFEHH
other borrowings 18,016 - 18,016
Lease liabilities HE&E 2,785 - 2,785
298,188 58,504 356,692
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B R R B A

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
At 31 December 2021

38. SRIEAMEEEERBE (&)

(c)

FEBELSRERE (&)
RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H

within 1 year
or on demand 1to 5 years Total
1FENFIRER 1E5%5 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
Trade payables 2 5 e IR 482,566 = 482,566
Other payables, accruals and  HfbER RS - fE5+
deposit received HERBKIZS 651,385 = 651,385
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 733,863 = 733,863
Interest portion of Hintg B S H
other borrowings 20,190 30,301 50,491
Financial guarantee contracts B ERE L) 223,700 = 223,700
Lease liabilities HERE 1,816 9,100 10,916
2,113,520 39,401 2,152,921
Capital management (d) EXEHE
The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital AEEERAERB BEERAR B
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to MERAEEABHRELE 28

continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023 and the year ended 31 December
2021.

N BBERREBZERNLE A
XRFEEBEE FREAZK
REE-

AEERBEEBRZETH R
BEEEZRKRELD EBHEE
REBWEL AR - BT
BERNGEE AEBEREAER
MREIREZIRE  MREIKE 2
BEASBITHR - BE_T ==
F=ZA=+—BI+REA R
HeE—_ZE-_—F+=-A=+—
HIEFE TEEREREAZ
BZ BRI ER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

38.

CRIEABEEEERBE (&)

(d) Capital management (Continued) (d) EXRER(£E)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which TEERAEBIFERANES
is net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt MEEFHEFTE AR XRE
includes trade payables, other payables, accruals and RERARN - B F BRI LA
deposits received, other borrowings, convertible bonds BREBHBRITFERALRRE &
and tax payable, net of restricted bank deposits and cash RITETFRZ2ESENRN E
and bank balances. Capital includes equity attributable fth FE IR 3R E&‘I‘MIE&EMZBZ
to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the e HMEE ATRRESRE
end of the respective reporting periods were as follows: NBE-BEXBERARFAEE A
EhERE-REBCWEHERZ
BRE RN
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E-_=F —E-—F
=A=t+—-H +=ZA=+—8H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade payables H ZEMAIRRK - 482,566
Other payables, accruals and Hith EATIR R - FEETRIE R
deposit received B WL & 117,703 977,621
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 218,188 733,863
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,717 9,034
Tax payable FET IR 382,496 16,546
Less: Cash and bank balances BB e RIR1THER (601) (7,903)
Net debt B FHE 720,503 2,211,727
Capital — equity attributable to BEAR-AREHE A
owners of the Company JFE {5 i 4 1,011,367 (144,233)
Capital and net debt BEARNERFRE 1,731,870 2,067,494
Net gearing ratio FHER X 42% 107%
(e) Fair value (e) 2ARE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets HREVBRAKRANATHASE
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated EemiEEREmBEZRE
statement of financial position approximate their EHEZEARBEHESE-

respective fair value.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 H#Z =T =-=F=A=+—HIt+ R @A

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 39.

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

R F B BARRER

BERAARRRARRE R ZFBARE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: RERHAT -
31 March 31 December
2023 2021
—E_=F T —F
=A=+—-A +ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment, deposit and TARTFRIE - & R H At FE UL
other receivables R 5K 318 151
Cash and bank balances Re RRITER 285 322
Total current assets REEEHAE 603 473
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables, accruals and Hith FETIR X - FESTFRIE K
deposit received Bt 53,327 18,188
Amount due to subsidiaries FE BB A R ZRIA 37,526 27,680
Other borrowings HmEE 200,000 200,000
Total current liabilities RBAEAE 290,853 245,868
Net current liabilities REBEETE (290,250) (245,395)
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBEE (290,250) (245,395)
NET LIABILITIES aETE (290,250) (245,395)
Capital and reserves EAXRHEE
Issued capital BT 28,707 28,707
Reserves & (318,957) (274,102)
TOTAL DEFICIT &5 At 48 A (290,250) (245,395)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 30 June 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Mr. ZHAO Xu Guang
B A
Director

EFE

RIEBE-_=FEXA=tHREE=gH
ERBRERG YR TINESRERE
=¥

Mr. WONG Siu Hung, Patrick

BELHERE
Director

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 HZ =T =_=F=A=+—HIt+R@EA

40.

41.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Open Offer

On 19 August 2022, the Company proposed to raise
approximately HK$121.7 million before expenses by way of
open offer (the “Open Offer”) on the basis of two (2) new
shares of HK$0.1 each (the “Offer Shares”) for every one
(1) existing share of HK$0.1 (the “Shares”). For details of the
Open Offer, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 19 August 2022 and the circular of the Company
dated 14 October 2022. The Open Offer (including the grant
of a specific mandate) was approved by the independent
Shareholders at the SGM held on 31 October 2022, please
refer to the poll results announcement dated 31 October 2022
for details.

As at the date of this report, as additional time is required for
the Company to prepare and finalise certain information to
be contained in the prospectus in relation to the Open Offer,
the Open Offer has not yet been completed. It is expected
that the despatch of the prospectus documents will further be
postponed to on or before 31 July 2023.

Issue of the FA Remuneration Shares

On 19 September 2022, the Company proposed to issue
3,301,886 remuneration shares (the “Issue of the FA
Remuneration Shares”) to settle part of the professional
fees in the amount of HK$700,000 to Veda Capital Limited
(the “Financial Adviser’) (or its nominees) at an issue price
of HK$0.212 per share. For detail of the Issue of the FA
Remuneration Shares, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 19 September 2022 and the circular of
the Company dated 14 October 2022. The Issue of the FA
Remuneration Shares was approved by the independent
Shareholders at the SGM held on 31 October 2022, please
refer to the poll results announcement dated 31 October 2022
for details.

The completion of the Issue of the FA Remuneration Shares
took place on 24 May 2023 and 3,301,886 FA Remuneration
Shares were issued by the Company.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2023.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T FEMBERE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t-HLEE
Period from
1 January
2022
to 31 March
2023 2021 2020 2019 2018
R=ZB-=%
-R—-HZ
—EC-=E
=R=+-H
BE T4 ZT-TF ZIT-NF ZT)N\&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T THT T THT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS ~ BEZT& %%
Revenue WA 34,726 866,602 1176982 1605356 1,478,049
Cost of sales HEKAR (125,638) (753,868)  (1,050,092)  (1,429,499)  (1,232,228)
Gross (loss)/profit (£8)/EH (90,912) 112,734 126,890 175,857 245,821
Other income and gains, net HEi AR Mg 558 340,605 235,183 298,527 264,715 44,953
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries &t B2 AF UL 1,693,981 = = = =
Selling and distribution costs HERDHKA (1,565) (1,417) (10,953) (123,024) (137,637)
Administrative expenses EEER (114,007) (99,920) (93,595) (88,018) (103,301)
Finance costs NHEEMR (157,108) (113,936) (73,351) (11,409) (2,200)
Other operating (expenses)/ Hipi & (%) kA 38
income, net (34,316) (154,157) (775,051) 4,392 29,970
Reversal of impairment losson ~ #1% - BE RREEE
items of property, plant and REEERD
equipment - - - - 99,053
Profit/(loss) before tax BB RTET (B8) 1,636,678 (21,513) (527,533) 4,971 176,659
Income tax FiEsy (387,817) (9,669) (4,999) (11,547) (29,951)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FORTHEYEAR ZA&ERF/ (H#E) 1,248,861 (31,182) (532,532) (6,576) 146,708
Attributable to: &
Owners of the Company AREHEEA 1,250,165 (31,259) (484,675) (9,391) 129,118
Non-controlling interests bR 1,304 77 (47,857) 2815 17,590
1,248,861 (31,182) (532,532) (6,576) 146,708
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEPBHRE

Year ended 31 December
BZ+t-B=t—HILEE

31 March
2023 2021 2020 2019 2018
—EC=E
ZA=t+-HB =—®B=-% C-E-BFf —T-hf —EF-)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FTAET FTET TET FTAET
TOTAL ASSETS EEHE 1,910,086 2,221,404 2,064,344 2,661,384 2,015,315
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEEE (721,104)  (2,379,496) 2,189,245  (2,248,286)  (1,614,445)
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE/ (838 1,188,982 (158,092) (124,901) 413,098 400,870
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO RABEEAELRE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 1,011,367 (144,233) (111,409) 378,337 368,713
NON-CONTROLLING FERES
INTERESTS 177615 (13,859) (13,492) 34,761 32,157
1,188,982 (158,092) (124,901) 413,098 400,870
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DEFINITIONS
B=

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

RABER BXESEFIEN THARAE THIER:

“AGM”
[BRBFAE]

“Annual Report”

[ 4R ]

“associate(s)

(Bt A1)

“Board”

[E=g)

“Bermuda Companies Act 1981”

[BRE-HNN—FREDE]

“Bye-Laws”
INGIEEEUN

“CG Report”
[T aHE]
“Company”

ZNVNCIE

“Companies Ordinance”
NGV

“Director(s)”

(%]
“ESG Report”
[RE g kEnmE]

“Group”
[AREE]

the annual general meeting of the Company
RRBBRITZRRBFRG

this annual report of the Group prepared for the fifteen months ended 31 March
2023
AEEMREBE T _=F=A=+—RHILTHARZAFR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

A EMARAME T2 RE

board of Directors of the Company
RRAREEEG

the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

(BRE-NAN—FRFDE)  ETRERT M AEMT A&k

the bye-laws from time to time adopted by the Company
PANYNSI RN S /Nl

the corporate governance report contained in this Annual Report from pages 43
to 62
NEREBIZECCEFH 2 ¥B S

Huscoke Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability, whose issued Shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
MBERARAR RAREZTMAZ 2 BRAA] HE BT8P ER
fisl)i)

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEAEDIFE22F (RAHED) - EATRHERT - # TR A H At 75 A&k

the directors of the Company

RARES

the environmental, social and governance report contained in this Annual Report
from pages 63 to 94

RERFEIZMEMECRE HERER/WE

the Company and its subsidiaries

/NGNS RN NG
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DEFINITIONS
B=

“Hong Kong”
[&E]

‘HKS”
[7&7t]

“Listing Rules”
[EmR Al
“PRC”

[ B

“‘RMB’
AR

“SFO”
(38 % & B & 151 |

“Share(s)”
[ 17 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 A7

“subsidiaries”

al=PACl

‘Us$”
B

sy
[% ]

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEARKMBEEBRHITHR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BRBZEEERET

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as
amended from time to time)

B RS LA (ETREET)

the People’s Republic of China, excludes Hong Kong and Macau in this Annual
Report
RIEARAME SARFERM S TEEEE KRR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
PR EEEEARE

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

FREPIESTIE (EFRBAEERD) - B ARHERT Mt AR T B

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company
RABIRAFFREECA0E T2 E A

holder(s) of the Share(s)
SESZEPN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBERFARRAA

a subsidiary (within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance or section 86 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981) for the time being and from time to time of
the Company

RN RIE R R 2 B AR (RAFHRDISE FE— L\ —F 2 RE5E86K
ZEE)

United States dollars, the lawful currency of United States

KB EAEEBET

per cent
B

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1E % E BR 2 5




HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED
MEZRBRA G

'I' lll
‘ ( \IIIII
k

;Ak‘ mm s




	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及管理層之履歷詳情
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	環境、社會及管治報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	五年財務概要
	釋義
	封底

